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Dear Shareholders

While preparing this Annual Report, COVID-19 outbreak is happening in almost every region of the world. Many
business sectors have a very negative effect from the strict quarantine measure by having to completely cease of any activities that would
expose to the wide spread of such disease. We, TCCC, would like to extend our consolation to everyone whom fight with this outbreak. In
this regard, we should take a good care of ourselves and comply with the government’s advice so that we can get through this situation
together.

For the situation of the past 2019, the Company’s operational performance was less than expectation. It caused by the most severe
drought that had ever happened in Thailand in 4 decades. This results to the farmer to be unable to grow any crop which leads to
dramatically decline of fertilizer demands. Furthermore, the low price of agricultural products for several consecutive years affected the
farmers’ purchasing power and resulting in idle of farming. Nevertheless, the Company has adapted the strategy to increase the sale volume
by research and developing the new products to serve the market which still have demands, for instance, fruit fertilizers which had a very
good feedback from the market. In addition, the Company was focusing on the neighboring countries’ market, namely, Myanmar, Laos,
Cambodia and the Philippines, where we could expand our sale.

As the negative factors above, the Company’s income from sale and services decreased by 15% from 2018, and the Net Profit
attributable to owners of the parent showed THB 922 million baht decreasing by 31% from 2018, resulting in Profit per Share at THB 1.58.
Even though the company’s operational performance was less than expected, the total performance was considerably moderate comparing
to the other companies in this industry.

To be well prepared for the external factors and to maintain as the leader in this industry, the Company determined to strengthen
our organization for sustainable growth under its vision “The First Choice of Growers” This is to say, the Company contributes our value to
farmers with high quality products including research and new developed products to serve the market's demand. Furthermore, the
company also strive to develop our people to be well-prepared and fully capable by consistently providing the constructive training,
namely, the Brand Ambassador Project which will make our people comprehending the Company’s business very well. Besides, the
Company gives commitment for caring the society and environment seriously and for this we were certified with the Green Culture of
level 4 by Ministry of Industry. Details of the activities are provided in CSR Report.

In 2020, the Company shall still be facing the negative factors such as drought, low agricultural products price, decline of economy
affected by COVID-19 and mores, and it shall be harder than the past year per our estimation. However, the Company assert that we are
ready to deal with such challenges. In this regard, the Company would like to sincerely thank all shareholders, customers, dealers, partners,
employees and other stakeholders for the long time support. We promise that we will endeavor at our best to further keep the operational

performance at the acceptable level.
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1. Information of the Company

Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited (TCCC) is the Manufacturer
and Distributor of chemical fertilizer.
Head Office : 21/35-46 Thai Wah Tower 1, 14-16" Floor,
South Sathorn Road, Thungmahamek, Sathorn,
Bangkok 10120 Thailand

Registration No. : 0107536000277 (previously, Bor Mor Jor. 101)

Tel : (662) 639 8888

Fax : (662) 639 8999

E-mail . mailbox@thaicentral.co.th
Home Page . http://www.tcccthai.com

Registered Capital . Baht 1,754,148,354

: 584,716,118 ordinary shares
: Baht 3.00

Amount and type of shares sold

: 584,714,068 ordinary shares

Number of Share
Par Value

2. Information of juristic persons of which the
Company has shareholding more than 10%

1) MC Agro-Chemicals Co., Ltd. imports and distributes the technical pesticide
and finished products which used in Agriculture, Public Health and Livestock.
The business sector includes the marketing of formulated, finished products,
repacking services and quality control checks by modern laboratory.

Head Office : 581 Moo 4, Bangpoo Industrial Estate, Soi 12B,
Sukhumvit Road, Praksa Sub-district, Muang District,
Samutprakarn Province 10280 Thailand

Shareholding 1 99.99%

Tel : (662) 709 4517

Fax : (662) 709 4780

Registered Capital : Baht 50,000,000

Number of Share : 500,000 ordinary shares

Par Value : Baht 100

Amount and type of shares sold
: 500,000 ordinary shares

2) N.I.M. Co., Ltd. engages in liquid chemical storage tank rental and terminal
operation for the storage of liquid chemicals mostly the raw materials for use

in various industries.

Head Office 1 205 United Flour Mill Building, 8" Floor,
Ratchawong Road, Chakrawad, Samphanthawong,
Bangkok 10100 Thailand

Shareholding : 51%

Tel : (662) 222 7352

Fax : (662) 224 5616

Registered Capital : Baht 125,000,000

Number of Share : 12,500,000 ordinary shares

Par Value : Baht 10
Amount and type of shares sold
: 12,500,000 ordinary shares
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3) Central Pacific (Thailand) Co., Ltd. is the importer and distributor of the

fertilizers, agro-chemicals, minerals and etc.

Head Office : 180-184 Metro Building, 5" Floor,
Ratchawong Road, Chakrawad, Samphanthawong,
Bangkok 10100 Thailand

Shareholding 1 49%

Tel : (662) 225 0200

Fax : (662) 622 7978

Registered Capital . Baht 200,000,000

Number of Share 1 2,000,000 ordinary shares

Par Value : Baht 100

Amount and type of shares sold

: 2,000,000 ordinary shares

4) TCCC Myanmar Ltd. is the importer and distributer of chemical fertilizer

in Myanmar.
Head Office : Lot No. C-15 & C-18,
Thilawa Special Economic Zone A,
Yangon Region Myanmar
Shareholding 1 99.99%
Tel : (+95) 1230 9175

Registered Capital : USD 12,500,000

: 125,000 ordinary shares
: USD 100 per share
Amount and type of shares sold

: 125,000 ordinary shares

Number of Share
Par Value

3. Information of other referees

1) The Registrar of Ordinary Shares
Thailand Securities Depository Co., Ltd.
93 Ratchadaphisek Road, Dindaeng,
Bangkok 10400 Thailand
Tel : (662) 009 9000 Fax: (662) 009 9991

2) Auditor for the financial year 2019
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Jaiyos Audit Co., Ltd
AIA Sathorn Tower, 23".27" Floor, 11/1 South Sathorn Road,
Yannawa, Sathorn, Bangkok 10120 Thailand
Tel : (662) 034 0000 Fax : (662) 034 0100
Company Audit
Certified Public Accountant No. 4292
2. Mr. Mongkol Somphol Certified Public Accountant No. 8444
3. Mr. Choopong Surachutikarn Certified Public Accountant No. 4235

1. Mr. Manoon Manusook

Investors can also find more information of the company issuing securities
from the company’s Annual Registration Statement (Form 56-1) which is

show on website www.sec.or.th or company’s website www.tcccthai.com
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Thailand is an agricultural country. A great number of the population engage in
agricultural sector. The basic essential elements in farming consist of soil, water, weather and soil
nutrients. However, prolonged use of soil in farming at the same ground will usually deplete soil
nutrients by crops.

Therefore, if farmers wish to increase crops yield with good quality and quantity as required
by domestic and international market, it is necessary to apply agricultural modern technologies and
appropriate farm management. Another factor to increase soil nutrients as to nurture soil fertility is
to apply “Chemical Fertilizer”, which has become essential element in productivity. However,
chemical fertilizer must be applied under right formula, with proper timing and quantity.

Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited is the producer and distributor of chemical
fertilizer, established by the government (under cooperation of the Ministry of Finance) and private
sectors, comprised of Metro Co., Ltd., Sojitz Corporation (formerly Nissho Iwai Corporation) and

Central Glass Co., Ltd (currently the Company'’s technical advisor) of Japan, on March 6, 1973, with
initial registered capital of 120 Million Baht. Later on, the Company registered on the Stock Exchange
of Thailand in October 1991, with a registered capital of 700 Million Baht and in 1993, the
Company became “Public Company”

_ 2518 /1975
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Chemical Limited First plant in Phrapradaeng Exchange of Thailand TCCC became Public Company
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The First Choice of Growers
“We aim to be a top priority choice of agriculturalists in Southeast Asia by delivering excellent
products and services that boost quality and productivity in farming.”
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Mission
1. We Strive to Create Values

We are committed to bringing new values to farmers and agriculture, by providing superior
quality products and services, continuously invented and developed to increase farming
productivity. Our services will spread over to farmers in ASEAN countries and be even diversified
further to enhance our value chain in agriculture industry.
2. We Develop our People

We are committed to growing our people, by providing learning opportunities and by
creating a corporate culture where employees encourage each other to grow together. We will keep
evolving our organization to accommodate changes in business environment.
3. We Care for Society

We are committed to making environmental friendly and sustainable business
processes as well as creating positive influences to society, by integrating corporate
citizenship and sustainable development concepts into our business practice.
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Company Overview and Policies
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Company Shareholding Structure
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anuruzn1sUs:Naussig
Nature of Business Operation

1. Insvasseln
Revenue Structure

a4 Tufi 31 Funen 2562 / as of December 31, 2019

(W8 : & 1uuUn) (Unit : Million Baht)

2562/2019 2561/2018 2560/2017
Uszian nuaa g
FaudEm Aadeusla flans % msfatiu | naidewn baENTITIE g g g
Company Established | Type of | Shareholding | Registered | Coptal | T | il il
Business Capital Paid Up % % *
Revenue Revenue Revenue
13 Ineduniaed e | 6 dwien enad - 1,754 1,754 | 8,420.17| 92.36 10,086.90| 93.86 | 11,149.61 | 95.43
(NWTU) 2516 Chemical
Thai Central Chemical March 6, Fertilizer
Public Company Ltd. 1973
USHNgasuazL3HNIN (Subsidiary and Associate Companies)
1 U39 BN azlns-iefida d1ie | 22 ansan | Tseauman 99.99 50 50 261.05 | 2.86 | 351.92 | 3.27 | 411.03 | 352
MC Agro-Chemicals Co., Ltd. 2531 UasU99y
January 22, | Repacking
1988 and
Formulating
2 vign Bule.du. e 14 nunwui | adedudh 51.00 125 125 11851 | 1.30 | 121.95 | 1.13 | 12127 | 1.04
N.LM. Co., Ltd. 2517 CH{EEY
February 14, Chemical
1974 Tank Yard
3 1S unaie (Wemnelng) | 16 unew Foae 49.00 200 200 1.01 0.01 | o091 0.01 0.92 0.01
10 2518 Trading
Central Pacific (Thailand) January 16,
Co., Ltd. 1975
4 138 A39E feund e | 3 qanen | vudndeedl | 99.99 12.5* 125* | 31644 | 347 | 18529 | 172 | 101 | 001
TCCC Myanmar Ltd.* 2559 Import
October 3 Chemical
2016 Fertilizer
W 9,117.18 | 100.00 | 10,746.97 | 100.00 | 11,683.84 | 100.00
Total Revenue

WEWMA © S ueeaaTaniy

*

Remark : Millions of United States dollar.
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anuruzn1sUsznoussng
Nature of Business Operation

2. an1d:gnamnssuIazNSINITU
Marketing and Competition

mMwnamanasuazgasmnsnilaaivadinalull 2562
mamansastaandgyiumaduladilull 2562 nandalududinsesnan wu diuazdesldSunansznuadneuussananziouie
Iuﬁuﬁtwwzﬂgﬂwé’ﬂ agnslsfions maintwdnitasluseassrandamaniaiunasnanySinmnaninitiesuazuloungnisdssiusan
drerilaamsinensuasing danaslsnnnini
mﬂ%’ﬂqﬂmﬁ%mﬂﬂﬂluﬁﬂmqLﬁmﬁ’uf’fvNaN?nmmomimwma@mLﬁmﬁﬂuﬁ’uﬂﬁauwﬁﬂLf‘immnﬁﬁuﬁmﬂ:ﬂgnam@ Wizl
9

nsatiuayuanigualumsmugunaiand wisnnzudimuusdumanans mawmilauazasiusanideanitalugggmamizlgnyili
Yaunaudlodununnldldgnlfuazasnansenudaysunamslidanilull 2562

nsineasuazgadmnIsxilaiadivasinalull 2563
- o X o . P P A ¥ 4 < < Ay
madulavasmenisineasiull 2563 azlinagiumssziusasnauaznandnluisnady lasdSianhiisswaazidulszifuidas
Fumuasiiasnnanuidasnaziianzudediesdigs ulsnnsvasizuaiatuayunsanslugiuuudeg fadufRdsnddglumadueny
dinudslumadvlazasmanmansesuaziinanudainslddoedl uanani anudumusasnaingduannndinansznuagiefitbidn
sogUavAuaziianisuasgaamnssuilanilull 2563

Thailand Agriculture and Chemical Fertilizer Industry Overview in 2019

The agricultural sector continued to see slow growth in 2019. The productions of major economic crops such as rice and sugarcane
were badly hit by the severe drought in key cultivation areas. However, the slight price recoveries in these crops, as a result from low supply
and government price guarantee schemes, had cushioned Thailand agriculture in 2019 from further drop.

In the same direction of agricultural production, the chemical fertilizer consumption decreased compared to the previous year owing
to less cultivation areas. Despite the government support to control the chemical fertilizer price, the severe drought in Central, North and
Northeast region during the growing season when large amount of fertilizer should have been used significantly lessen the overall chemical
fertilizer consumption in 2019.

Thailand Agriculture and Chemical Fertilizer Industry in 2020

The agricultural sector growth in 2020 will be dependent on the level of agricultural price and the production of key crops. Besides, the
adequacy of rainfalls and water supplies will be the monitoring issue as the risk of drought still remains high. The government policies
supporting farmers in several forms are another key factors to strengthen the growth of agricultural sectors and boosting the chemical
fertilizer demand. In addition, the fluctuation of raw material prices could have significant impact to the demand and consequently determine
the direction of the chemical fertilizer industry in 2020.

12 s18v1uUs:=91U 2562



3. NMSAKIWARATUT
Product Supply

a < L a o £ IS v a o 1 dtﬂ‘ Itﬂl a s al IdIQ/ L
viEn Inoduniaed dda (o) Wuinfanazdminedoediilvgigeludsznealng uieny dlssnuselngiviuads
wazldaasa U 2 urls TINFAIAIMINRANSEUTAZ 1.2 A 1uNaINAU
Tssuursusn Tssnunszaszuas idunawszagnaadd Swminaynsdsims dmdunszuiumaude malssnuldldimassmmna
(Natural Gas) Nifiduyudwaziananztiaandt uwraiwdsunuihduanaoudl w.e. 2550 uazuisnldvinsfademihendalniienuiau
| o ¢ A qu | A A DY) a & o ) R —— o | a
N9 4 wnnzdag wweldnalulsesnunazanediimasldnunsluiiuasvais annehenudaudadunanassldanuiandaluida
v o on 4 oA 4 ~ v o v . v 4
anufousnunlflunisndeladedaudislunisnaadununmsndadiunislindsnuadld aunsagalunmsannizlanfaudnnienile
gj 1
AILAL W.@. 2556
\ A o v o - v 4 v X a4 av ¥ 9
waslsonuuvisiaas lsenuuasrans fenaunmai Janianszuasaisgsen Iddsunslfizamdanemandale laonsld
o ; A o2 ¥ o4 ¥ o A
Amusanadedenuazaauaziiuiniudsnedasdudamamawnmihdueniliosbs
Funsiaminnau Lﬁmmmﬂmﬁ’mqauﬁmwﬂ’umumuqﬂmﬁl,m:qﬂmuﬁlumm@hn u’%ﬂ’wﬁqﬁﬂﬁmaﬁ’@m’;’mqammLma'owam
Aa oA A £ | a o o P a o o a A 9y | Yo a
Adanmhraiannnslulsinauazdndaszing lasimsvihdygnszasanaimaasanaidasdudinugdnmuvasingdu iweliduladnasldingaiu
ludSanunissne assaugunmiimualilunenimanzas eaisanuasnsnlunsuteiusasuisnyaedetiu

Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited (TCCC) is Thailand’s largest producer and distributor of compound chemical fertilizers.
The Company operates 2 large and international-standard plants, having the combined total capacity of 1.2 million metric tons a year.

The factory located in Samut Prakarn Province (Phrapradaeng plant site). For the manufacturing process, Phrapradaeng plant site has
utilized the natural gas which helps lower the cost and produce less pollution, substituting for the fuel oil since 2007. We also have installed
and operated the Cogeneration power plant which can produce electricity at the capacity of 4 MW. in order to supply electricity within the plant
site. The excess of electricity will be sold to Metropolis Electricity Authority (MEA). Moreover, the heat from the cogeneration system has been
used in the chemical fertilizers’ manufacturing process in order to save the cost and energy, and to help reduce global warming effect since
2013.

Another factory, located in Nakhon Luang, Phra Nakhon Si Ayuttaya Province (Nakhon Luang plant site). In addition, Nakhon Luang
plant site has utilized LPG which is the clean and eco-friendly fuel in production of steam, substituting the oil fuel.

In terms of Raw material procurement, from the raw material price fluctuation in international market which has been driven by global
demand and supply, the Company’s procurement policy is to secure raw materials from reliable source of supply both in domestic and from
overseas countries on long term contract basis to mitigate supply risk and ensure that there is sufficient raw material supply at the right
quality and right price leading to sustainable company’s competitiveness.

Production Capacity per Year

Teazidan Tse0unszilszuas JEXRRIRICE BERR
Description Phrapradaeng Plant Site Nakhon Luang Plant Site
Masmanaaaall 850,000 tNA3NAWmMetric tons 350,000 wH@3NAWmMetric tons

ANILALRUA
Warehouse Capacity

100,000 Lu@SN@AW/metric tons

90,000 LNM3INAWMetric tons

MazuangIngAvaaiu
Raw Materials unload per Day

6,000 LHASNAU/Metric tons

4,000 LHASNAWMetric tons

YA
Wharf Dimension

NN 310 LNAT AN 8.4 LuAT (27 ‘vj@)
Length 310 meters and Depth 8.4 meters (27 feet)

AMNENT 189 LHAT AN 5 LHAT (16 1')!(9])
Length 189 meters and Depth 5 meters (16 feet)

ANNAITD
Wharf Capacity

WisuiSaua 20,000 - 25,000 tuasneu 16 2 &0
Accommodate TWO 20,000 - 25,000 metric tons

WeuiSaama 500 - 2,500 tuasneu & 3 an
Accommodate THREE 500 - 2,500 metric tons
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anuruzn1sUsznoussng
Nature of Business Operation

4. wanturivauusen : Jg NPK noulos
Our Products : NPK Compound Fertilizer

v3En Inaduniaad 410 (uau) snsnsondaiewnd (Chemical Fertilizer) sfiaifia (Granular) ﬁﬁﬂmmwi@immﬁmﬁmﬁwﬁu
Hevidnanesdssine lagussanszaauas 50 uaz 25 nT,amm smﬂi'"naumalﬁmmmimﬂ fa lulasiau (N), Waawasa (P0). Tnwunaias
(K 0) uazs19@1m13389 13U wNndben (MgO), iz (S) Wudu uanmnumuﬁmmmsgam Wi lusau (B) andae ma“wﬂﬂwmaim
sanufinandnd Yinnouazamnngs afe daedl “aswaia-dula” 1 fudem Namuﬂmmwmww"l,ﬂmuﬂ Waulitunsznsrsnueasuazannsat
Az Lﬂu“n‘uf_lNLL‘Wiﬂa’]ﬁluwu‘ﬂLﬂ'i%]iﬂii&l'ﬂ’;ﬂiumﬁ WuN 45 U nﬁhﬂﬂmu’lﬂnmﬂumma Danfimsnzan azgasyldnanangauazd
Qmmmﬂummmsmawm@ anmmawawamg\ma:mNamumsmmmusm%ﬁlmumwmm"lma LLa:ﬂaiﬂm@wammmmgmimnmm
iszimadndag

ludammInuauamMHER osaslsenu v lisumsiusessnasuaing ISO/IEC 17025:2017 wnasgiuresdifinmsnasey
Tagnsningmaniuinig nsznsInenemaniuazinalulad ﬁeﬁﬂﬁﬁ’ﬂadwmm@;mmimmﬂﬂmﬁ faunmuazldianasgiuaina Tl
°€Umi%’mﬂ@lﬁLﬂuﬁa\mﬁﬂ’amsﬁmmmm’afﬁLﬂi’l:ﬁﬂﬂLﬂﬁﬁ’m%fu%uw:Lﬁﬂuﬁ'unmf‘a"mmimumﬂi %qu%ﬁwslﬁu%mﬁLﬂiﬂ:ﬁﬂ'wmqmmi
wavilandiunvihanuniaynaansuandg

wananit u%ﬂ’ﬂé’ﬂﬁmwdﬁzyﬁ’unﬂ%maumiwﬁ@ I@aﬁwﬁ\amsv"v’@umﬁqsﬁaaﬂweﬁeﬁusﬁea@waﬂi:m@iaéam@é’ama:é’em 13991
ﬁg\aaawa\m‘%ﬁ’wvl,@i%’umﬁmaqmmim IS0 9001:2015 snasgruszunnImsnugaunnlssnanie lssndanseaay wazlsonaalniwasusiu
H103371% 1SO 14001:2015 mmgmﬁ:numﬁmmi%qan’iau waz 1ISO 45001:2018 HINIIIUTTUUNMIIANTDNTIDUNBUATANNL DAY
ia34%ﬂiﬁ%’umi“fmmmﬂmzmwqmmﬂﬁﬁlﬁﬂuqmmmiualﬁim “GauusTInEdad” seau 4 6?}@magﬂu%umau@fnﬁumﬂﬂm:é’u 5
Tuamandulndil lassmgeawnasudiden unmsaainlaansinsegaavnsu FolEmmuals 5 seiy WaUsziunassusaslssauiu
finsfuFsuindanuazdony

°

swtfadpadgndnansenudalonmansadadrianmadsznaugsnaduldd

Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited (“TCCC”) manufacturing plants are capable of producing standard quality granular
chemical fertilizer and normally packed in 50 and 25 kilograms plastic woven bag. The chemical fertilizer production consists of basic nutrients
which are Nitrogen (N), Phosphate (ons) and Potassium (KZO) and secondary nutrients such as Magnesium (MgO), Sulphur (S) and other
supplementary nutrients such as Boron (B) which promotes healthy growth of crops, both in quantity and quality. TCCC produces “OX -Brand”
fertilizer products that are of quality as registered with Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives and its popularity has been affirmed by farmers
all over Thailand for more than 45 years. The proper application of chemical fertilizer with suitable timing encourages greater amount and
better quality of production to meet the market demand, and helps lower the production cost resulting in an increase of income for Thai
Farmers, which eventually contribute to better national economy as a whole.

For quality control, the two company’s laboratories, located at both plant sites have been certified ISO/IEC 17025:2017 Laboratory for
fertilizer analysis by Department of Science Service, Ministry of Science and Technology, assuring the quality of nutrient values of chemical
fertilizer and meets international standards, Including have been certified as a high-quality analysis lab for chemical fertilizer registered from
the Department of Agriculture, and the lab also provides the nutrient analytical services for external organizations.

Furthermore, TCCC emphasizes production process which considering sustainable business development to reduce the environmental and
social impacts and both of laboratories have been certified ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management System for Quality Management System,
Manufacture of Fertilizer, Manufacture of Plastic Bag and Co-Generation of Electricity. As well as, ISO 14001:2015 Environmental Management
System and ISO 45001:2018 Occupational Health & Safety Management System. Moreover TCCC have been certified as a Green Industry “Green Culture”
Level 4 by Ministry of Industry and the company is in the process of upgrading to level 5 in the near future. The green industry project has been set
up by the Ministry of Industry that regulated 5 levels of “Green Industry” to evaluate the environmentally-friendly factories.

The crucial factor affecting limitation of this business is none.

14 s18v1uUs:=91U 2562



swala:lususedunsgugnaInnssuy
Award and Industrial Standard Certification

ISO/IEC 17025 : 2017

a3 ureslianmmesey

Tog NINANANEEATLSNNT NIenIIIneemaniuazinalulad
Laboratory for fertilizer analysis

from Department of Science Service, Ministry of Science and Technology

ISO 9001 : 2015

mmgmi:ﬂuu‘%mimuﬂmmw

lsondnile laandanszaey uazlsandn Wi wasouss

Quality Management System

Manufacture of Fertilizer, Manufacture of Plastic Bag and
Co-Generation of Electricity Steam and Hot Water from Gas Engine

ISO
9001

Quality
Management

ISO 14001 : 2015

H1ATFIUTZUUMTIMTRIUINADN
Environmental Management System

150
14001

Environmental
Management

ISO 45001 : 2018

NIOTIIUTTUUNTIANTDI TN BATANNL DAY
Occupational Health & Safety Management System

ISO
45001

Occupational
Health and Safety
Management

Green Industry Award Level 4

geavNIINADEN 320U 4 “Taussdded laensznaegaamnsan
Green Industry Level 4 “Green Culture” From Ministry of Industry

@re_er_.l Industry

ECO Industrial Town
Ts991uuATva
Nakhon Luang Plant Site

msﬂnszé’uLLa:ﬁwuﬂiwmqmmwnssuluﬁuﬁtﬁaqaqmamﬂﬁm%qﬁnﬁ
loansulssaugaamnsas

Improve and develop industrial factory in the eco-industrial city area
from Department of Industrial Works
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Nature of Business Operation
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IUSeuiigul 2560-2562
Financial Highlights 2017-2019 Comparison

o a a o < s o as a e 1
ﬂﬂﬂ']ﬂiy"(l']\‘m']ﬂﬂ%“ﬂa\‘l UIWN VLYIEIL‘ﬂ%Yl‘JaLﬂﬁ ANNA (HHRI1TU) HATUI¥NLDE

Financial Highlights of Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited and Subsidiaries

(¥ham: 1,000 1) / (Unit: 1,000 Baht)

2561/2018

10,322,057
10,457,475
2,285,708
1,349,544
1,331,139
1,348,311
1,330,185

2.28

2.00
11,127,353
1,200,623
9,926,730
9,832,996
3.00
584,714
16.82

11,197,972

2560/2017

11,539,822
11,653,011
2,999,992
1,947,123
1,932,399
1,906,220
1,891,726

3.30

3.20
11,197,972
1,437,262
9,760,710
9,672,239
3.00
584,714
16.54

11,127,353 11,031,933

2562/2019
Haldanmsunauazuinig / Sales and Services 8,814,592
e'lf993 / Total Revenues 8,920,971
ﬁﬁvli("ln@nu) %uél'u / Gross Profit (Loss) 1,791,016
s (enu) ans / Net Profit (loss) 939,379
ﬁﬂigﬂ%dmﬁ@ummﬁﬁﬁlmyj / Net Profit attributable to owners of the parent 922,294
AlsidaaSasin / Total Comprehensive Income 902,108
ﬁw"l,suﬁmL&‘%ﬂimdmﬁﬂmawfsﬁ’%lmy / 885,549
Total Comprehensive Income attributable to owners of the parent
il (1anu) diaviu (Um) / Profit (Loss) Per Share (Baht) 1.58
Ruifunada#tu (un) * / Dividend Per Share (Baht) * 1.50
Aun3ndsan / Total Assets 11,031,933
wiausan / Total Liabilities 1,098,541
duwevifiadiu / Shareholders’ Equity 9,933,392
danuasu3Enlvg) / Equity attributions to owners of the parent 9,841,474
HaF¥u (UM) / Par Value (Baht) 3.00
Awnvin (Wuu) / Number of Shares (Thousand Shares) 584,714
yasauLiyBeiadin (um) / Book Value Per Share (Baht) 16.83
nuEmg © ﬁuﬂ'uwa@iaijm'wmnwaﬂsznaumﬂuﬂﬁmum
Remark : *  Dividend Per Share paid on previous year operation.
25,000,000 4 2,500,000 + 15,000,000 +
20,000,000 + 2,000,000 - 1.891.726 12,000,000 -+
15,000,000 - 1,500,000 90158 9,000,000 -+
11,858,011 10,457,475 g 900 971
10,000,000 + 1,000,000 - 82 o8 6,000,000 +
5,000,000} 500,000 3,000,000
0 0 0
2560/2017  2561/2018  2562/2019 2560/2017 2561/2018  2562/2019
s181#523 / Total Revenues mladaadanudmiiiusaoidnlng /

Total Comprehensive Income attributable to owners of the parent

18 s18v1uUs:=91U 2562

2560/2017  2561/2018 2562/2019

Auniwdiau / Total Assets



TENUATUIATEUINITU 9 UIEN Inaduniatadl 10a (N9NTH) wasu3Endas
Ratios of Financial Statements of Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited and Subsidiaries

@50l Fuge o Jud 31 Sunaw 2562 / For The Year Ended December 31, 2019

9

2562/2019 2561/2018 2560/2017

dmsNdmanInAaa / Liquidity Ratios

dnIndnanIwaaay / Current Ratio win / Times 10.48 9.04 7.17
dnTauaNNATIHYULT / Quick Ratio win / Times 8.24 6.45 5.37
Samdamnsudaugniiiniad / Receivable Tumover 391 / Times 20.88 19.5 15.91
i:ﬂ:nmlﬁuwi{mﬁlﬂ / Collection Period 34 / Days 17 19 23
é’mﬂdmﬂguﬁﬂu&uﬁmﬂﬂﬁﬂ / Inventory Turnover 39U / Times 3.42 3.66 4.59
i::?.l:l,’m’l‘il'ltlauﬁ‘]m?ilﬂ / Inventory Turnover Period 4 / Days 105 98 78
é’mswdauﬂguﬁﬁuﬁm‘ﬁ/ Account Payable Turnover 591 / Times 34.25 26.16 23.31
i:ﬂ:l,’am"ﬁ'ﬁzﬁﬁ/ Payment Period 4 / Days 11 14 15
Wuvaullsu / Cash Cycle Tu/ Days 112 103 86

FasdULENIANNAINITOIUN1IHINA LS / Profitability Ratios

Sasriladudu / Gross Profit Ratio % 20.32 22.14 26.00
Sasnrinlsans / Net Profit Ratio % 10.34 12.73 16.58
dnTWanauunuinadiu / Retumn on Equity % 9.29 13.65 20.00

dasrdunansuszansainlunisaiineu / Efficiency Ratios

dasnanauunuaIndunindsin / Return on Total Assets % 8.32 11.92 17.17
fasmanauunuanaunsndnanas / Return on Fixed Assets % 66.34 84.07 121.03
é’mwmwgummﬁuw%’wﬂrim / Total Assets Turnover 30U / Times 0.81 0.94 1.04
é’mwdawﬁ%u@iadmmméﬁaﬁu / Debt to Equity Ratio i / Times 0.11 0.12 0.15
Famaauanuansnsatiszaenidle / Interest Coverage 11 / Times 249.87 1,387.15 1,973.73
dasaIwnIsataiuiiumg / Dividend Payout Ratio % 64.99 60.06 80.79
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Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)
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Business Overview

The Company reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements of 2019 from January 1 to December 31, 2019 that the Company
achieved Profit Attributable to Owners of the parent of 922 million baht, decreased by 31% or 409 million baht from the previous year of 1,331
million baht. The decline in profit was due to the reduction of chemical fertilizer demand, which had been affected by the occurrence of severe
drought during the year 2019. As a result, Earnings per Share for the year 2019 was 1.58 Baht, decreased from 2.28 Baht in 2018.

Business Segment Information

The Company’s main business is to import, manufacture and distribute various formulas of chemical fertilizer. The Company has 3
subsidiaries, 1) TCCC Myanmar Ltd., an importer and distributor of chemical fertilizer in Myanmar, 2) MC Agro-Chemicals Co., Ltd., an
importer and distributor of herbicide, fungicide, and insecticide for agriculture, and 3) N.LLM. Co., Ltd., an owner and operator of the tank
terminal for storage of liquid chemicals for industrial uses. The Company performance is analyzed in the segment of Core Business and
Subsidiaries businesses.

 Core Business (Chemical Fertilizers)

Thailand had experienced the worst drought in four decades, which inevitably worsened growers’ income and purchasing power as it
had reduced cultivated areas as well as the quality of crop yield. Besides, the prices of major field crops such as rice, sugarcane and rubber
were not attractive enough for growers to start cultivation.  Therefore, these factors had contributed to a significant decline in demand for
chemical fertilizer compared with the previous year.

To cope with such difficulty, the Company expanded its product segments by introducing more of fruit fertilizer formulas as there had
been a continuous demand for several major fruits from both inside and outside the country. Exportation to neighboring countries including
Laos, Cambodia and Myanmar was another strategy that the Company used for recovering from the loss in a domestic market.

 Other Businesses

The share of Sales Revenue and Service Income from the two non-fertilizer businesses was insignificant at 4% compared with the
total revenue in 2019.

Sales Revenue and Service Income of MC Agro-Chemicals was down by 26% from the previous year. The decrease was due to the
government’s restriction on the use of farming chemicals such as Glyphosate.

Service Income of N.I.M. also decreased by 4% from the previous year. The decrease resulted from the lower volume of chemicals
storage in the tanks.

Policy and Strategy

The Company adheres to the main strategies of; 1) supplying high quality products for farmers to achieve high yield, 2) providing best
services to the customers to meet their requirements, and 3) controlling production and procurement to maintain the optimal level of
inventory, so as to generate highest income from the operation. In addition, The Company achieved “Green Industry Reward Level 4” in
recognition of the Company’s effort in creating the most environmentally friendly manufacturing processes as well as cultivating positive
mindsets in employees by raising awareness of the importance of their engagement in environmental protection. Ultimately, the Company is
committed to being a good corporate citizen in the local communities.

To achieve sustainable growth, the Company strives to adopt advanced technology for the enhancement of manufacturing capabilities,
create distinctive products and offer new services with best customer support.

Accounting Policies

The Company’s financial year is of the period from January 1 until December 31 of every year. The financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Thai Accounting Standards (“TAS”) No.1 (Revised 2018) and the Regulation of the Stock Exchange of Thailand.
The significant accounting policies is to recognize revenue from sales when the Company has transferred the control of the goods to
customers. Inventory is recorded either at lower of cost or net reliable value, whichever is lower. Meanwhile, cost is determined by a weighted
average method except for a subsidiary, MC Agro-Chemicals Company Limited, which is determined by a first-in, first-out approach.
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Results of Operations

1. Overview of the Operation

Statements of Comprehensive Income as of December 31, 2019 compares with December 31, 2018.

Year Change
Unit : Million Baht
2018 2019 %
Revenues from Sales and Services 10,322 8,815 (15)
Cost of Goods Sold and Rendering of Services (8,036) (7,024) (13)
Gross Profit 2,286 1,791 (22)
Other Income 135 106 21)
Profit Before Expenses 2,421 1,897 (22)
Selling and Administration Expenses (715) (704) 2)
Profit Before Finance Costs and Income Tax Expense 1,706 1,193 (30)
Finance Costs (2) (5) 158
Profit Before Income Tax 1,704 1,188 (30)
Income Tax Expense (354) (249) (30)
Profit for the Year 1,350 939 (30)
Profit Attributable to Owners of Parent 1,331 922 (31)
Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owner of Parent 1,330 886 (33)

2. Revenues from Sales and Services
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» Core Business (Chemical Fertilizer)

In 2019, The Company generated revenues from sales of chemical fertilizer in the total amount of 8,442 million baht, decreased by
1,414 million baht or 14% from 2018. The main reason for such decrease was due to the severe impact from drought, which directly lower the
demand for chemical fertilizer.

» Income from the Other Businesses

Overall, income from other businesses was from the sales of pesticides used in the agricultural sector as well as servicing tank rental
and terminal operation for the storage of liquid chemicals used in various industries.  The revenue generated by these businesses in 2019
was 373 million baht, down by 93 million or 20% compared with 466 million baht in 2018.

3. Cost of Goods Sold and Services
In 2019, the Cost of Goods Sold and Services decreased from 8,036 million baht in 2018 to 7,024 million baht or 13%. In line with
Sales decrease, the Cost of Goods Sold and Services decreased.

4. Selling and Administration Expenses

The Company’s Selling and Administration Expenses showed a decrease of 2% from 715 million baht in 2018 baht to 704 million baht
in 2019. The said decrease was due to the Company’s full effort to manage and control spending on the marketing and sales promotion by
offering customized campaigns that suits with different locations.

5. Profitability Analysis

Year Change
Description
2018 2019 %
Gross Profit (Million Baht) 2,286 1,791 (22)
Profit Attributable to Owners of the parent (Million Baht) 1,331 922 (31)
Earning Per Share (Baht) 2.28 1.58 (31)

In 2019, The Company’s gross profit was 1,791 million baht, showing a decrease of 495 million baht or 22 percent from 2,286 million baht
in 2018. The drop in gross profit resulted from the receding demand for chemical fertilizer. Moreover, due to decrease of sales volume, more fixed
cost allocated per volume worsen the gross profit ratio. As a result, gross profit ratio dropped from 22.1% in 2018 to 20.3% in 2019 .

Profitability Ratio ROE and ROA
30.0 30.0
26.0 26.0
25.0 2 e 51 25.0
’ 20.3
20.0 20.0
17.5 /
e 15.0 /8'2\‘\ e 15.0
>~ / 16.6 X .
10.0 12.7 10.0
10.6 10.3
5.0 5.0
0.0 0.0
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
@ Gross Proft Ratio =@ Net Profit Ratio e ROE ~ e==@e== ROA

Regarding the Profit Attributable to Owners of parent in 2019, the Company earned 922 million baht, which decreased from 2018 by
409 million baht or 31% (1,331 Million Baht). As a result, Earning per Share (EPS) decreased from 2.28 baht in 2018 to 1.58 baht in 2019.

Due to the declining net profit, both Return on Equity (ROE) and Return on Asset (ROA) in 2019 consequently decreased to 9.3% from
13.6% in 2018 and 8.3% from 11.9% in 2018 respectively. Despite a number of setbacks, the Company persevered in its attempts to maintain
profitability for the benefit of the shareholders and utilize all available assets to generate best performance.
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Analysis of Liquidity and Capital Resources

1. Overview of Financial Statements

Main components of Statement of Financial Position (Consolidated)

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019
Description Percentage to Percentage to
Million Baht Total Assets Milion Baht Total Assets

Current Assets 8,459 76 8,498 77
Non-current Assets 2,668 24 2,534 23
Total Assets 11,127 100 11,032 100
Current Liabilities 936 9 811 7
Non-current Liabilities 265 2 288 3
Shareholders' Equity 9,926 89 9,933 90
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 11,127 100 11,032 100

2. Assets

As of December 31, 2019, overall assets of the Company slightly declined from 11,127 in 2018 to 11,032 or less than 1%. Details are

shown in the next table:

December 31, 2018 | December 31, 2019 Change
Description

Million Baht Million Baht %
Cash and Cash Equivalents 5,517 3,507 (36)
Current Investments 175 2,675 1,426
Trade and other Current Receivables 419 559 33
Inventories 2,347 1,756 (25)
Total Assets 11,127 11,032 (1)

The 36% decrease of Cash and Cash Equivalents was mainly from the Company’s intention to free up the excess cash to invest in

term deposits with maturities ranging from 3 months to 1 year to earn higher expected returns. Thus, it reflected in the significant increase of

Current Investments from 175 million baht in 2018 to 2,675 million baht in 2019. Trade and other Current Receivables rose by 33% because

the Company tried to loosen up the cash collection policy for serving customers during unfavorable market conditions. In the meantime, the

amount of inventories reduced by 25% compared with the previous year as the Company tried to control and adjust inventories in accordance

with the market demand.

Investments Goodwill and Amortization.

The main intangible asset is Right for use of trademarks. The Company engaged an independent appraiser to determine the fair value

of the right to use the trademarks referred to above in accordance with the Notification of the Stock Exchange Commission dated April 30,

2004 regarding the opinion for accounting treatment for intangible assets. According to the reports of the independent appraiser dated January

14, 2020 and January 21, 2019, the appraisal values of the fair value of such right as at January 2, 2020 and January 2, 2019, respectively,

are higher than the carrying values.
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For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, sale under these trademarks were approximately 95% and 97% of the Company’s
total revenue from sales, respectively.

3. Liabilities and Equity
» On December 31, 2019, the Company had Total Liabilities of 1,099 million baht, decreased by 102 million baht or 9% from the end of 2018.
» On December 31, 2019, the Company had Total Equity of 9,933 million baht, increased by 7 million baht or 0.07 % from the end of 2018.

4. Liquidity and Cash Flows

In 2019, there was a significant improvement in liquidity
management as it was evident that the current ratio increased to 10.5 times
from 9.0 times in 2018 and the quick ratio increased to 8.2 times from 6.5
times in 2018. In other words, the Company was able to control both

Current and Quick Ratio
Current Assets and Current Liabilities for ensuring the ability of managing

12.0
short-term obligations in a more efficient manner. 10.5
i L ) 9.0 .
Regarding the Cash Flow Activities, the Net Cash Flow provided by 10.0
operating activities showed an increase from 1,360 million baht in 2018 to 60 7.2/ »

1,410 million baht or 4% in 2019. The increase was due to the Company’s A 68 82

tight control on the level of inventory. 2 6.0
Meanwhile, the Net Cash Flow used in financing activities decreased E 53& 5?4 5_:4/ o
by 27% from 1,165 million baht in 2018 to 852 million baht in 2019 as the 0
Company paid out less dividend from 2.00 baht per share in 2018 (based 2.0
on appropriation of net profit for 2017) to 1.50 baht per share in 2019
(based on an appropriation of net profit for 2018). 00 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

The Net Cash Flow used in investing activities was 2,565 million
baht in 2019 whereas the Net Cash Flow provided by investing activities —® CurrentRatio. == Quick Rafio
was 644 million baht in 2018.  The difference of 3,209 million baht was
from a significant increase in the Company’s investments in term deposits

to gain higher expected returns.

Economic & Business Forecast2020

The global economy is expected to remain plateau in 2020. Although the economic environment seems favorable because of the
reduced trade tension between the U.S. and China as well as the clearer direction of Brexit, the economic downturn in China and various
emerging markets could create a negative impact on international trade. Besides, geopolitical issue in the Middle East as well as the plague
of coronavirus could also obstruct the world economic development.

Thailand economy in 2020 is likely to grow at a slower pace because the economic situation of major trading partners could cause a
sluggishness in the export sector whereas the number of foreign tourists is expected to decline; additionally, private consumption and
investment have shown no signs of improvement. Therefore, domestic economy will be solely depended on the government spending.

Regarding the agricultural sector in 2020, not much recovery is expected during the year because the impact from drought and water
resources are predicted to be at the same level as the previous year. Nevertheless, the price of agricultural products and the government’s
financial supporting schemes are considered as important factors that can enhance growers’ willingness to cultivate.Thus, the movements of
these determinants will be strictly monitored as they affect the demand for chemical fertilizer.

In addition, external factors including the competition in chemical fertilizer market and the trends of raw material prices will play an
important role in determining the organization’s performance. It is essential that the Management needs to regularly review and analyze the
situation to find effective strategies that can respond to each factor and enable the Company to remain competitive in the industry.
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Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited has regularly reviewed and considered key risk factors together with risk mitigation
plans. The major business risks together with mitigation actions are described below. However, in addition to such risk factors, there would
be other risks which the Company may not currently aware of, or the Company considered that they may not have significant impact to the
Company'’s operation at this moment.

1. Farmers’ purchasing power

Not only the overall economy situation but changes in crop prices in local and international markets are also out to key factors that
could affect farmers’ purchasing power of agricultural materials including chemical fertilizers. This problem is mainly caused by the
inconsistency between low demand and high supply of agricultural crops in the market, resulting to the decrease of farmers’ purchasing
power. Drop of crop prices causes the decrease of farmers’ income, that makes farmers’ purchasing power reduce, and this leads to the
decrease of fertilizer demand at the end. In addition, such problem would impact farmers’ payment ability to dealers, which might also

subsequently cause a delay of payment from dealers to the Company.

Risk Management
The Company has a variety of fertilizer products for rice, vegetables, fruits, para rubber, etc., not relying on particular agricultural crops.
By focusing more on high demand crops, the Company could mitigate the risk of low demand of specific crop’s fertilizers. In addition, trade

credits provided to dealers have been regularly reviewed to avoid overdue payments or bad debts.

2. Climate changes

Demand of chemical fertilizers depends on climate conditions and such demand is usually peak on rainy season and cultivation periods.
Therefore, changes of season and climate are direct factors affecting the demand of chemical fertilizer in agricultural sector and business
performance of the Company. During the year 2019, there were several forms of climate changes, e.g., severe off-season drought resulting in
low water level in rivers and irrigation system that were insufficient for farmers’ demand. As a result, these events caused lower demand of

fertilizer as opposed to the Company’s expectation.

Risk management
The Company keeps monitoring on weather conditions to adjust marketing and production plans in consistency with the farming

situation and to control inventories at the optimum level in each season.

3. Government Policies

Chemical fertilizers are price-controlled products under the Goods and Services Prices Act B.E. 2542 by Department of Internal Trade,
Ministry of Commerce. Fertilizer producers and sellers shall distribute specified fertilizer formulas not higher than the controlled price. Such
price control policy may not be consistent with fertilizer prices in the global market, therefore it might negatively impact the Company’s

performance.

Risk Management

The Company has a policy to cooperate with government to support farmers. At the same time, the Company uses best endeavor to
maintain flexibility of management and strategy to correspond with changes of the government’s price-controlled policy. Meanwhile, the
Company is able to adjust production plan focusing on other fertilizer formula not affected from the price control policy. This strategy is one
of directions that can mitigate the impact of such government’s price-control.
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4. Fluctuation of raw material prices

The Company imports majority of raw materials from abroad for fertilizer production. Therefore, changes of raw material prices might
significantly affect fertilizer production cost, product price, as well as profitability of the Company. In general, raw material price fluctuates
according to international market situations as raw materials are commodity goods whose prices are depended on several uncontrollable
factors, e.g., global economy, weather condition, crop price, oil price, price speculation, etc. If the Company is able to manage the selling price
to be in line with the change of raw material cost, such fluctuation shall have minimal impact to the Company’s performance. However,
chemical fertilizer is one of controlled goods subject to the Goods and Services Prices Act B.E. 2542 in which the Central Committee on Goods
and Services Prices, The Department of Internal Trade, Ministry of Commerce (“the Committee”) has issued the announcement to suggest
that the selling prices of specific formulas of chemical fertilizer shall not exceed the suggested prices, except obtaining approval from the
Committee. Therefore, the Company may be unable to adjust selling prices against an increase of raw material prices as governed by the
price control policy above, resulting in selling price of fertilizers does not reflect actual cost. The Company’s expected performance might not
be achievable from this event.

Risk Management

The Company manages the risk by controlling inventories both of raw materials and finished products. From time to time, the
Company monitors market conditions and flexibly revises production plan in accordance with market demands, then further adjusts the
procurement plan of raw materials in order to keep inventories at the optimum level and mitigate effects of raw material price fluctuation.

In addition, the Company uses best endeavor to adjust selling prices reflecting actual cost. Upon occurrence of any events causing
production cost significantly risen up, the Company shall promptly request for the increase of fertilizer selling price to the Committee.

5. Fluctuation of the currency exchange rate

As majority of raw materials are imported from international suppliers, the Company has to make a payment mainly by US Dollar.
Therefore, there is a risk that the Company would be affected by the fluctuation of currency exchange rate. For instance, payments of raw
materials would increase when Thai Baht against US Dollar depreciates on the payment date, or revenues converted from exported products
would decrease when Thai Baht against US Dollar appreciates on the settlement date.

Risk management
When the Company makes contracts based on a foreign currency, the Company will enter into a forward exchange contract with
financial institutions. Under this practice, changes of currency exchange rate would have low impact to the Company as it has been fixed

already, and the Company is also able to determine the cost and the selling price precisely based on the fixed exchange rate.

6. Dependence on limited number of suppliers

Certain raw materials required for production can be produced and supplied by a limited number of suppliers. This dependence on
limited suppliers might cause short supply than expectation, delay of delivery than production and selling plans, and unreasonable price increase.

Therefore, dependence on a limited number of suppliers is one of risk factors that would affect the Company’s performance.

Risk Management

The Company uses best endeavors to explore potential suppliers of required raw materials, and allots procurement transactions into
different suppliers to reduce the supplier dependent risk. Currently, the Company has several sources to import single fertilizers. Therefore,
there is no raw material supplied by a single source to the Company at present. In addition, the Company sometimes makes purchasing
contracts in a specific period enabling suppliers to estimate the Company’s demand so that they can properly reserve and prioritize on the
Company’s order.
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7. Plant Operation

The Company'’s production capability is a critical factor of the business success. Therefore, any damage, loss, or interruption relating
to production process, inventory, product distribution caused by uncontrollable factors, e.g., severe weather, natural disasters, fire, machinery

breakdown, and lack of infrastructure are risk factors of the Company’s performance.

Risk Management

The Company operates the production by two plants, Phrapradaeng Plant at Samut Prakan Province, and Nakhon Luang Plant at Phra
Nakhon Si Ayutthaya Province. Even in the case one plant cannot operate because of emergency matters, another plant can operate and
total shutdown can be prevented. In addition, the plants implement a preventive and forecasting maintenance program to ensure production
stability and reduce unexpected shutdowns. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company has the insurance covering property damages as
well as business interruption in order to ensure that undesired events will be under acceptable level.

8. Foreign Investment

The Company has a business strategy to expand fertilizer market into nearby countries, then the Company established TCCC
Myanmar Limited, a subsidiary with the registered capital of 12.5 million US Dollar to operate a fertilizer packing plant at Thilawa Special
Economic Zone in Myanmar and has started its commercial operation in early of 2018. This foreign project has inherent risk factors
connected to the Company’s performance. For example, market conditions, competitors, governmental laws and regulations, skills and

knowledge of local labors, inflation, purchasing power of local farmers, etc.

Risk management
The Company has paid attention to such investment by closely monitoring the economic, social, and market situation in Myanmar. In
order to have effective operation, the Company has strength of strong brand recognition, product quality, competitive cost advantage, as well

as a variety of products that can support a variety of farmers’ demand.

9. Controlling persons

Sojitz Corporation (“Sojitz”) and ISTS (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (“ISTS"), the related person of Sojitz pursuant to Section 258 of the SEC Act,
collectively own approximately 83.46 percent of the Company’s share capital. Therefore, they can control voting in the shareholder meeting
on significant agenda, e.g., dividend, capital increase, related party transaction, acquisition or liquidation of asset, etc. as their votes are more
than 75 percent of the total votes. In this matter, rights to vote are solely rights of each shareholder. Therefore, the Company is unable to
control voting of such shareholders to be in accordance with the Company’s direction or not conflict with interests of minority shareholders.

Risk Management

The Company has strictly complied with related rules, regulations and laws upon proceeding of voting in the shareholder meeting.
Moreover, the Company has prepared information of such matter delivered to all shareholders together with the notice prior to the meeting
date. The notice states details of such matter, history, reason, necessity and the Board’s opinion for consideration by shareholders before
attending the meeting. In addition, shareholders will be able to ask questions in the meeting and the Company has a person in charge of such

matter to provide clarification to shareholders so that they can make an appropriate decision in each agenda.
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Remark

* Sojitz Corporation is the related person with ISTS (Thailand) Co., Ltd. pursuant to Section 258 of the SEC Act B.E. 2535 by holding the shares at 49% of the

registered capital and has 6,370 votes rights out of 11,470 votes.

Metro Co., Ltd. is the related person with the following persons pursuant to Section 258 Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 2535

- Bangkok Steel Public Company Limited as Metro Co., Ltd. holds the share of Three Mitr Marketing Co., Ltd. at 33.3% and Three Mitr Marketing Co., Ltd.
holds the share of Bangkok Steel Public Company Limited at 69.48%.

- Metrophos Co., Ltd. as Metro Co., Ltd. holds the share of Metrophos Co., Ltd. at 99.8%.

- Srikrungwattana 21 Co., Ltd. as Metro Co., Ltd. holds the share of Srikrungwattana 21 Co., Ltd. at 37%.
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Policy on Dividends
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Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited will allocate dividend payment to shareholders at the rate approximately 60% of the
Net Profit for the year of the separate financial statement after legal reserved, taxed and cumulative loss (if any) derived from normal business
operation. However, each dividend payment will be subjected to change depending on the Company’s investment plan, necessity as well as
other justification and consideration as the Board of Directors may deem appropriate.
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Mr. Toshiaki Miyabe

Corporate Board Chairman
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Board of Directors
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2550-2554 - Regional General Manager, Sojitz (China) Co., Ltd

2554-2556 - Director & General Manager, Dalian Global Food Corporation

2556-2557 - Deputy General Manager of Foodstuffs Dept., Foods Resources Unit,
Sojitz Corporation

2557-2558 - General Manager of Foodstuffs Dept., Foods & Agriculture Business Unit,
Sojitz Corporation

2558-2560 - Deputy General Director of Sojitz Vietham Company Ltd.

2560-2561 - DCOO, Foods & Agriculture Business Division, Sojitz Corporation

2561-if3aiiu - dszswmnssums U lnadunaedl $1ia (o)

- COO, Foods & Agriculture Business Division, Sojitz Corporation
- Director of Yamazaki Biscuits Co., Ltd.

- Director of Hanshin silo Co., Ltd.

- Director of Atlas Fertilizer Corporation

- Director of The Pan Group Joint Stock Company
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1. Sojitz Corporation, COO, Foods & Agriculture Business Division
2. Director of Yamazaki Biscuits Co., Ltd.
3. Director of Hanshin silo Co., Ltd.
4. Director of Atlas Fertilizer Corporation
5. Director of the Pan Group Joint Stock Company
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Age : 58 Years old
Education : Bachelor’s Degree of Commerce from Doshisha University
Director Training : None

Experiences :

2007-2011 - Regional General Manager, Sojitz (China) Co., Ltd

2011-2013 - Director & General Manager, Dalian Global Food Corporation

2013-2014 - Deputy General Manager of Foodstuffs Dept., Foods Resources Unit,
Sojitz Corporation

2014-2015 - General Manager of Foodstuffs Dept., Foods & Agriculture Business Unit,
Sojitz Corporation

2015-2017 - Deputy General Director of Sojitz Vietnam Company Ltd.

2017-2018 - DCOO, Foods & Agriculture Business Division, Sojitz Corporation

2018-Present - Corporate Board Chairman, Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited

- COO, Foods & Agriculture Business Division

- Director of Yamazaki Biscuits Co., Ltd.

- Director of Hanshin silo Co., Ltd.

- Director of Atlas Fertilizer Corporation

- Director of The Pan Group Joint Stock Company
Directorship or Executive in other listed company : None
Directorship or Executive in other business which is a Non-Listed company :  Companies

1. Sojitz Corporation, COO, Foods & Agriculture Business Division

2. Director of Yamazaki Biscuits Co., Ltd.

3. Director of Hanshin silo Co., Ltd.

4. Director of Atlas Fertilizer Corporation

5. Director of the Pan Group Joint Stock Company
Directorship or Executive in other business which may cause conflict of interest : None
Shareholding in the Company as of 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 : None, None
Family relation with other executive : None
First time appointed as the director : 28 March 2019
Number of year holding the position as the director : 1 Year
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Mr. Yoshihiro Tamura 2555-2557 - Senior Vice President of Chemicals Division, Sojitz Corporation
Chief Executive Officer and - Senior General Manager of Ecological Materials & Resource Unit, Sojitz Corporation
President 2557-2560 - President, Sojitz (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

2560-2561 - Chairman and President, Sojitz (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

- Chairman, Sojitz (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd.
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Age : 61 years old
Education : Bachelor’s Degree of Economics from Shiga University

Director Training : None

Experiences :
2012-2014 - Senior Vice President of Chemicals Division, Sojitz Corporation
- Senior General Manager of Ecological Materials & Resource Unit, Sojitz Corporation
2014-2017 - President of Sojitz (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
2017 - 2018 - Chairman and President, Sojitz (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
- Chairman, Sojitz (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd.
2018-Present - Chief Executive Officer and President of Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited

- Executive Officer, Sojitz Corporation
Directorship or Executive in other Listed Company : None
Directorship or Executive in other business which is a Non-Listed Company : 4 companies
1. Board Chairman of MC Agro-Chemicals Co., Ltd.
2. Board Chairman of N.I.M. Co., Ltd.
3. Director of Central Pacific (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
4. Board Chairman of TCCC Myanmar Limited
Directorship or Executive in other business which may cause conflict of interest : None
Shareholding in the Company as of 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 : None, None
Family relation with other executive : None
First time appointed as the director : 29 March 2018

Number of year holding the position as the director : 2 Years
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Mr. Takayuki Tohei
Chief Financial Officer and
Executive Vice President
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Board of Directors
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1523@n13fnwn : Bachelor of Law’s Degree in Political Science from Keio University
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2547-2552 - General Manager of Finance & Accounting Dept., Sojitz (China) Co.,Ltd.
2552-2555 - Deputy Manager of Corporate Planning Dept., Sojitz Corporation

2555-2558 - Manager of Secretariat Dept., Sojitz Corporation

2558-2560 - Manager of Human Resources & General Affairs Dept., Sojitz Corporation
2560-2561 - General Manager of Human Resources & General Affairs Dept., Sojitz Corporation
2561-‘173113’% - Assistant General Manager of General Accounting Dept., Sojitz Corporation
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Age : 47 years old
Education : Bachelor of Law’s Degree in Political Science from Keio University

Director Training :

2019 - CFO Professional Development Program 5/2019, Thai Listed Companies Association (TLCA)
2020 - CFO Orientation course, The Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET )

Experiences :

2004-2009 - General Manager of Finance & Accounting Dept., Sojitz (China) Co.,Ltd.
2009-2012 - Deputy Manager of Corporate Planning Dept., Sojitz Corporation

2012-2015 - Manager of Secretariat Dept., Sojitz Corporation

2015-2017 - Manager of Human Resources & General Affairs Dept., Sojitz Corporation
2017-2018 - General Manager of Human Resources & General Affairs Dept., Sojitz Corporation
2018-Present - Assistant General Manager of General Accounting Dept., Sojitz Corporation

Directorship or Executive in other Listed Company : None
Directorship or Executive in other business which is a Non-Listed Company : 2 companies
1. Director of MC Agro-Chemicals Co., Ltd.
2. Director of Central Pacific (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
Directorship or Executive in other business which may cause conflict of interest : None
Shareholding in the Company as of 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 : None, None
Family relation with other executive : None
First time appointed as the director : 28 March 2019

Number of year holding the position as the director : 1 Year
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Mr. Jiro Nishiyama
Executive Officer and Senior
Vice President
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1sz3@n1s5finwn : Bachelor's Degree of Law Majored in Political Science from Keio University Certified Public
Accounting (CPA) United States of America
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2550-2555 - Deputy Manager of Retail Business Department, Sojitz Corporation

2555-2557 - Deputy Manager of Agribusiness Department, Sojitz Corporation
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Age : 44 years old
Education : Bachelor’'s Degree of Law Majored in Political Science from Keio University Certified Public Accounting
(CPA) United States of America

Director Training : None

Experience :

2007-2012 - Deputy Manager of Retail Business Department, Sojitz Corporation

2012-2014 - Deputy Manager of Agribusiness Department, Sojitz Corporation

2014-Present - Executive Officer and Senior Vice President of Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited

Directorship or Executive in other Listed Company : None

Directorship or Executive in other business which is a Non-Listed Company : None
Directorship or Executive in other business which may cause conflict of interest : None
Shareholding in the Company as of 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 : None, None
Family relation with other executive : None

First time appointed as the director : 28 March 2014

Number of year holding the position as the director : 6 Years
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Age : 49 Years old

Education : Bachelor's Degree of Economics from Chulalongkorn University
Master’s Degree of Economics from University of Missouri, U.S.A.

Director Training :

2014 - Director Certification Program (DCP), class 198/2014,
Thai Institute of Directors Association (IOD)
2015 - Director Certificate Program (DCP), class 199/2015,
Thai Institute of Directors Association (IOD)
2016 - Board that Make a Difference (BMD), class 1/2016,
Thai Institute of Director Association (IOD)
2017 - Board Matters and Trends (BMT), class 4/2017,
Thai Institute of Director Association (IOD)
Experiences :
2010-Present - Vice President Relationship Manager of Chemical Lending Group,

Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited.
Directorship or Executive in other Listed Company : None
Directorship or Executive in other business which is a Non-Listed Company : None
Directorship or Executive in other business which may cause conflict of interest : None
Shareholding in the Company as of 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 : None, None
Family relation with other executive : None
First time appointed as the director : 31 March 2011
Number of year holding the position as the director : 9 Years
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Age : 77 years old
Education : Bachelor's Degree of Law from Thammasat University

Director Training : None

Experiences :

1986-Present - Director of Metro Systems Corporation PCL.
1988-Present - Chairman of United Flour Mill PCL.
1983-Present - Vice-Chairman of HMC Polymers Co., Ltd.
1984-Present - Director of Metro Co., Ltd.

1987-Present - Director of Bangkok Industrial Gas Co., Ltd.
1988-Present - Chairman of Polymers Marketing Co., Ltd.

Directorship or Executive in other Listed Company : 1 company

1. Director of Metro Systems Corporation PCL.
Directorship or Executive in other business which is a Non-Listed Company : 6 companies

1. Chairman of United Flour Mill PCL.

2. Vice-Chairman of HMC Polymers Co., Ltd.

3. Director of Metro Co., Ltd.

4. Director of Bangkok Industrial Gas Co., Ltd.

5. Chairman of Polymers Marketing Co., Ltd.

6. Director of N.I.M. Co., Ltd.

Directorship or Executive in other business which may cause conflict of interest : None

Shareholding in the Company as of 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 : 5,000 shares/ 5,000 shares
Mrs. Veena Suvaruchiporn, Wife : 4,285 shares/4,285 shares

Family relation with other executive : None

First time appointed as the director : 29 March 2013

Number of year holding the position as the director : 7 Years
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Age : 69 years old
Education : Bachelor’s Degree of Economics from Aligarh Muslim University, India
Director Training
2016 - Director Certificate Program (DCP), class 227/2016
Thai Institute of Director Association (IOD)
2017 - Board Matters and Trends (BMT) 3/2017

Thai Institute of Director Association (IOD)

Experience
1989-2011 - Vice-President (Group Treasurer) of Berli Jucker Public Co. Ltd. (BJC)
2003-2011 - Director of Cosma Medical Co., Ltd. (BJC’s subsidiary)

Directorship or Executive in other Listed Company : None

Directorship or Executive in other business which is a Non-Listed Company : None

Directorship or Executive in other business which may cause conflict of interest : None

Having any interests related to the agendas of this AGM : None

Shareholding in the Company as of 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 : None, None

Family relation with other executive : None

First time appointed as the director : 20 June 2012

Number of year holding the position as the director : 7 Years 9 Months

Having any of these kind of interests in the Company / Parent Company / Subsidiary / Associated or Entity which may
have any conflict of interest at present or during the past 2 years

- Directorship in administrating business, employees, labors or consultants with monthly salary : None

- Serving in professional service as auditors or legal consultant : None
- Having significant relationship that may affect the independence such as selling or buying raw materials,

products, services, or borrowing, or lending, etc. : None
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Mr. Opas Sripornkijkachorn
Independent Director and
Audit Committee Member
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Age : 51 years old
Education : Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting (with 2nd class honor) from Chiang Mai University
Master’s Degree in Business Economics from NIDA
Certified Public Accounting (CPA) Thailand
Certification in Control Self Assessment (CCSA)
Certified Internal Auditor (CIA)
Certified Financial Services Auditor (CFSA)
Director Training :

2010 - Director Certification Program (DCP), class 198/2014,
Thai Institute of Directors Association (IOD)
2011 - Audit Committee Program,
Thai Institute Directors Association (IOD)
2011 - Advanced Audit Committee Programs,
Thai Institute Directors Association (IOD)
2016 - Ethical Leadership Program (ELP) 4/2016,
Thai Institute Directors Association (IOD)
2017 - Board Matters and Trends (BMT) 3/2017
Thai Institute of Director Association (IOD)
2018 - Boards That Make a Difference (BMD) 8/2018
Thai Institute of Director Association (IOD)
Experiences :
2013-2014 - Partner of BDO Ltd.
2014-2015 - Senior Partner of Thai Info Ltd.
2006-Present - Director of MIDAS Audit and Advisory Co., Ltd.

Directorship or Executive in other Listed Company : None
Directorship or Executive in other business which is a Non-Listed Company : 1 company
1.Director of MIDAS Audit and Advisory Co., Ltd.

Directorship or Executive in other business which may cause conflict of interest : None
Having any interests related to the agendas of this AGM : None
Shareholding in the Company as of 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 : None, None
Family relation with other executive : None
First time appointed as the director : 14 August 2009
Number of year holding the position as the director : 10 Years 7 Months
Having any of these kind of interests in the Company / Parent Company / Subsidiary / Associated or Entity which may have any
conflict of interest at present or during the past 2 years

- Directorship in administrating business, employees, labors or consultants with monthly salary : None

- Serving in professional service as an auditor or a legal consultant : None

- Having significant relationship that may affect the independence such as selling or buying raw materials, products,

services, or borrowing, or lending, etc. : None
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Mr. Kasemsak Masayavanich
Independent Director and
Audit Committee Member
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Age : 69 Years old

Education : Bachelor's Degree of Mechanical Engineering from Nippon Institute of Technology

Training

1992 - Advanced Management Development Program 2/2535 Thammasart University
Director Training :

2010 - Financial Statements for Directors, class 10/2010
Thai Institute of Directors Association (IOD)

2011 - Director Certification Program (DCP), class 141/2011
Thai Institute of Directors Association (IOD)

Experiences :

1977-1994 - Manager of Toyota Motor (Thailand) Co., Ltd.

1994-2000 - Director of | & C Development (Thailand) Co., Ltd.

2000-Present

Managing Director of J.N.R. Co., Ltd.
Managing Director of K.A.T International (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
Directorship or Executive in other Listed Company : None
Directorship or Executive in other business which is a Non-Listed Company : 2 companies
1. Managing Director of J.N.R. Co., Ltd.
2. Managing Director of K.A.T International (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
Directorship or Executive in other business which may cause conflict of interest : None
Having any interests related to the agendas of this AGM : None
Shareholding in the Company as of 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 : None, None
Family relation with other executive : None
First time appointed as the director : 16 August 2010
Number of year holding the position as the director : 9 Years 7 Months
Having any of these kind of interests in the Company / Parent Company / Subsidiary / Associated or Entity which may have any
conflict of interest at present or during the past 2 years
- Directorship in administrating business, employees, labors or consultants with monthly salary : None
- Serving in professional service as auditors or legal consultant : None
- Having significant relationship that may affect the independence such as selling or buying raw materials, products,
services, or borrowing, or lending, etc. : None
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VDC Col. Plengsakdi Prakaspesat
Senior Advisor
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77 years old
- Graduated high school from Assumption College

Bachelor Degree in commerce from Ross College (Dublin) (1964)

Honorary Doctoral Degree in Mass Communication from Ramkhamhaeng University (1992)

Honorary Doctoral Degree in Arts, Lampang Rajabhat University (2001)

Diploma the Joint State-Private Sector Class 311 from The National Defence College of Thailand (1989)

- Independent Director & Chairman of Audit Committee of Bangkok  Insurance PCL.
Advisor of United Flour Mill PCL. (U.F.M.)
Territorial Defense Volunteer Corps Colonel & Vice President of the

Foundation of the Volunteers Defence Under the Royal Patronage of her majesty the Queen
- Director of Suanluang Rama IX Foundation

Advisor of The Psychological Security Association of Thailand
President of Thai Fertilizer and Agricultural Supplies Association

- Advisor of Soil and Fertilizer Society of Thailand
Advisor of Horticultural Science Society of Thailand

Senior Advisor of the board of The Federation of Thai Industries.

Member of the board of The Federation of Thai Industries.
- Advisory Committee on Corporate Communication and Revenue of The Federation of Thai Industries.

Advisory Committee on Corporate Social Responsibility of The Federation of Thai Industries.

Honorary Consul of Ireland
Member of The National Administrative Reforms Council (NARC)

Member of the National Legislative Assembly of Thailand

Senator 3 terms (1979-1983, 1985 & 1989-1991)

- Chairman of Bangkok Insurance PCL.

Independent Director & Audit Committee of Bank ICBC (Thai) PCL.
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Age : 66 years old
Education : Bachelor’s Degree of Science (Soil Science, Faculty of Agriculture) from Kasetsart University
Experiences :
1978-1991 - Chief of Chemical Fertilizer Inspector Central Area,
Department of Agriculture, Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives
1991-2002 - Chief of Chemical Fertilizer Registration,
Department of Agriculture, Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives
2002-2010 - Director of Plant Varieties Control Group,
Department of Agriculture, Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives
2010-2012 - Director of Fertilizer Control Group,

Department of Agriculture, Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives
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Age : 57 years old
Education : Master Degree of Marketing from Thammasat University

Bachelor Degree of Business (Transport Economics)
from Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology (RMIT), Australia

Training : Directors Accreditation Program (DAP 66/2007) Thai Institute of Directors
Experiences :
2005-2009 - Executive Director and Senior Executive Vice President

of Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited.
1996-Present Managing Director of Metro Resources Public Company Limited
1999-Present - Executive Director of MC Broker Company Limited
2004-Present - Executive Director and Managing Partner
of Crystal Jade Culinary Concept Holding (Thailand) Company Limited
Executive Director, Executive Committee Member
and Risk Management Committee Member of Bangkok Post Public Company Limited
Advisor to President of Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited
Executive Director of Post International Media Company Limited
Executive Director of Flash News Company Limited
Executive Director of Post Holding Company Limited

2005-Present

2012-Present
2014-Present
2015-Present
2015-Present

2015-Present - Executive Director of Post New Media Company Limited
2015-Present - Executive Director of Post TV Company Limited
2015-Present - Executive Director of Mushroom Group Company Limited

2016-Present
2016-Present

Executive Director of Post-IM Plus Company Limited
Executive Director of KIC-BKK Company Limited
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Executive Officers

No.1
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Name

Position

Age

Education

Shareholding in the Company as of 31 December 2019
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Name

Position

Age

Education

Shareholding in the Company as of 31 December 2019
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Name

Position

Age

Education

Shareholding in the Company as of 31 December 2019
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Name

Position

Age

Education

Shareholding in the Company as of 31 December 2019
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Bachelor's Degree in Economics from Shiga University

g

Mr. Yoshihiro Tamura

Chief Executive Officer & President

61 years old

Bachelor’'s Degree in Economics from Shiga University
None
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Bachelor’'s Degree in Laws from Keio University
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Mr. Takayuki Tohei

Chief Financial Officer & Executive Vice President
47 years old

Bachelor’'s Degree in Laws from Keio University
None

wadls Agensn

v w4 oa T .
mmmwmmma:ﬂssumiﬁmaQa@mﬂmg
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Bachelor of Law’s Degree in Political Science from Keio University

NP

Mr. Jiro Nishiyama

Executive Officer & Senior Vice President

44 years old

Bachelor of Law’s Degree in Political Science from Keio University
None

a a
wigFmnz 183
v 9 da o oo )
Lamm‘wmmma:;dms;miiumﬁaa@mﬂmg
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Bachelor’'s Degree in Social Sciences from Hitotsubashi University
Master’s Degree in Business Administration from HEC Paris

P

Mr. Ryosuke Hori

Executive Officer & Senior Vice President

40 years old

Bachelor’'s Degree in Social Sciences from Hitotsubashi University
Master’s Degree in Business Administration from HEC Paris

None
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Bachelor's Degree in Pharmaceutical Science from Hokkaido University
5,000 #u AauFasas 0.00

Mr. Ko Tojima

Executive Officer & Senior Vice President

59 years old

Bachelor's Degree in Pharmaceutical Science from Hokkaido University
5,000 shares or 0.00%
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Mrs. Montha Kasadesinchai

Executive Officer & Senior Vice President

54 years old

Bachelor’'s Degree in English from Thammasat University

Master’s Degree in Industrial & Organizational Psychology from Thammasat University
None
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13,600 #u Aailufasas 0.00

Mr. Somruk Likitcharoenphan

Executive Officer & Senior Vice President

55 years old

Bachelor’'s Degree in Industrial Engineering from Chulalongkorn University
Bachelor’'s Degree in Computer Science from Mahidol University
13,600 shares or 0.00%
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Mr. Watchara Pingsuthiwong

Executive Officer & Senior Vice President

62 years old

Bachelor of Science’s Degree in Entomology from Kasetsart University

None
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Mr. Takayuki Tohei has been appointed as Chief Financial Officer & Executive Vice President since March 28, 2019
Mr. Shigetsugu Fukuda vacated from the position of Chief Financial Officer & Executive Vice President on March 28, 2019
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Executive Officers

WWPIRNTUIEN / dnnguane
Corporate Secretary / Legal Office

WILWTIY 1TITUINA Mr. Photchara Wattanawinij
WWUYMILTEN /7 Manthdinngwuane Corporate Secretary / Legal Head
dinasragaunaly

Internal Audit Office

wiglwmd Bugiiy Mr. Phaitoon Inuthai

Hiamamld dinasaseumealuiasnymanenssumIngagey General Manager - Internal Audit Office /Secretary to Audit Committee
v s L4
FUNTNENTUU W]

Human Resources Group

WIHUN bNBASARTITE Mrs. Montha Kasadesinchai
dndhiuimsuazdmensanmddanislng) Executive Officer & Senior Vice President

¥ [ 3 v a
AIUWINILLNUDIANT / ATULINRIT
Corporate Planning Group / Administration Group

wgFmmnz 1a3 Mr. Ryosuke Hori
dnthiisimsuazfmionssumaidansing Executive Officer & Senior Vice President
WegTIve RaTwed Mr. Suravich Chearapong
v o o < . Lo
m@mimvl,ﬂ FNYITUINILHUDIANT General Manager - Corporate Planning Division
Wemhans InAmn Mr. Nuttakorn Chitraphan
#amamly ansewmfamsnly General Manager - General Affairs Division
wan3y Faaltiun Mr. Kritch Katchapanan
dannanald aaeunaluladansauna General Manager - Information Technology Division
v 9 g
FIRAND

Procurement Group

weals A3e1sin Mr. Jiro Nishiyama
dnihnuimisuaznsumafdaddanislng) Executive Officer & Senior Vice President
WILDUTN AIAIIY Mr. Thananat Tangkavivit

ve o, o X .
aﬂﬂmimvl,ﬂ LI UANDD General Manager - Procurement Division

v a s d
ATUNTII UL ATL Y U
Finance & Accounting Group

wamengilnig Mr. Takayuki Tohei

dezoudnihinmtuuaznssumssasidamslng Chief Financial Officer & Executive Vice President
a6 U | Cd .

WIFUE ‘Viaagﬂiau Mrs. Sunee Lorungroj

é’ﬁ’ﬂmiﬁ”ﬂﬂ AUl T General Manager - Accounting Division

weanwdl Aigeadiad Mrs. Luksami Hirunyavanich

YV QIJ a . ]

t{daﬂmimvl,ﬂ FIYIUNITLIU General Manager - Finance Division

WNENNUARSDS b 1Tslnal* Ms. Kunsiorn Na Chiangmai*

#aamanaly ansemunatiu General Manager - Finance Division

. o cac a 'V v | ¥ o ve o a & o A
ANIELAG WENTUAASES o 1Beglnd VLmumil,m\iml,ﬂuaﬂﬂmimvlﬂ FIEITUNTITEIU GLAIUN 1 ANAN 2562

*

Remark : Ms. Kunsiorn Na Chiangmai has been appointed as General Manager - Finance Division since October 1, 2019.
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Commercial Group / Marketing and R&D Division
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Nakhon Luang Plant Site
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Mr. Watchara Pingsuthiwong
Executive Officer & Senior Vice President

Mr. Supachai Pandum
General Manager - Sales Division

Mrs. Malee Duangdontee

General Manager - Commercial Operation Division

Mr. Supuk Laudee
General Manager - Marketing and R&D Division

AUNITHAG
Production Group

Mr. Somruk Likitcharoenphan
Executive Officer & Senior Vice President and
Plant Manager

Mr. Poljak Mingmahakul
Deputy Plant Manager

Mr. Nares Tunpichai

General Manager - Production Management Division

Mr. Boonchai Kokietpitak
General Manager - Operation Support Division

Mr. Somruk Likitcharoenphan
Executive Officer & Senior Vice President and
Plant Manager

Mr. Poljak Mingmahakul
Deputy Plant Manager

Mr. Vayu Kongkreangkrai**

General Manager - Production Management Division

Mr. Chalermphol Samarkhom
General Manager - Operation Support Division
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Remark :  ** Mr. Vayu Kongkreangkrai has been appointed as General Manager - Production Management Division since October 1, 2019.
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Myanmar Business

Mr. Ko Tojima
Executive Officer & Senior Vice President
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Management Structure

1. MSASIANIKLINVOINSSUNIS WuSKIsazgdiourenouAu TuusEn usendes llazusBnsou
Position held by Directors, Executives and Authorized Controllers in the Company, Subsidiary and Associate Companies

a s 1
B U3tinzan UINIIN
il FAUIN A . Associate
Tcce Subsidiary Companies c
No. Name RInRany
1 2 3 4
1 | wedsagng aemnt X
Mr. Kyosuke Sasaki*
2 |welngend Jewuz X
Mr. Toshiaki Miyabe**
3 |wala®dls: nyse o X X X /
Mr. Yoshihiro Tamura
4 |weBinedn Waaz /* / /
9 99
Mr. Shigetsugu Fukuda***
5 |weameangd ng /* / /
Y
Mr. Takayuki Tohei****
6 | wiwdls A3enan /*
Mr. Jiro Nishiyama
7 [ WNENINUNNT ﬁﬂqumaqwﬁ /
Ms. Kanokporn Aungsoontornsarid
8 | wedly §I3aNs / /
9 9 9
Mr. Suvij Suvaruchiporn
9 |wagiam Fududna #
Mr. Suvat Suebsantikul
10 |welama eEwsiavas #
Mr. Opas Sripornkijkachorn
11 | waneudnd deenia #
Mr. Kasemsak Masayavanich
12 |waGsmn: la3 . / / /
Mr. Ryosuke Hori
13 | wadwe Yegndaed .
Mr. Watchara Pingsuthiwong
14 | wigasdn Adaasynus * /
Mr. Somruk Likitcharoenphan
15 | wignmn insasdadde * /
Mrs. Montha Kasadesinchai
16 |wala Inash * N
Mr. Ko Tojima
u3smeag / Subsidiary Companies 1381374 / Associate Company
1. USHN BNF azlns-lafida dia 4. U3 Funsla Usznalne) $1da
MC Agro-Chemicals Co., Ltd. Central Pacific (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
2. U3t 18u.10.18u. Sda
N.I.M. Co., Ltd
3. UsHn A48 (Haunng i
TCCC Myanmar Limited
RHILLRE .
X = U92571Un338NNT 0= ﬂszﬁml,?z’mﬁwﬁu%mmaznsiuﬂﬁéﬁfﬂmﬂmg # = NIINNIDATLWALNIINNITATIAFOU
/ = N3INNT * = I mtnuswe += NITUMIHIANT
Remark :
X = Board Chairman 0 = Chief Executive Officer and President # = Independent Director and Audit Committee Member
/ = Director * = Executive Officer + = Managing Director
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2. $192:198ANSITISIVUS:BUAN:NSSUNIS Us=510 2562
Details of the 2019 Board of Directors Meeting Attendance

ludl 2562 usEldAnsszgmamenITuMINonNG 5 a3 delingaziBaamadiindszgnainIsnmsuazinuasi

In 2019, the company held 5 Board of Directors Meetings. Details of the Meeting Attendance are as follow.

, Uszgnason
I 3 1
7 IAUIN ATLVAUY Meeting No.
No. Name Position
2 3 4 5
1 mmﬁmsqu epIn* U3 unIINNT /
Mr. Kyosuke Sasaki* Director & Corporate Board Chairman B B B
2 | walnTond Koz 1928IUNTINNNT viviliy
Mr. Toshiaki Miyabe** Director & Corporate Board Chairman B
an v o A a oo :
3 u"IEJIf;I“HEI.Iﬁ.w mMyse ‘]_].iwﬁ”lul,’ﬂ’mu.”l“nUi‘ﬁ’lil,.l,amﬂii.}lﬂ’]ia’&ﬂﬂ’l]ﬂ‘ﬁty Jivivlv
Mr. Yoshihiro Tamura Director & Chief Executive Officer & President
a = Kk v v t:ll a Vo 1
4 WILTNDN vjq@: ﬂ‘i:ﬁ’ml{ﬂ’mu’mﬂ’]il,\'i%l,l,azﬂiiuﬂﬂiiaﬁEﬂ(ﬂﬂ’]ﬂ‘ﬁm‘, v
Mr. Shigetsugu Fukuda*** Director & Chief Financial Officer & Executive Vice President B - B
5 | wamenad Inig= 1szmudnthnnsduuasnssunissaefiaanising
. vV
Mr. Takayuki Tohei**** Director & Chief Financial Officer & Executive Vice President
A1 Aan v v & a v ye ,
6 ‘H.’IEJQ.I‘E u‘jﬁﬂjm L%I.mmm_limil,l,a‘miiu.msa‘ms_lgwlj.ﬁmmlﬂmy ‘ Jivlivlv
Mr. Jiro Nishiyama Director & Executive Officer & Senior Vice President
7 WNENINUNWT DIFUNTABA . ﬂ?wm‘i Jivlivlv
Ms. Kanokporn Aungsoontornsarid Director
8 mﬁq’mnq’a?f’Mi ‘ ﬂi.iNﬂ’l‘i JIivlivlv
Mr. Suvij Suvaruchiporn Director
(% & A v a a
9 WILF I a‘uaumqé ﬂii&lﬂ’liﬂEﬁwLliawﬂiwﬁ’luﬂii:}lﬂﬁ‘i@liiﬁﬁau . Jivlivlv
Mr. Suvat Suebsantikul Independent Director & Audit Committee Chairman
10 | welana esnsnavas NITNNITDITLUASNTINNIIATINFAY JIivlivlv
Mr. Opas Sripornkijkachorn Independent Director & Audit Committee Member
11 | wenuudnd Saaandia NIINNIDATHATNIINNIINTIAFDY Jivivly
Mr. Kasemsak Masayavanich Independent Director & Audit Committee Member
RAELNG v e X = ldhsandesg - = moan/deldlFsudunle
Remark : ‘/= means Attended X = means Absent - = means Resigned/not in position
MAENG : * wedgng enani IdRuandunslsssunssms Fous¥uft 28 ffwean 2562
* ynalndond Reue 1@Sumsudsiadudszonunssnns aeuaiud 28 fwen 2562
= wedinzdn Wees Widunndundssnuwdmihimatuuasnssunssasiiansing doudiud 28 Suew 2562
= ynamengh Tne Wisumsudedaiudssnuwdmihimatuuaznssunssasiianising doudiud 28 Sunew 2562
Remark : *  Mr. Kyosuke Sasaki vacated from the position of Corporate Board Chairman since March 28, 2019.
** Mr. Toshiaki Miyabe has been appointed as Corporate Board Chairman on March 28, 2019.
*** Mr. Shigetsugu Fukuda vacated from the position of Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President since March 28, 2019.
**** Mr. Takayuki Tohei has been appointed as Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President on March 28, 2019.
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Management Structure

3. AmaUINUNSSUNTSIa=EUSKIs danSul 2562
Remuneration of Directors and Executives in the year 2019

AMULNUNTINNS / Remuneration of Directors
1 dl o a ! ° . a o 4 v 1
ANRALUNUALTUAINY | AIRELLNUTINTBINTINNNTEINSUT 2562 Ha1wuTIn 5.5 a1mun dsznaudie (1) anauuns
Nafan (2) adundtanssums uaz (3) Lﬁﬂﬂsz"guﬂmznssumimaaaau (AMSUameNITHMINTIREDL) ageasiBanfnaLnuaad
NTTHNTUARSIUR A
Monetary remuneration : Remuneration of The Board of Directors in the year 2019 amounted to a total of THB 5.5 million, which

included (1) monthly remuneration (2) Director Bonus remuneration and (3) Audit Committee Meeitng Allowance (for Audit Committee). Details

of these are given below:

o o o 1 NIINNIT
aaun LUIN AL NIINNIT
No Name Position Directors AT
: Audit Committee
1 mmﬁmsgm: a1 U5e5IUNTINNNG 363,000
Mr. Kyosuke Sasaki* Director & Corporate Board Chairman
2 walnTani Rt 1/9257UN3INNT 54,000
Mr. Toshiaki Miyabe** Director & Corporate Board Chairman
3 wisladdlsr nys: Yezrwimihiuimsuaznssumaginnislg 675,000
Mr. Yoshihiro Tamura Director & Chief Executive Officer & President
4 wigdiingdn Weas™ Yz mihinmaduuaznssumssesidanslng 562,000
Mr. Shigetsugu Fukuda*** Director & Chief Financial Officer & Executive Vice President
5 wigmengn g Yz mihinmatuuaznisunissesdiamslng 36,000
Mr. Takayuki Tohei**** Director & Chief Financial Officer & Executive Vice President
6 wedls AT dndhiiudmauaznssumafidefdanislng 514,400
Mr. Jiro Nishiyama Director & Executive Officer & Senior Vice President
7 WNENINUNNT DIgUNIanIA NITUMT 222,000
Ms. Kanokporn Aungsoontornsarid Director
8 WEIT FIFAINT N3INNT 222,000
Mr. Suvij Suvaruchiporn Director
9 mmgi’cvuﬁ qududna NITHNIDFITUAZLUITONUNIINNINTIAFDY 422,000 700,000
Mr. Suvat Suebsantikul Independent Director & Audit Committee Chairman
10 walama @Iwsnazas NIINNIDFITUALNITNANINTINEDL 342,000 540,000
Mr. Opas Sripornkijkachorn Independent Director & Audit Committee Member
11 WILNBNANR Nae NITNNIDRITUALNITHNIIATIAFDL 342,000 540,000
Mr. Kasemsak Masayavanich Independent Director & Audit Committee Member

1 A‘ =
ANMDULNUDUY 1 PN
Other remuneration : None

ANMULNUAUINIS / Remuneration of Executives
Y da o oA v o o o . oA v v |
APDULNUNLTUA I : mma‘uLmuiammammimmuﬂ 2562 A% 9 N% HANWINTIN 33.8 auLN Usenaunle (1) ANnauLkns

Nedau uaz (2) wallszlaainauunudug
Monetary Remuneration : Remuneration of The Executives in the year 2019 for 9 persons amounted to a total of THB 33.8 million,

which included (1) monthly salary and (2) other benefits
Amauunudug i

Other remuneration : None

. .
wEWG - * wadeiging mend Wil sssunsIums asueiud 28 dunau 2562
v 9 .
»* ynalndend fewz Esunsuasaaiulszsunssuns awuwaTuh 28 dunau 2562
o a = P s | v v A a v o ¥ 1o A =
wieBinzdn Waes lERuannduninlszsudmihinatuuasnssnnssesiiansivg dsudiun 28 fuau 2562
s e ve Y v oA A o V¥ e A A
wiamegh Inig Esumaudsaaiudazsudmihninmatuuasnssinssesiianialvg daudiun 28 Suau 2562
Remark : * Mr. Kyosuke Sasaki vacated from the position of Corporate Board Chairman since March 28, 2019.
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Mr. Toshiaki Miyabe has been appointed as Corporate Board Chairman on March 28, 2019.

Mr. Takayuki Tohei has been appointed as Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President on March 28, 2019.

Mr. Shigetsugu Fukuda vacated from the position of Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President since March 28, 2019.
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1. Corporate Governance Policy

Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited (“TCCC”) is well aware that good corporate governance and transparent management will
increase the company’s competitive capability and management efficiency, which will be the key to long-term success and growth of the organization.
TCCC thereby arranges the management system with ethical principles of having competent Board of Directors and management equipped with vision,
accountability, explainable rationale, responsibility, fairness and integrity, transparency as well as the creation on control mechanism and balance of
power. The Company’s Board of Directors will jointly take care, recommend and improve every system to operate according to the set policy and
strategies, the respect for rights of all shareholders and stakeholders with equitable treatments, which would be the key factor maximizing the
Company’s value and the returns to shareholders.

The Company duly applies Corporate Governance Code for listed companies 2017 issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission for
its operation. The Company’s compliance with CG Code covers these following five topics:

1. Rights of Shareholders

2. Equitable Treatment to Shareholders

3. Concern of Stakeholders’ Roles

4. Disclosure and Transparency

5. Responsibilities of the Board

1. Rights of Shareholders

The company is highly aware of and always place importance on the rights of shareholders in order to encourage their trust and confidence
in investing with the Company. Therefore, the Company has issued policies and guidelines to maintain the equal basic rights to every shareholder in
compliance with the Articles of Association of the Company and related laws. For example, the shareholders have the right to receive profits/dividends
equally, the right to attend the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, the right to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on their behalf at the Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders, the right to express their opinions and ask questions to the Board, and the right to receive sufficient and up-to-date
information, and the right to be treated in equitable when buy back shares is conducted by the Company. Moreover, the Company has implemented
the suitable management in effective manner.

In conducting the shareholders meeting, the Company sufficiently disseminated meeting notices and relative meeting documents to every
shareholder in advance and has provided assistance to shareholders in the shareholders meeting. Moreover, the Company has posted the meeting’s
information on the Company’s website for the shareholders to rapidly access to it, and this includes the minutes of the meeting within reasonable time.
In addition, the meeting notice was specified each agenda with its reason, objective, and the directors’ opinion clearly. Besides, the Company
provided opportunity to the shareholders to submit questions or propose additional agendas to be considered in the meeting in advance by sending
such question or additional agenda directly to the Company or via the Company’s website.

For the 47 Annual General Meeting of 2019, it was held on 28 March 2019 at The Banyan Ballroom, the Banyan Tree Bangkok Hotel, South
Sathorn Road, Bangkok, located in the city of major transportation zone; thus, the shareholders could conveniently travel to. Moreover, snack breaks
were also provided to the shareholders.

In the meeting, directors including Chief Executive Officers attended the meeting, which presided by the Corporate Board Chairman, and
had the lawyer of external law firm count and check the vote. Before the meeting had begun, the Chairman had informed the method of voting and
vote counting, and, during the meeting, the Chairman gave the opportunity in reasonable and sufficient time to the shareholders to ask any questions
to the Board.

For election of directors in the meeting, the Company proposes directors to be elected individually; thus, give chance to the shareholders
to actually elect director whom they wish.

The Company recorded and noted the meeting thoroughly, and posted on the Company’s website so that the shareholders could examine
the correctness. Besides, the Company regularly disseminates information under the Regulations to shareholders in a timely manner in order to
support their effective decision-making through the Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET)’s channel including the Company’s website.

Moreover, the Company clearly discloses structure of revenue and shareholding in subsidiary and associated companies in the annual
report and 56-1 Form, so the shareholders could be confident on the transparent and auditable operation. The Company has neither cross-holder

structure nor pyramid-holder structure.
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Last but not least, the Company appropriately arranged plant-site visit for interested investors and the Company’s information can be

obtained directly from Corporate Secretary.

2. Equitable Treatment to Shareholders

The Company places great importance on its shareholders and manages to treat all with equitability and fairness by arranging transparent
and efficient Annual General Meetings of Shareholders by running the meeting and holding votes in accordance with the sequence of the meeting
agenda as notified in the invitation letter, and ensuring one share for one vote to every shareholder. For a shareholder, who is unable to attend the
meeting, they could appoint one of the Independent Directors, or any relevant person to attend the meeting and vote. In this regard, the Company
sends the proxy form A, B and C with the clear requirement of documents, evidence for proxy appointment to the shareholders and instruction of
filling up the proxy together with the invitation letter, and also they could be downloaded on the Company’s website as well. Moreover, the invitation
letter and related documents are also provided in English version, and are sent to the foreign shareholders as well.

Any minor shareholder who wishes to propose the candidate for election of director before the Annual General Meeting of shareholder can
do so by sending the proposal with resume of the candidate to the Company by mail or via website. The Company has announced this message via
the SET and on the Company’s website.

In addition, for the benefit of the minor shareholders, the Company conducts the cumulative voting to give the minor shareholders the chance
to actually elect director whom they wish.

To assure shareholders that directors, management, employees an relevant insiders would not use undisclosed inside information for their
personal benefits, the Company has stipulated this issue in the Compliance Program and the Code of Conduct & Ethics under the category of The
Company Information as the guideline to prevent any misuse of inside information that would be unjustified to the shareholders by laying that such
insiders shall not disclose inside information to any persons except for a person who needs to know, and shall not use the inside information for their
own or for their relatives’ benefit. The Company printed the Compliance Program and the Code of Conduct & Ethics, and distributed to directors,
management and employees, and they shall provide signatory evidence for acknowledgment. In this regard, the Company shall hold the training of
the Compliance Program and the Code of Conduct & Ethics for directors and employees annually. The Company erects the measure to prohibit
directors, managements, and employees, who acknowledge the Company’s inside information not to buy or sell the Company’s shares during the
period of 30 days before publicly disclosure of financial statement or any important information which may affected to the share prices. Furthermore,
the Company complies with the SET regulation that all directors and the management must report their TCCC shareholding when first appointed to
the position and disclose on every change in shareholding according to rules and procedures set in the Securities and Exchange Act. B.E 2535 and
by the Securities and Exchange Commission. The policy and measure taking care on the use of inside information for the directors and management
has been stated in the Code of Conduct and Ethics under category: Use of Inside Information. In addition, they will strictly take the same procedures
according to those set in the Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 2535.

In the event of connected transaction, the Company implements the term and conditions in the Company’s schedule of authority, which
complies with Tor.Jor. 21/2551 Re. Connected Transaction Regulation, announced by Capital Market Supervisory Board, by categorizing the transactions
in type and value, and consider which procedure should be applied i.e. disclosure to the SET, approval from the Corporate Board or approval from
the shareholders meeting. The transaction shall be fair and at arm’s length. The Company also disclosure details of the related transaction in the

Annual Report with clarification of its reason and necessity.

3. Concern of Stakeholders Roles

The Company conducts business by adhering to responsibility for the rights of both internal and external stakeholders for sustainable
benefits which including shareholders, employees, suppliers, competitors, creditors, customers, including society and surrounding community on the
basis of honesty, fairness and transparency. The Company will not seek any personal benefit which may cause conflict of interests with the
Company’s or the stakeholders. In order to ensure that fair treatment is provided for each group of stakeholders in accordance with their rights and
agreements, the Company prescribed the measures for dealing with each group of stakeholders as follows:

3.1 Shareholders : the Company is committed to responsibility to create the highest satisfaction for shareholders on the basis of sustainable
growth, continually suitable returns on investment and transparent action along with good corporate governance policy.

3.2 Employees : the Company values employees as the valuable resource and a key to success of the Company. Therefore, the
Company endeavors to develop human resource continuously, and also ensure safety and benefit of employees by setting the policy upon these
following fields.

Safety and Health: the Company has policy on work safety and security by setting safety standard operation procedure to create a safe
and convenient working atmosphere that helps employees work effectively. Especially, at the plant sites, there are safety rules to regulate the work
mandatory, which they are superior to those stipulated by the laws. All employees, workers and subcontractors must acknowledge and comply with
them strictly. In this regard, the Company also records accident, injury and leaves affected by works of all employees for making the statistic to be

disclosed and improve the safety of the work place aiming at the maximum level.
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Skill and Knowledge Improvement: The Company provides annual training courses and useful seminars to every employee in every division
based on evaluation of their performance and need. Each employee is scheduled for training courses and seminars in specific average hours, and
shall be evaluated for the result of training plan.

Remuneration and Benefits: Stated in the Work Rules, the Company provides a reasonable and fair remuneration and benefits, which it is
referred to and based on the standard of its industry, to all employees such as salary rate, provident fund, medical allowances, annual physical
check-ups, accident and life insurances, uniforms, canteen in the plant site, accommodation, transportation, scholarship, cremation funds of which
covering to the member family of employees and others including bonus of which depending on the Company’s performance in each year. The
Company also established Welfare Committee which comprises of representative from employee and the Company. The committee shall consider
welfare of the employee and propose any improvement (if any) to the Company for consideration.

Human Rights: Human rights and freedom is stipulated as the basic and fundamental rights in the Company’s Code of Conduct & Ethics.
It is essential to respect the rights and freedom; no discrimination on ethnics, colors, religious, Gender, orientation, age, and social status, etc. The
Company strongly refuses to child labors, and opposes to all kinds of violations. Moreover, the Company pays attention to the opinions and
suggestions of employees at every level to construct and improve the good cultural organization and working atmosphere.

3.3 Customers : the Company focuses on customers’ satisfaction by assuring that customers would receive good quality product at
reasonable price. Guideline on how to treat the customers is also stipulated in the Code of Conduct & Ethics such as product qualities and product
liabilities; hence, the Company shall deliver the products with the best quality to the customers only, and the related product information and quality
are warrantied as well. Moreover, the Company has the policy to keep customers’ information in confidential and will not use or disclose it without
permission. This policy also strictly applies to all employees.

3.4 Suppliers / Creditors : Policy and procedure of selecting vendors and supply chain dealers is stipulated in the Code of Conduct &
Ethics; therefore, the Company shall comply to such policy and procedure to undertake the due diligence for ensuring that vendors and supply chain
dealers are in a good reputation, able to comply with contractual mandatory, and not on the government watched list. Moreover, the business
transaction must not against or evade the laws and free from any conflict of interest. In addition, to protect the benefit of vendors and supply chain
dealers, the Company shall make the non-disclosure agreement on personal information or any other information with them.

3.5 Competitors : the Company sets policy and procedures in the Code of Conduct & Ethics relating to free trade and fair competition
according to international principles under competition practice legal frame of a fair trade competition, without any agreements that would obstruct
the business competition or any market manipulation such as flood the market or price listed conspiracy.

3.6 Social, Community and Environment : the Company gives high priority towards social responsibilities by stipulating the policy related
to construct and develop social, community and environment in the Code of Conduct & Ethnics, and also make the annual plan of such scheme of
which appearing in the social responsibility report. In addition, the Company initiated various projects which help reduce pollution and consume
natural resources effectively as stated in detail in CSR report which has been disclosure to the public. Moreover, the Company sets up “Community
Relationship Committee” to co-ordinate regarding safety standard concerning health and environment including cooperate with government sector to
support on social activities within the community.

The Company believes that the anti-corruption principal is the most crucial policy for the sustainability growth of business; thus, stipulating
this policy in the Code of Conduct & Ethics. The Company protests to any bribery and any kind of corruption such as not offering or proposing any
benefits to any officer or any person who uses the state power for any unlawful fruit in return including not to bribe any officer for any services. In the
event that a transaction shall be conducted through agents or representatives, the Company shall review their qualification, and the value of such
transaction shall not be higher than the market price, and all related document of such transaction shall be filed and recorded for the undertake of the
Company'’s internal audit. For the purpose of aforementioned, the Company shall provide the training course of the anti-corruption to all employees,
which it is a part of human resource development plan.

Moreover, the Company opens for any interested parties to participate in monitoring the Company’s law compliance, good governance,
Code of Conduct and Ethics compliance, or any complaints on unlawful action that may constitute corruption. In this regards, the Company provides
channel for the stakeholder to submit or propose any complaints, opinions and recommendations to the Company as following:-

An employee can complain any misconduct of the Company’s rules and regulations, or express an opinion to their superior or General
Manager or Executive Officer. If they feel uncomfortable or inconvenient to do so, they can complain or express to the President via the President
Hotline. The Hotline is comprised of different channels such as email, letter and telephone, separately from other stakeholders, which shall be
directly reached the Chairman of Compliance Committee or the President. Should the compliant or the opinion has been made, the Chairman of
Compliance Committee shall deliberate it, and may call for the meeting among the Committee to investigate the evidence and further undertake any

reasonable action.

72 s18v1uUs:=91U 2562



Furthermore, employees and any other stakeholders could complain directly to the Board of Director via email: compliance@thaicentral.cot.th, or
telephone: 02-639-8888 or to the Company’s Secretary at the address of 21/35-46, Thai Wah Tower 1, 15 Floor South Sathorn Road, Thungmahamek,
Sathorn, Bangkok 10120. The Secretary shall gather the complaint and all related details, and circulate them to the Compliance Committee or the
Board of Directors for further processing.

The Company stipulated the guideline of procedure and punishment in the Code of Conduct and Ethics. The Company shall protect the
employees or the stakeholders who make a complaint or expresses their opinion. Any information related to such employee or stakeholders and

details of such case shall be kept in confidential and shall be destroyed when the investigation has been accomplished.

4. Disclosure and Transparency

The Company gives importance to the disclosure of information which shall be accurate, complete, transparent and comprehensive, in
reports of both financial and general information, and including the essence of information which may effected to the Company’s share price. Various
information and news had been disseminated to investors and interested parties through various outlets and media of the Stock Exchange of Thailand
(www.set.or.th) and the Company’s websites; www.tcccthai.com, and call center 02-639-8888 Ext. 1411 or e-mail address: mailbox@thaicentral.co.th
which Investor Relations and Public Relations provide services of information and news of the Company’s activities to investors, analysts and
general public.

4.1 The Company has disclosed detail of the Company’s information in Annual Report and Form 56-1, such as, shareholding structure of
the Company, name, biography, shareholding proportion, authority of the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee, the meeting attendance of the
directors, policy and amount of director remuneration, the Company’s financial position and performance, nature of business and competition, major
risks, dividend policy, whistle blowing policy, connected transaction, auditor fee and other fee paid to the auditor.

4.2 The Company provides fair and equal opportunity for the shareholders and investors to access the Company information. For such
purpose, the Company has prepared Annual Report, quarterly performance report provided on the Company’s website. In addition, the Management
occasionally meets the investment analysts.

4.3 The Company has stipulated policy that all directors shall report every purchase of the Company’s share including Report of Interest of
directors upon appointment as a director. In the first Board of Director meeting after the Annual General Meeting of shareholders, such policy shall be
reminded to the directors for compliance.

4.4 Remuneration of Directors and Executives, the Company has defined clear policy with regards to the remuneration of Directors by
having compared with the director remuneration in the same industry. The remuneration of Directors and Executives for the year 2019 has already
been disclosed under the heading of Directors and Executives Remuneration.

4.5 The Board of Directors is responsible for the Company’s financial statements, consolidated financial statements and the financial
information appear in the Annual Report. These financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
recognized in Thailand. Suitable accounting policies have been chosen and applied consistently, with discretion used cautiously and the best estimates
used. There has also been adequate disclosure of important information in the notes to the financial statements. The Board of Directors has the
opinion that the Company’s overall internal control systems are at a satisfactory level, and can give reasonable confidence in the credibility of the

Company and its subsidiaries’ financial statements as of December 31, 2019 that already been disclosed in Annual Report.

5. Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for managing the business to create the maximum benefits for the Company. The roles,
duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors are to act within the laws, the Company’s regulations, resolution of the Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders and good corporate governance principles with honesty, integrity, responsibility and transparency. Furthermore, the Company’s
management performance to meet corporate goals, create the highest returns for shareholders and uphold benefits of stakeholders in order to

implement the Company’s good corporate governance more efficiency.

2. Sub-Committee

2.1 The Board of Directors

The Board of Directors comprised of high competent and experienced professionals and to balance the authority of management, The
Company'’s Director structure has been set up with the Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors, who are appointed
to be the Audit Committee. All directors shall possess the qualifications according to the Public Company Act B.E. 2535 (and amendments), the
Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 2535 (and amendments) including rules and regulations of SEC and SET. The Company’s Article of Association
states that the Board of Directors shall consist of at least 7 directors and there shall be independent directors at least 1 in 3 of the total member of
the Board but not less than 3 directors must be independent directors. At present, there are 3 members of Audit Committee, which is calculated as 1

in 3 of the number of directors.
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The Board of Directors comprised of Nine directors as follows :-
Three Executive Directors

Six Non-Executive Directors in which three directors are Independent Directors and the Audit Committee. List of the Board of Directors

1. Mr. Toshiaki Miyabe Corporate Board Chairman

2. Mr. Yoshihiro Tamura Director & President

3. Mr. Takayuki Tohei Director & Executive Vice President

4. Mr. Jiro Nishiyama Director & Senior Vice President

5. Miss Kanokporn Aungsoontornsarid Director

6. Mr. Suvij Suvaruchiporn Director

7. Mr. Suvat Suebsantikul Independent Director & Audit Committee Chairman
8. Mr. Opas Sripornkijkachorn Independent Director & Audit Committee Member
9. Mr. Kasemsak Masayavanich Independent Director & Audit Committee Member

The Board of Director stipulates the policy to support the Company director to attend training or courses to develop competency of directors.
The Board of Directors held the Board Meetings in accordance with the yearly advance planned schedule. The Company has sent the
notice to all directors together with agenda and supporting documents at least 7 days prior to the meeting date. In the year 2019, the Board of
Directors held 5 meetings which lasted about 3-4 hours each time. Each director expressed the opinion freely and the minutes of each meeting was

proposed for adoption and kept for the concerned parties’ inspection.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board of Directors

1. The Board of Directors participates in setting direction of the Company’s vision, mission, objective, business plans and budget as well
as supervises the management to conduct operations according to the predetermined strategic plans and budgets, efficiently and effectively, to
maximize the Company’s value and shareholders wealth.

2. The Board of Directors has also established internal control system and monitoring their implementation in a consistent, ever manner.
The Board of Directors has stipulated a strict segregation of operational responsibilities and duties amongst members of the Board and Management
clearly defined each aspect of managerial authority, particularly financial authority.

3. To carry out duties in accordance with the laws, the objectives, the Articles of Association of the Company, and the resolutions of the
shareholders’ meetings in good faith and with care to preserve the interests of the Company.

4. To determine vision, policy, operational plan and budget of the Company as well as to oversee and superintend the
management to be in line with the assigned policy. The Board of Directors also supervises the performance of the Company’s management by
requiring them to report on business progress and the Company’s earnings on a monthly basis at the Board of Directors’ Meeting. Furthermore, the
Board is fully aware of pertinent laws and regulations and requires management to report every important issue related to the Company in order to
run the business efficiently and correctly.

5. To consider and approve important transactions, such as new business investment project, asset acquisition or disposition and other
transactions specified by the law specification.

6. To appoint or delegate any power to any other persons to conduct the Company’s business subject to the control of and within the time
as may be specified by the Board, whereby such appointment or delegation of power may, at anytime, be canceled, revoked, withdrawn or amended.

7. To approve or agree to the related transactions in compliance with the relevant notifications, regulations and guideline of the Stock
Exchange of Thailand.

8. To consider transaction which may causes conflict of interest with care, reasonable transparency and independence under good
corporate governance in order to avoid personal benefit or having any relation in financial and/or in person with outsiders which may cause damage

to the Company.
The Authorized Director to sign binding the Company

The directors and the number of them, whom are authorized to sign binding the Company, are from group A: Mr. Yoshihiro Tamura or

Mr. Jiro Nishiyama, jointly sign with group B: Mr. Takayuki Tohei, in total of 2 directors, and seal of the company.
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Training of Directors
The Board has the policy to promote and encourage all directors to attend or participate in the directors’ knowledge and skills development
program. In the year 2019, there was a director who attend the training as follows.
1. Mr. Opas Sripornkijkachorn attended
- DCP Series: 4/2019 - How to Develop a Winning Digital Strategy
- Chairman Forum 2019 - Successful Corporate Culture Change from Policy to Practices
- Audit Committee Forum 2019 - Strategic Audit Committee: Beyond Figure and Compliance Organized by Thai Institute of Director
Association (IOD).
2. Mr. Takayuki Tohei
- CFO Professional Development Program 5/2019, Thai Listed Companies Association ( TLCA )
- CFO Orientation course 2020, The Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET )

2.2 Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consisted of 3 directors from the Board whose fully qualified in accordance with the Public Company Act B.E. 2535
(1992) (and amendments), the Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 2535 (1992) (and amendments), the criteria under the Announcement of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, the Announcement of Capital Market Supervisory Board No. Tor.Jor. 39/2559, and other relevant of
Announcements of the Stock Exchange of Thailand. The term of Audit Committee will be same as the Company directors’ term. The Audit Committee

member is eligible for re-election. In the year 2019, the Audit Committee consisted of :

1. Mr. Suvat Suebsantikul Audit Committee Chairman
2. Mr. Opas Sripornkijkachorn Audit Committee Member
3. Mr. Kasemsak Masayavanich Audit Committee Member

Mr. Opas Sripornkijkachorn is the well-knowledged and experienced in auditing the Company’s financial statements.

In year 2019, the Audit Committee Meeting was held for 5 times, the details of the attendance are as following:-

1. Mr. Suvat Suebsantikul Attended the meeting for 5 times
2. Mr. Opas Sripornkijkachorn Attended the meeting for 5 times
3. Mr. Kasemsak Masayavanich Attended the meeting for 5 times

Authorities and responsibility of the Audit Committee

1. To review the Company’s financial reporting process to ensure that is accurate and adequate.

2. To review the Company’s internal control system and internal audit system to ensure that they are suitable and efficient, to determine
the internal audit office’s independence, as well as to approve the appointment, transfer and dismissal of the chief of the internal audit office or any
other unit in charge of the internal audit.

3. To review the Company’s compliance with the law on securities and exchange, the Stock exchange of Thailand regulations, the laws
relating to the Company’s business, including review compliance with any rules and policies which have stipulated.

4. To consider, select, nominate and dismissal an independent person to be the Company’s auditor, and to propose such person’s remu-
neration, as well as to attend a non-management meeting with an auditor at least once a year.

5. To review the Connected Transactions, or the transactions that may lead to conflicts of interests, follow up to the Stock Exchange of
Thailand regulations, as well as to ensure that their transactions are reasonable and highest benefit of the Company.

6. Report on progress of the Audit Committee’s operation frequently as deem appropriate.

7. To prepare and disclose in the Company’s annual report, an audit committee’s report which must be signed by the audit committee’s
chairman and consist of the following information:

7.1 The number of the audit committee meetings, and the attendance of such meetings by each committee member.
7.2 Opinion of audit committee as to the following,
1) The accuracy, completeness and creditability of the Company’s financial report.
2) The adequacy of the Company’s internal control system.
3) The compliance with the law on securities and exchange, the Stock Exchange of Thailand Regulations, or the laws relating to the
Company’s business
4) The suitability of an auditor.
5) The transactions that may lead to conflicts of interests.
6) An opinion or overview comment received by the audit committee from its performance
7) Other transactions which according to the audit committee’s opinion, should be known to the shareholders and general investors.
8. Other assignments as resolved by the Board of Directors.
The Company has an Internal Audit Office reports directly to the Audit Committee. The Internal Audit Office works independently in auditing

the operation of various departments. Furthermore, the Internal Audit duties are to inspect and review the accuracy and completeness of data
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including assessing an adequate and efficiency of the internal control systems. The Internal Audit Office will audit and monitor the procedures in
compliance with the objectives to achieve the efficient and effective Company’s operations. Mr. Pitoon Inuthai is the General Manager, who oversees
the Internal Audit Office.

2.3 Executive Board
The Company’s Executive Board is responsible for internal affair management and administration. The Executive Board has 8 persons as

the executive officer. (Please see 52)

Roles and responsibilities of the Executive Board
1. Administrate the Company’s affair to align with the Company’s policy by having clear specific scope of authority in writing in the
Schedule of Authority i.e. procurement, production and selling, accounting and finance and human resources according to plan or budget which is
approved by the Corporate Board of Directors with strict compliance, honesty and considering the best interest of the Company and shareholders.
2. Provide advice and suggestion to the President & CEO in decision making of the important issues relating to strategy and direction of
business operation, business plan, budget and resources allocation.

3. Initially consider the meeting agenda before proposal to the Corporate Board of Directors.

Segregation of the Chairman and the President & CEO Positions

The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall not be the Chief Executive Officer, in order to clearly segregate duties in setting corporate
policy and daily management. Schedules of Authorities for the Board of Directors is setting for approve on major and material matters. The Company
operating performance is reported to the Board of Directors Meetings, and the Board is able to review and question the operating performance and

the management.

2.4 Compliance Committee

The Compliance Committee is set up in accordance with the Compliance Program to act for considering the contents and monitoring the
application of the Code of Conduct & Ethics which is the fundamental policy covering and governing all business operation of the Company.

The Code of Conduct & Ethics shall apply to the Company, Directors and all employees; they shall strictly comply with the Code. The
practice of the Code is based on moral, ethics, and honest principle aiming for all employees to adhere the highest standard of ethic and prevent any
conduct which breach the law and the Company rules and regulations; thus, it will achieve the trustworthy of the shareholders and the investor. In
addition, this will promote the sustainability growth of the Company. The content of the Code is categorized in 3 chapters: Our Employees, Our
Business Conduct and Our Assets and Information. All employees have the duty to study and understand the contents, and shall apply it to any

business conduct including keep monitoring any business conduct to prevent any violation to the Code.

Compliance Committee is comprised of:

1. The President The Chairman of Compliance Committee
2. Executive Officers The Member of Compliance Committee
3. Head of Legal Office The Secretary of Compliance Committee

Roles and Responsibilities of the Compliance Committee

1. Plans the application and compliance of the Code of Conduct & Ethics in order to achieve the objective, and educate the Code to all
employees including considers and approves the plan of application and compliance of the Code that proposed by the related divisions.

2. Provides and monitors the emergency hotline for using in reporting and complaining any unlawful act or any misconduct to the
Company’s rules and regulations or any doubtful act.

3. Set up the investigation team as deemed fit to finding facts of the illegal acts or the misconduct to the Company’s rules and regulations,
and deliberate the punishment for those acts including find the appropriate measure to deal with the case, and also prevent occurrence of such case
in the future.

4. Educates and trains all employees to understand and acknowledge their duties and responsibilities under the Code of Conduct & Ethics.
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2.5 Risk Management Committee

The Board of Directors have concerned of business risks therefore they have appointed the Risk Management Committee to establish the
risk management policy for clear and proactive risk management systems which also support for effective decision making as well as reduce any
possible loss. Risk Management Committee has adopted standard principles of enterprise risk management widely applied in listed companies for

implementation in the Company.

Risk Management Committee comprises of the following:
1. Chief Executive Officer & President - Chairman of Risk Management Committee
2. Chief Financial Officer & Executive Vice President, Executive Officer & Senior Vice President - Members of Risk Management Committee

3. Head of Internal Audit Office — Secretary of Risk Management Committee

Roles and Responsibilities of the Risk Management Committee

1. Prescribe policies and suggest measures for the appropriate and efficient management of risks associated with the business operation
of the Company.

2. Prescribe risk management and procedures to cover the entire organization.

3. Review risks and their mitigation measures as evaluated by the risk owners, and provide recommendation for improvement.

4. Follow up and evaluate the performance in accordance with the organization-wide risk management framework, and regularly review risk
management policy.

5. Engage in any other duty as assigned by the Board of Directors.

Furthermore, Risk Management Committee has appointed the Risk Management Sub-Committee comprising of divisional heads of all

business units to proceed with risk management in divisional-level, with facilitation and support by Internal Audit Office.

3. Recruitment and nomination of director and executive officer

3.1 Director
Appointment and Dismissal of Director

According to the Company’s Article of Association, director shall be appointed by the shareholder meeting or the Corporate Board of
Directors meeting. The Company’s Board of Directors shall consist of at least 7 directors and at least half of which must have residence in the
Kingdom. The Board of Directors must have at least 2 Independent Directors and 1 Director from outside.

The Company’s Article of Association stipulates that the voting of directors shall be Cumulative Voting and the following rules and procedures
apply:

(1) Each shareholder shall have votes equal to the number of shares held multiplied by number of Directors to be elected.

(2) Each shareholder may exercise all the votes he or she has under (1) to elect one or several persons as directors. In the event of
electing several persons as directors, he may allot his votes to any such person at any number.

(8) Persons who gain the highest vote and the following order, equal to the number of directors to be appointed, shall be the Company’s
directors. If the number of the following orders of the same vote exceeding the number of directors to be appointed then the Chairman shall
a casting vote.

At each Annual General Meeting, all members of the Board of Directors shall vacate their office, and the meeting shall vote for the new
members of the Board of Directors according to the above mention voting. The Director retired on term may be re-elected. However, the former
Board of Directors shall remain in office to carry on the business of the Company only as necessary until the new Board of Directors assumes office.

In addition, directors shall vacate office upon death, resignation, loss of qualifications or disqualification under Section 68 of the Public
Company Act B.E. 2535 or unqualified according to the Securities and Exchange Act B.E 2535. For any vacancy in the Board of Directors as the
previous mention, the Company’s Article of Association stipulates that Board of Directors may select duly qualified person without disqualification
under Section 68 of the Public Company Act to replace the vacating director at the next board meeting except where the remaining term of office of
such director is less than two months. The person who becomes a director in place of the vacating director shall hold office only for the remaining
term of the director whom he/she replaces.

The Company’s Article of Association also states the mean of dismissal of director by having shareholders pass a resolution to remove any
director prior to his/her end of the term by a vote of not less than three-fourths of the number of shareholders attending the meeting and entitled to

vote and holding shares in an aggregate number of no less than half of the shares held by shareholders attending the meeting and entitled to vote.
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Nomination of Director

In case of vacancy of Director(s), either by resignation or by term, the Corporate Board of Directors will select person(s) who is qualified
without disqualification under the law, competent and suitable to fit the directorship and propose to the Corporate Board of Directors Meeting or
Shareholder Meeting as the case maybe stipulated in the Company’s Article of Association. The Company does not have the Nomination Committee
for selection of Director(s).

If selection of director(s) has been conducted, the Company by the Corporate Secretary shall provide the orientation to the new director(s)
with all information, rules and regulations related to the Company’s business including the duty under the rules and regulations of a director in a listed
company.

3.2 Independent Director

The independent director is not nominated by the Nomination Committee because the Company has no such a Committee. The nomination
process has been conducted by consent of the Corporate Board meeting by selecting a person whose qualifications meets the Public Company Act
B.E. 2535 (and amendments), the Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 2535 (1992) (and amendments) , the Announcement of Capital Market
Supervisory Board No. Tor.Jor. 39/2559 including the relevant of Announcement of the Securities and Exchange Commission and Announcement of
the Stock Exchange of Thailand.

3.3 Executive Board
Nomination of the Executive Board

The Corporate Board of Directors will nominate the President and the Executive Officers after the Annual General Meeting. The term of the
President and the Executive Officers is 1 year. The nominated Executive Officer is selected from the member of the Corporate Board of Directors,
Senior Vice President or an outside person who is competent and well-knowledgeable. In the event of vacancy of Executive Officer, the President
shall propose the nominated person to replace the vacancy to the Corporate Board of Directors for approval. The new Executive Officer shall serve
its term for the remaining period of the former Executive Officer whom he/she is replaced.

4. Supervision on operation of the subsidiary company and the associated company

The Company sent the representatives of the Company to hold the position of directors of the subsidiaries and the associated company for
supervision on operation of those subsidiaries and associated company in accordance with shareholding proportion. The representatives shall
participate in policy making and take part in significant decision regarding business operation. They also ensure that those subsidiaries and associ-
ated company comply with rules and regulation of the related regulators i.e. SEC and SET in regards to information disclosure, connected transaction,
acquisition and sale of asset etc. as the same compliance as the Company. In addition, accounting system of the subsidiaries and the associated
company shall comply with the same standard as the Company in order to be consolidated in the financial statement.

5. Internal information usage

The Company has stipulated policy in regards to internal information usage as the guideline to prevent any misuse of inside information
which is unjustified to the shareholders. This is to assure shareholders that directors, management, employees and any relevant insiders will not use
undisclosed inside information for their personal benefits.

5.1 The Company prepared the Compliance Program and the Code of Conduct & Ethics which contains topic of Information of the
Company and Insider Trading and distributed to directors, management and employees, and they shall provide signatory evidence for acknowledgment.
In this regard, the Company holds training of such topic for directors, management and employees. These people shall not use information which they
have acknowledged from working to seek for unlawful personal benefit.

5.2 Directors and Executives of the Company shall prepare the report on change of the Company’s securities held and submit it to the SEC
in accordance with Section 59 of Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 2535 and the directors and executives are prohibit to seek any benefit from
substantial information which have not yet disclosed publicly including buy and sell the Company’s securities. The directors and executives shall be
prohibited from buy and sell the Company’s securities within 30 days prior to disclosure to the public of financial statement including any substantial
information which may impact to the Company’s securities.

5.3 The Company subsidiaries shall also comply with the Compliance Program and the Code of Conduct as they have announced these
regulations as their internal regulation.
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6. Corporate Secretary

To comply with the Securities and Exchange Act, the Company appointed Mr. Photchara Wattanawinij to be a corporate secretary to take
care the Corporate Board of Directors meeting and the Executive Board meeting, prepare and maintain important documents including notice of the
Corporate Board of Directors meeting, Annual Report, notices of shareholders meeting, minutes of shareholders meeting and Report on Interest of
Directors and Executives, including providing advice on law, rules and regulations to support compliance of the Corporate Board of Directors and the
Executive Board.

Mr. Photchara Wattanawinij holds the law degree from Thammasart University and the University of Sydney, Australia. He passed the

training on Fundamental Practice for Corporate Secretary (FPCS) #23 held by the Company Secretary Club, Thai Listed Companies Association.

7. Remuneration of auditor

The Company’s auditor is Mr. Manoon Manusook, Certified Public Accountant No. 4292 (affixed his signature on the Company’s financial
statement from 2015 to 2019) and/or Mr. Mongkol Somphol, Certified Public Accountant No. 8444 (never affixed his signature on the Company’s
financial statement) and/or Mr. Choopong Surachutikarn, Certified Public Accountant No. 4325 (never affixed her signature on the Company’s financial
statement) of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Jaiyos Audit to be the auditors of the Company for the financial year 2019 with the following details of

remuneration:-

1 a1 & v o a
ﬂ'l@lammuvla'mslﬂgaaunmu%
Remuneration of the Auditor

dm3ul 2562 éuqﬂ ™ SWINAN 2562 / For The Year 2019, as of December 31,2019
(¥Wha8 : UIm) / (Unit : Baht)

fn
. A ABUUNY
\ AIWINT o 1
4 4 aw v e oa Aday 4 A9aeE
N ADUIWN NARUUY . au 3
v o U : Accrued
No. Company Auditor _ Non-Audit Total _
Audit Fee Audit/
Fee
Non-Audit
Fee
1 35 nadunSandl e (umaw) i faaen v sding lysse aaudnyd e | 2,350,000 - 2,350,000 | 1,184,000
Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited | Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Jaiyos Audit Co., Ltd.
2 | U3 1BNT aclns-adda din u3Em faeen v ladng lysse seudyd 41ia | 766,000 - 766,000 | 557,600
MC Agro-Chemicals Co., Ltd. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Jaiyos Audit Co., Ltd.
3 | v3Em wwla.dn. Aie 38N awmatyd W 1A e 41 132,000 - 132,000 60,000
N.L.M. Co., Ltd. United auditing PKF Limited.
4 | uSn naduniaed in (o) Myanmar Vigour & Associates Limited - 148,282* | 148,282 -
anngnefie
Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited
(Yangon Branch)
5 U39 7948 flaunng Tda Myanmar Vigour & Associates Limited 864,504 - 864,504 | 427,671
TCCC Myanmar Limited
3’;34%5% 4,112,504 | 148,282 4,260,786 | 2,229,271
Grand Total

WHENG ¢ AuInsdusasanndefe isudtasiunmstselyd wu drsssudlen andinsnengrang.

*

Remark : Non-Audit Fee of Yangon branch relate to liquidation such as tax clearance, fee, legal consultant.
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Corporate Social Responsibility : CSR is an important issue around the world that interested, particularly in the business sector who realizes
that the business operation will impact on society and environment unavoidably. Therefore CSR will become significant issue for all parties which are
not to build the good corporate image for business purposes or solve the problems in order to gain social recognition only. But at the present, CSR
is going to be very important issue and become the “Framework and Business Operation Method” to develop the efficacy of business operation, reduce
risk factors and enhance competitiveness, including develop value chain which leads to corporate sustainable development.

Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited strives to “The First Choice of Growers”. We aim to be a top priority choice of agriculturalists
by delivering excellent products and services that boost quality and productivity in farming, and emphasize to create values to stockholders by
participating in activities in order to improve the quality of life, society and environment. The company has prepared the CSR report to publicize the
CSR activities to public.

Vision

The first-choice of growers

“We aim to be a top priority choice of agriculturalists in Southeast Asia by delivering excellent products and services that boost quality and
productivity in farming.”

Mission

To accomplish the vision, the company has stipulated the mission as follows.

1. We Strive to Create Values

We are committed to bringing new values to farmers and agriculture, by providing superior quality products and services, continuously
invented and developed to increase farming productivity. Our services will spread over to farmers in ASEAN countries and be even diversified further
to enhance our value chain in agriculture industry.

2. We Develop our People

We are committed to growing our people, by providing learning opportunities and by creating a corporate culture where employees encourage
each other to grow together. We will keep evolving our organization to accommodate changes in business environment.

3. We Care for Society

We are committed to making environmental friendly and sustainable business processes as well as creating positive influences to society, by
integrating corporate citizenship and sustainable development concepts into our business practice.

Directions toward sustainability

“To create the quality of life for agriculturalists by delivering the values of sustainable agriculture” is the commitment of Thai Central Chemical
Public Company Limited that we prioritizes and adheres to do business.

To create the quality of life to agriculturalists are required many factors. On behalf of chemical fertilizer producer who rerated with agriculture
sector directly, the company has responsibility to produce the quality products and high standard of quality control, including research and develop
products continuously. As well as the company provides the advice on product application in order to increase productivity and efficiency to
agriculturalists, and deliver the valuable and safe agricultural products to our consumer. In addition, the company focuses on taking care of
community and environment that may be effected from our operation by pollution reduction, energy saving and development of community, society
and environment. These are interdependent between company and community which lead to sustainable development for the future.

Framework of the report

This CSR report has been prepared in accordance with the Guideline for Sustainability Report, the Stock Exchange of Thailand by using the
Integrated CSR Reporting Framework version 2, Thaipat Institute, as a framework. The material in the report covers only the activities of Thai Central
Chemical Public Company Limited which excludes its subsidiaries.

Nature of Business Operation
The company is a producer and distributor of high quality chemical fertilizer with production capacity of 1.2 million metric tons per year.
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Stakeholders

The stakeholders is the concerning person with the company activities in many aspects and may affect from operation of the company.
Therefore, the company shall take responsibility to control any activities for generating benefit and minimize any effect as much as possible. The
stakeholder, moreover, is the important part for strategic planning on sustainable growth. In particular, the company will assess the risk of such
activity and monitor any effect happening to the stakeholder including survey needs of the stakeholders, and then the company will plan the strategy,
policy or any guideline to address such affect.

The company categorizes the stakeholder of the company into groups as follows.

1. Staff; Staff performs activities of the company in accordance with the company’s policy. Benefit or effect, which will happen, is salary,
welfare, job promotion, seminar or training and workplace environment.

2. Shareholder and investor; Shareholder and Investor buy share(s) of the company; hence, they share interest with the company performance.
Benefit or effect which may happen is consideration in many forms, such as, dividend, profit, loss from the company performance and information
disclosed by the company.

3. Farmer; Farmer is a direct stakeholder by consuming the company’s product. Benefit or effect which may happen is quality of the product
and services, product information disclosure, non-disclosure of the customer information and after sale service.

4. Dealer; Dealer is one of the significant stakeholder in distribution of the good to the farmers. Benefit or effect, which will happen, is
commission from sales of goods, preparation and transportation of the goods to the dealer, marketing promotion and support, warranty in case
damage of goods.

5. Business partner and Supplier; They play an important role in supply chain i.e. supply raw material or provide services in any work or
project. Benefit or effect which may happen is price of the supply, auction of any project, knowhow or technology transferred.

6. Competitor; Competitor is a stakeholder in business competition. Benefit or effect which may happen is fair and legally trade or transparent
and ethical business operation.

7. Creditor; Creditor relates to the company as it has the right to claim against the company. Benefit or effect which may happen is timely
payment including any agreed consideration.

8. Community; Community relates to the company as it may obtain benefit or effect from the company’s production, such as, pollution,
employment in the community, distribution of local goods or community development.

Significant and focus issue for CSR

From analysis of the stakeholders considering the issue which is important to the stakeholders and the issue which is important to the
company, the company has specified the significant issues, after that the company has processed CSR activity focusing on the below issues.

- Quality control of the products

- Development of Environmental friendly production process

- Labor practice and human resource development

- Providing correct information of product application to agriculturalists

CSR in Process
Responsibility to Customer, Society and Environment

The company has compiled our CSR activities to customer, society and environment related on operation as below.

1. Quality Control of the Products

The company focuses on the quality and standard of production process to make customer’s satisfaction and confidence in company products
as “Pui Tem Suit”. The company believes that the good fertilizer will enhance quantity yield, increase the income and improve the quality of life for
agriculturalists.

- In production line, both plant sites have been certified ISO 9001 : 2015 Quality Management System for Manufacture of Fertilizer,
Manufacture of Plastic Bag and Co-Generation of Electricity Steam and Hot Water from Gas Engine. The company strictly examines the quality of
raw material and finishing goods by randomly examined for 3 stages. Firstly, the raw material will be randomly examined for quantity of nutrient before
going through production line. Secondly, the fertilizer will be examined nutrient content after it has been produced and transported to the warehouse.
Thirdly, before the fertilizer is packed, it will be examined the nutrient content again. In each stage of examination, the company’s staff will randomly
collect the sample every 15 minutes from the belt conveyor and once the staff gets 8 samples or every 2 hours, such samples will be sent to the
company’s laboratory for nutrient content analysis. If any sample does not meet the standard of quality, the fertilizer produced in such period will be
separated and will be sent to reproduction process. This quality control procedure is one of the highest standards of quality control systems in the
fertilizer industry.
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- The company set up the laboratory for analysis of fertilizer quality at Prapadaeng plant site and Nakhon Luang plant site which are the most
advance and highly efficient in nutrient content analysis. Both of the company’s laboratory have been certified ISO/IEC 17025: 2017 Laboratory for
fertilizer analysis from Department of Science Service, Ministry of Science and Technology. Hence, it can be assured that fertilizer examined by the
laboratory will meet standard of industrial quality. Furthermore, the company laboratory is now certified as the certified laboratory for fertilizer analysis
from Department of Agriculture, Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives. Any fertilizer traders can use the result of fertilizer analysis by the company’s
laboratory to register with Department of Agricultural for trading.

2. Development of Production Process

The company conducted the Internal Logistic Improvement at Nakhonluang plant site and Prapadaeng plant site, namely, transporting the
products to the warehouse and transporting the products to customers or dealers.

- For Nakhon Luang plant site, the company has improved the logistic system to facilitate for customer as “One Stop Service” with Palletizer
system and P-Sling which was controlled by the computer system. The improvement resulted decrease the customers’ pick-up time in the warehouse
by about 50%.

- For Prapadaeng plant site, the company has improved process of transporting the products to the warehouse and transporting the products
to the customers or dealers by installing P-Sling system, which is packing sack equipment for moving the products 2 metric ton per time. In addition,
the company has improved internal logistic system by management the parking point for loading process of goods, which increase internal
transportation efficiently. Both improvements resulted decrease the customers’ pick-up time in the warehouse by about 50%.

3. Environmental Preservation

- The company has built the Co-Generation Power Plant which generates electricity and heat at the same time at Prapadaeng plant site. The
electricity generated by the power plant will be consumed in the plant site internally and if there is excess of electricity, it will be sold to Metropolitan
Electricity Authority (“MEA”). Heat, produced by the exhaust gas of the power plant in addition to electricity, can be used in fertilizer production process.
Former days, heat was produced by separate gas firing boiler but the Co-Generation Power Plant can use such natural gas to produce both
electricity and heat. This project, therefore, promotes the company decrease of energy consumption, production cost saving and income generating
from sale of electricity to MEA. The operation of the power plant has begun since the end of 2013.

- The company has conducted Air Quality Control Project at Phrapradaeng plant site and Nakhon Luang plant site. Normally, in transportation
process of raw material or finishing good into the plant site, micro dust can be released and it may affect the nearby community and environment,
also it is loss of the company. In this project, the company has installed the dust protection equipment using Cyclone System to produce air
circulation and makes dust sink to the bottom. After installation of the equipment, the quality of air complies with the standard of industry. The
company has also installed additional dust protection equipment using Scrubber Tank System which can be able to trap dust with smaller size
(smaller than 20 Micron) by using water. Moreover, the company has installed the information board showing air quality at the jetty of Nakhon Luang
plant site for acknowledgement of nearby community in accordance with environmental governance principle. The air quality will be monitored every
day and the result will appear on the information board accordingly.

- The company has initiative Garbage Separation Project. The objective aims to motivate our employees to separate the garbage before
dump. The company will buy garbage which can recycle at the agreed price. After that, the recycling garbage will be sold to the purchaser of recycling
garbage. This will align with the campaign “Turn garbage into money” initiated by the company. The revenue from the purchase of garbage will be
circulated in the Project that is to buy garbage from staff again. In addition, the company has changed garbage containers to be appropriate and
enough for the quantity of garbage in the plant site. At Prapadaeng plant site, the result shows that there is 177 tons of recycling garbage sold to the
purchaser. At Nakhon Luang plant site the result shows that the general garbage by 80.10 tons or 28.61% of the normal quantity which decrease form
the last year. And the recycling garbage sold to the purchaser by 80.82 tons or decrease by 7.54% of the normal quantity when compared in year
2018, although the recycling garbage reduction that will occur from waste separation and waste reduction by 7R method, the company aim to
encourage staff to realize environmental issue.

- The company raised awareness of energy conservation and resource usage to staff in organization, held Save Energy Day 2019 at
Phrapradaeng Plant Site and opened the opportunity for every staff in each Division to arrange exhibition and show the result of energy reduction and
conservation which occurred from working process, including opened the opportunity for students in community to visit the exhibition. This activity is
the part of organization culture to build the environmental culture for staff.

- Furthermore, the company emphasizes production process which considering sustainable business development to reduce the
environmental and social impacts and both of plant sites have been certified ISO 14001:2015 Environmental Management System and ISO 45001:2018
Occupational Health & Safety Management System. Moreover TCCC have been certified as a Green Industry “Green Culture” Level 4 by Ministry of
Industry and the company is studying of upgrading to level 5 in the near future. The green industry project has been set up by the Ministry of Industry
that regulated 5 levels of “Green Industry” to evaluate the environmentally-friendly factories.
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4. Ethical Labor Practices

The company acknowledges safety of the company’s employee as priority; therefore, having announced Work Instruction to be a guideline
for working by having the safety standard not lower than the standard set by Department of Industrial Work. The company holds seminar on safety
issue periodically and invites an outside speaker to give a lecture. In addition, the company has collected the statistic of accident which occurred in
the plants including any injuries caused by work as the following details.

In 2019, there were 15 times of accidents occurred in the plant site. 10 employees and constructors were injured and took leave for 69 days.
Such incidents were calculated as Injury Frequency Rate (IFR) of 4.33 per one million hours, and Injury Severity Rate (ISR) of 29.90 per one million
hours.

At Prapadaeng plant site, 7 employees and constructors were injured and took leave for 69 days. Such incidents were calculated as
Injury Frequency Rate (IFR) of 8.69 per one million hours, and Injury Severity Rate (ISR) of 59.9 per one million hours.

« At Nakhon Luang plant site, 3 employees and constructors were injured and took leave for 0 days. Such incidents were calculated as
Injury Frequency Rate (IFR) of 2.59 per one million hours, and Injury Severity Rate (ISR) of 0 per one million hours.

In this matter, every morning before start working, a short period of 10 minutes will be reserved for a supervisor to perform Safety Talk with
their subordinates. The safety rules and other interesting matter will be briefed in this period. In working process, if there is any accident, investigation
will be preceded and it will be reported to the Safety Health and Environment Committee for improvement of safety measure (if any). Statistic of
injury caused by work will be also collected for improvement of safety standard of employee.

- The company initiated “White Factory Project” at Prapadaeng plant site and Nakhon Luang plant site which aims for a clean workplace from
narcotic. With cooperation from the police and the Department of Administration officer, the company randomly tested employee’s urine without prior
notice. If the result shows that any employee has narcotic in his/her body, the company will not immediately punish him/her. Such employee will be
sent to the hospital for rehabilitation program. There will be several session of discussion with a therapist, medicine treatment and regular urine test
until completion of the program. After that, such employee will be randomly tested in accordance with the project schedule. If the result still be the
same, the company will terminate employment of such employee. Nevertheless, from statistic showed all employees who completed rehabilitation
program passed the random urine test in every case. At present, no employee found narcotic in the urine test anymore.

- The company attended “Happy PVD Company” Project with objective of financial stability to retried employees by encouraging our
employee to save money in company’s provident fund and motivating them save fully rate of benefit. The company always educates all employees
through many channels and activities in order to motivate employee’s awareness of saving for retirement goals and choose appropriate investment
program.

- The company gives priority to human resource development. The company believes that the company could sustainably grow; the
employee shall be the quality and professional persons. In this regard, the company rendered the policy to develop the employees’ skills in related
areas through the training both in fundamental skills and specific profession skills such as management, accounting and finance, information
technology, creating motivation for increase efficiency of work, professional presentation skills, problem solving and analysis techniques, including
safety at workplace, in total of more than 140 courses. The training course was designated to suit the necessity for developing the man powers’ skills
and the company’s strategies. Furthermore, the company opened for the employees to provide opinions toward such trainings in order to design the
most suitable course to meet requirement and desire of the employees and the company. Training statistic could be summarized as follows. The
number of employees, who attended the training, was 86.37% of all employees. The total hours of trainings were 10,612.45 hours, or 20.18 hours per
person per year in average. The training expense per person per year amounted to THB 7,232.26.

- In 2019, the company initiated the “Brand Ambassador Project batch #1” by the Brand Ambassador group to participate various activities
such as training about products and services, visiting dealers, sub dealers and farmers. The objectives are to drive employees and build leaning
process, make understanding about chemical fertilizer business and realize Thai Farmer needs, in order to apply information to develop the quality
products and services which are able to meet the customer needs and company vision “The First Choice of Grower” in the future.

5. Providing Information to Farmers

- The company arranges the farmer meeting average every month through the year to provide the farmer knowledge relating agriculture in
various topics. The meeting will be co-arranged by the dealer, university, private sector and government agencies which will be responsible for finding
the venue of the meeting and inviting the participants from 50-500 persons per session. The meeting will be arranged in different areas covering all
parts of Thailand. The topic in the meeting will cover agricultural knowledge, such as, how to grow plants, soil fertility, treatment for plant decease,
chemical fertilizer usage and etc.

- The company conducts the Demonstrating Plot Project which gives chance to the agriculturist to actually try plantation of rice, maize, fruit,
para rubber, cassava and vegetables. The Demonstrating Plot is able to present the products to framers by correct method for using the suitable
fertilizer formula, show the comparison of old way of plantation which has been conducted previously. The company will select the leading
agriculturist who is interested in the project and he/she shall allocate some area to be the demonstrating plot. Then he/she shall use the company’
fertilizer with the demonstrating plot following advice of the company in 4 matters which are right formula, right time, right ration and right method.
From the result, 100% of the participants agree that production yield of the demonstrating plot which follows instruction of the company and use the
company’s fertilizer has been increasing quantity and quality of productivity.
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- The company quarterly publishes “Puen Tae Kasetkorn Thai” (True Friend of Thai Agriculturist) Magazine distributed to agriculturist,
governmental unit, dealer and any person who is interested in for free of charge and it also can be downloaded from the company website. The
content in the magazine will relate to agriculture in various aspects, such as, the King’s advice on agriculture, plantation of various plants, protection
of plant decease, soil improvement etc. written by academic, agricultural expertise or the company staff. It also publishes details of much research in
relation to appropriate fertilizer formula for each plants conducted by the company. In addition, there is a column of agricultural question answering
which give chance to the agriculturist to ask the question and the company will have the expertise answer it accordingly.

- The company enhances children of the farmers to learn about knowledge by various projects, such as, Edible Garden Project having the
objective to educate the children on preliminary agriculture knowledge regarding vegetable growing and how to use fertilizer correctly starting from
seed selection, application of fertilizer and harvesting. The company hopes that the young generation shall be able to apply knowledge from this
project to their plantation at home. This project also enhances the children to have discipline, cooperation, and most importantly, they shall have fresh
and safe vegetable grown for eating. In this year, the company built the demonstration plot “The Edible Vegetable Garden” for Wat Samruan School
and Watlay School (Thawepanya) at Nakhon Luang District in Ayutthaya Province, For the results of this project, the students are able to understand
the cultivation and usage of chemical fertilizer correctly, including apply the knowledge which company educated to their demonstration plot and
achievement. Moreover, they can also generate an income from surplus products which each schools use as a fund to continue the project, as well
as reduce cost of raw materials for luncheon in the school. In the future, the company will expand this project to many schools in the region.

6. Innovation and distribution of innovation obtaining from CSR compliance

For the best interest of the agriculturist in usage of chemical fertilizer, the company cooperates with various leading educational institutes to
conduct research in order to search for the appropriate fertilizer formulas with different economic crops. The agriculturist is also encouraged to use
the outcome of research for their plantation. The examples of research are as follows.

Research Project Cooperating with

1. Comparison of Off-season Longan Growth and Productivity with | Maejo University in Chiang Mai Province

various fertilizer formulas on 3 year

2. Comparison of Maize Growth and Productivity with different Chiang Mai University in Chiang Mai Province

fertilizer rates on 3" year

3. Growth of Celery and Chinese Cabbage with various fertilizer Kasetsart University, Kamphaeng Saen Campus in Nakhon
formulas Pathom Province

4. Efficacy Test of fertilizer paper bag for slow release in oil palm, Cooperating with farmer plot in

para rubber and fruit tree Phitsanulok, Chumphon and Surat Thani Province

Anyhow, the company is sponsor for all expenditures in conducting the research. The outcome of research has been publicized for the
agriculturist, fertilizer traders and any persons who are interested in by publishing in Puen Tae Kasetkorn Thai Magazine and in the seminar or

meeting with the farmer.

CSR after Process

Furthermore, the company held the projects and activities for social and environment benefits as follows.

1. The Projects for Social Benefits

- Scholarships for farmers’ children

The company initiated policy to support and encourage farmers’ children who have an excellent academic record but financial limitation. Then,
in the future, they become a decent and qualified person to the society. In addition, this activity will create positive perception and impression of the
trademark “OX-Brand” to the farmers including good image of the company. In this matter, the company has arranged scholarships for farmers’
children who are studying in the primary school and the secondary school and have an excellent academic result but financial limitation. The
scholarship will be granted via schools in the northern part and northeast part of Thailand. For last year, the company had funded scholarship for THB
800,000.
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- A-Math Genius Project

In addition, the company also held A-Math Genius Project which educated mathematic to children to enjoy practice and logical thinking by
our employees who attended the training course as trainer for primary students. In this year, the company held this activity in community nearby
Nakhon Luang plant site.

- The Project of Rice Camp by Thai Rice Foundation under the Royal Patronage

The company supported “Youth Farmers: The Future of Thai Rice” Rice Camp project in the Central region held by Thai Rice Foundation
under the Royal Patronage. The objectives of the project are to educate and support the new generation farmers who have high potential to do
sustainable agriculture, aim to build learning process in agricultural and technology for increasing product quality corresponds to market demand,
which TCCC continues to support this project every year.

- The Project to support NPK compound fertilizer for community services.

The company supported NPK compound fertilizer to many organizations to increase productivity for society, community and public benefits,
such as the rural school and Thai Red Cross (Ratchagarun Center) which used for tree planting activity on Mother’s Day every year.

- The Project to support the public activities with community

To make the company operation be successful, the company need the co-operation and support from nearby community. In this year, the
company supported and joined the recreation activities with community such as Kathin Ceremony and Phapa Ceremony (offering of robes and other
needs to monks), the annual Children’s Day and the big cleaning day nearby plant site area.

- The Voluntory Project to develop local community

In addition, the company focuses on community development nearby plant site. In this year the company held The Development Voluntary
Project at Wat Koo Sang Child Development Center, 43 Moo 9 Pak Khlong Bang Pla Kot, Phra Samut Chedi in Samut Prakan Province. The
objectives are to improve the quality of life in safety, occupational health and environment, prevent risks of all kinds. The employees and technicians
conducted this activity such as installation of water filter, installation of rain gutters, installation of sun-proof and water-proof awnings, electrical repairs
and light, landscape improvement, painted building and campaign to raise awareness of waste separation.

2. The Project for Environmental Benefits

- The Weir Project

The company focuses on the natural water resources for agriculturists which held the Weir Project for environmental restoration and water
resource conservation to the ecology, save the water resources for Thai Farmer, prevent flood in rainy season and save water in dry season. In this
year, the company held “2™ Year TCCC Weir Project” at Samlan Waterfall National Park in Saraburi Province. On this activity, the experts and
officers of Samlan Waterfall National Park provided the knowledge and guidelines to construct the weirs correctly.

- The Project of Mangrove Reforestation

The project of mangrove reforestation is the prioritized activity of the company. In this year, the company held “2™ Year LuiLane Sangruk
Pakkra Project, planted 1,500 mangrove trees at Ban Laem Sing (Chulachomklao Fort), Samut Prakan Province. The objectives are environmental
restoration and conservation to save the habitation of plants species, aquatic animal and terrestrial animal. In addition, mangrove forest will protect
tidal waves, coastal soil erosion and prevent wind speed or storm which make severe damage for resident and village nearby mangrove forest.
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Supported the project “Youth Farmer : the Future of Thai Rice” Granted scholarship to Visssukham, Ministry of Commerce
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Gave chemical fertilizer to Ratchagarun Center under the Thai “Jeatedl uazsinamsing
Red Cross Society Welcomed farmers to visit fertilizer production process and

seminar “Chemical Fertilizer and Nutrients of Rice”
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Continued “The Edible Vegetable Garden Project Season 3"

Opened Nakhon Luang Plant Site held National Children’s Day
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Connected Transactions

During 2019, the Company and/or its subsidiaries entered into the connected transaction(s) with the connected persons and/or juristic persons

who may have conflict of interest with the Company and its subsidiaries. The Auditor has specified the connected transactions in Notes of the 2019

Financial Statements as of 31 December 2019. Details are as follows.

1. Connected Transaction of the Company

Corporation (Atlas)

i Necessity/
Connected Person Transactions Amount (Baht)
Reason
1. TCCC Myanmar 1. The Company sold chemical fertilizer to 156,427,870 The price is at the market rate
Limited (TCCCM) TCCCM for its business which is import and
distributing in Myanmar
2. The company received the royalty fee from 602,660* The fee calculated by the quantity of
trademark licensing the product sold under the trademark
at the rate of USD 1 per 1 Ton
3. The Company received the service fee from 1,177,542* The service fee rate is at the
TCCCM on providing technical service market rate
4. The Company received interest from TCCCM 22,957* The interest rate is LIBOR + 1%
which is in accordance with the
market rate
5. The Company received guarantee fee from 727,362* The guarantee fee rate is 1% per
TCCCM on loan guarantee and price of goods annum of quarterly average credit
guarantee amount or the goods purchased
amount
2. N.ILM Co., Ltd (NIM) 1. The Company let partial area in Phrapradaeng 13,229,310 The rental rate is the market rate
Plant Site to NIM to be a location of chemical tank appraised by the independent
and to be jetty for transportation by ship appraisal firm
2. The Company provides service in relation to 1,098,470 The service rates are in accordance
chemical storage tank i.e. electricity and water with the actual rate charged by
electricity and water provider
3. MC Agro-Chemical 1. The Company receives royalty fee from 30,374 The fee calculated by the quantity of
Co., Ltd. (MC Agro) trademark licensing the product sold under the trademark
at the rate of THB 0.04 per 1 liter or
1 kilogram
4. Metro Systems 1. The Company obtained the maintenance 2,226,600 The fee charged at the rate that
Corporation Public services of the back-up system for the company the provider charges from the
Company Limited (Metro | information from Metro Systems ordinary customers
Systems)
5. Atlas Fertilizer 1. The Company sold chemical fertilizer to Atlas 4,549,578 The price is at the market rate

* The transaction amount between the Company and TCCCM is in accordance with the exchange rate at the transaction happened date.
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2. Connected Transaction of N.I.M. Co., Ltd (NIM) which is the Company’s subsidiary

Necessity/
Connected Person Transactions Amount (Baht) .
Reason
1. Sojitz Corporation 1. Sojitz used storage service of NIM 3,690,425 The fee charged at the rate that
Group the provider charges from the
ordinary customers
2. Metro Systems 1. NIM obtained the maintenance services of the 222,000 The fee charged at the rate that
Corporation Public back-up system for the company information from the provider charges from the
Company Limited (Metro | Metro Systems ordinary customers
Systems)

3. Connected Transaction of MC Agro-Chemical Co., Ltd. (MC Agro) which is the Company’s subsidiary

; Necessity/
Connected Person Transactions Amount (Baht)
Reason
1. Sojitz Corporation 1. MC Agro purchases agro-chemical from Sojitz 9,622,067 The purchase price is at the
Group Group for many transactions during the year market rate
Details of Connected Person
Name Business Relationship

1. Sojitz Corporation (Sojitz)

Produce, import, export and
distribute goods in various
industries, such as, machine,
energy, mineral, chemical products
and consumer goods

Major shareholder of the Company at 43.92% shareholding of the paid
up capital

2. TCCC Myanmar Limited
(TCCCM)

Import and distribute chemical
fertilizer in Myanmar

The Company'’s subsidiary with the Company’s 99.99 shareholding

of paid up capital and has the same directors which is Mr. Yoshihiro
Tamura and the Company’s Executives, Mr. Ko Tojima, holds directorship
of TCCCM

3. N.LM Co., Ltd (NIM)

Rental service of chemical storage
tank

Subsidiary of the Company with the Company’s 51% of shareholding of
the paid up capital and has the same director as the Company which

is Mr. Yoshihiro Tamura and the Company’s Executives, Mr. Somruk
Likitcharoenphan and Mr. Ryosuke Hori, hold directorship of NIM.

4. MC Ago-Chemical Co., Ltd.
(MC Agro)

Contain, mix and sell Agro-Chemical
products

The Company’s subsidiary with the Company’s 99.99 shareholding

of paid up capital and has the same directors which are Mr. Yoshihiro
Tamura, Mr. Takayuki Tohei and the Company’s Executives, Mrs. Montha
Kasadesinchai and Mr. Ryosuke Hori, hold directorship of MC Agro

5. Sojitz Corporation Group
(Sojitz Group)

Sojitz Group shall mean Sojitz Corporation which is a major shareholder
of the Company with 43.92% shareholding of the paid up capital including
Companies in its group

6. Metro Systems
Corporation Public Company
Limited (Metro Systems)

Computer system service provider

The Company and Metro Systems share the same director namely
Mr. Suvij Suvaruchiporn

7. Atlas Fertilizer
Corporation

Produce and distribute chemical
fertilizer in the Philippines

The major shareholder is Sojitz Corporation which is the same as the
Company
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Connected Transactions

Conditions and prices policy

The aforesaid connected transactions are transactions which happened between the Company, its subsidiaries and the related companies
under normal business and general trade condition. The prices policy and loan rate can be bargained according to the market condition and, as well,
can be compared with prices and interest rate as using with outside persons. In case there is no reference of prices or rates, the Company will
compared prices of goods and services with outside prices in the same or similar condition or use prices from an independent assessor to compare

with in a crucial connected transaction.
Necessity and reasonability of connected transaction

The aforesaid connected transactions which happened between the Company including its subsidiaries and connected companies are under
normal business and general trade conditions. Benefit which arises to the Company is confidence in quality of raw material and consistency of raw
material procurement. In addition, the Company enjoys convenient and speedy services from expertise in such service field. For guarantee, the main
purpose is to increase agility of the Company’s operation. All transactions are made for maximum interest of the Company.

Measure or procedure in approval of connected transaction

In approval of entering into connected transaction, schedule of authority for each procedure has been specified clearly. There shall be
approval from the Shareholder’s Meeting or the Board of Directors or the Executive Board for specified amount of transaction and this will be revised
regularly to ensure agility of operation. Moreover, the sufficient internal audit system is initiated to ensure that there is no leak of benefit or corruption.

In case there is the connected transaction in the future with conflicting person, the Company shall comply with measure and procedure
according to notification and order of the Securities Exchange Commission, the Capital Market Supervisory Board and the Stock Exchange of Thailand
strictly including proposal to the Board of Directors and/or shareholders by consideration of the Audit Committee. A director who has interest and/or
director who is a related person shall not attend the meeting and shall have no right to vote in such transaction. In addition, the Company shall conduct
accordingly in case there shall be information disclosure in related person transaction and obtaining or selling of important asset of the Company or
its subsidiaries according to accounting standard specified by The Institute of Certified Accountants of Thailand. Measure and procedure in approval
of connected transaction shall be conducted based on principle of necessity and reasonability including maximum of the Company’s interest.

In addition, the Audit Committee shall verify the connected transaction in order to check and protect conflict of interest. The Company shall
disclose connected transaction in Notes to the audited Financial Statement.

Policy or trend of entering into Connected Transaction in the future
Trend for entering into transaction happening between the Company including its subsidiaries and related company in the future shall be still
in accordance with the normal business and general trade condition. However, if there is a connected transaction happening with the persons who

may have conflict of interest or have interest and/or with related persons, the Company shall comply with measures and procedures specified by the
Securities Exchange Commission, the Capital Market Supervisory Board and the Stock Exchange of Thailand.
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1. Internal Control

Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited has paid attention to continuous improvements of the internal control system in order
to support a good corporate governance and in accordance with operations and changes that always affect fertilizer business. The Company
focuses on value creation through control systems to increase effectiveness in operations, utilization of resources and assets, financial
information report, as well as compliance with the laws and regulations. The Company’s internal control system is designed as follows:

1.1 Governing Structure of Internal Control System

The Board of Directors has assigned the Audit Committee to review the Company’s internal control, corporate governance, compliance
with related laws and regulations, conflicts of interests, connected transactions, asset utilization, fraud or misconduct. The Audit Committee
reports to the Board of Directors regarding sufficiency and appropriateness of the internal control system evaluated by Internal Audit Office on
at least once a quarter. This responsibility also includes a review of the independence of the internal audit function.

1.2 Internal Control Process

The Company has structured the Internal Audit Office independently and directly reports to the Audit Committee. This is to ensure
that the Company’s internal control system remains active and efficient, The Internal Audit Office has duties to perform audit engagements to
assess and monitor the Company’s activities mainly planned as the risk-based audit planning approach approved by the Audit Committee.
Audit results are reported directly to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis, and also communicated to the Company’s management for
acknowledgement and correction of audit issues. The follow-up reports regarding the status of pending audit issues are also periodically
presented to the Audit Committee.

During the year 2019, the Internal Audit Office had reviewed certain internal controls of the Company and subsidiaries, followed-up on
improvements according to the recommendations, under the annual audit plan, and reported audit results and follow-up as recommendation
mutually agreed on a quarterly basis.

1.3 The Board of Directors’ opinion toward the Company’s internal audit

The Board of Directors had quarterly meetings to acknowledge internal audit results through the report of the Audit Committee, with
the management answering questions and ordering to appropriately improve internal control systems regularly consistent with changes in the
business.

In summary, the assessment results of internal audit in the year 2019 that reported to the Board of Directors by the Audit Committee,
the Board of Directors is in views that the Company’s internal controls has been implemented adequately and appropriately for the business
operation.

1.4 Opinion of Independent Certified Public Accountants

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Jaiyos Audit Co., Ltd., as the independent certified public accountant, has audited the Company’s financial
statements as of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019. The independent auditors conducted their audit in accordance with the auditing
standard and the ethical responsibilities, including planning and working on audit in order to obtain a reasonable assurance that financial
statements are free from material misstatement. Their audit methods are under the auditors’ discretion, including the risk assessment on the
preparation of financial statements with material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In such risk assessment, the independent
auditors consider internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effective of the Company’s internal controls.

Based on the independent auditors’ review, there were no significant deficiencies in internal control that would result in material
misstatement, and the independent auditors did not issue any observation about the Company’s internal controls.
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Internal Control and Risk Management

2. Risk Management

Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited is aware of risk management and aims to continuously develop risk management
culture throughout the organization in order to handle with uncertainty and dynamic changes as well as reduce risk likelihoods and risk impacts.
The Company has adopted a standard risk management methodology consistent with Enterprise Risk Management: Integrated Framework of
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) to implement through the risk management policy,
objectives, framework, and structure in all levels from the Board of Director, management, and administration. In practice, risk management
has been communicated and promoted through several channels such as training, announcement, meetings, etc.

The Board of Directors has appointed the Risk Management Committee comprising of executives form all business groups to formulate
the policy, strategy, and criteria of risk management, as well as to provide an assurance that major business risks are regularly identified,
assessed, and having efficiency control measures. Furthermore, the Company has formulated the Risk Management Sub-Committee to
operate risk management process in divisional level to be in line with the acceptable risk level.

Regarding the raw material procurement, production, and sales of product which are the Company’s core activities associated with
market risks, the Company has weekly meetings to closely monitor changes in market and economic situations, under the direction approved

by the management.

Boards’ opinion toward the Company’s risk management

The Board of Directors and the Executive Board are in opinion that such risk management tools and mechanism could be effectively
implemented in the Company. The Risk Management Committee has identified and prioritized key risk factors in the year 2019 to be
consistent with the business directions and objectives, as well as associated risks from local and/or international situations.

3. Head of Internal Audit Office

The Audit Committee considered and proposed to the Management to appoint Mr. Phaitoon Inuthai as General Manager of Internal
Audit Office of the Company since 1 October 2007. His roles and responsibilities are to govern and supervise internal auditors in monitoring
and evaluating the internal audit procedure of the Company and its subsidiaries to ensure the business operation would be effectively
conducted and appropriately served to the business nature.

The Audit Committee deemed appropriate that Mr. Phaitoon Inuthai is well-educated and have enough experience in the internal audit
field. In particular, he has been in the internal audit function of the Company for more than 18 years (as of 2019). Moreover, he had been
trained with internal audit standards and related business administration. Therefore, he is qualified to take the aforementioned roles and
responsibilities.

Recruitment, dismiss and remove a person in capacity of General Manager of Internal Audit Office is under the discretion and

approval of the Audit Committee.
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Report of the Audit Committee for the Year 2019

Dear Shareholders,
The Audit Committee of Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited has been appointed by the Board of Directors and comprised of three
independent directors as follows:

1. Mr. Suvat Suebsantikul Chairman of the Audit Committee
2. Mr. Opas Sripornkijkachorn Member of the Audit Committee
3. Mr. Kasemsak Masayavanich Member of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has full expertise and has been considered by the Company to meet all qualifications according to the requirements of the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET).

The Audit Committee has duties and responsibilities in consistent with announcements of SEC and SET in order for the Company to have a good
corporate governance, efficient and effective internal controls, and readiness of risk management to mitigate potential risks that may have
material effects to business. In 2019, the Audit Committee held a total of five meetings with independent auditors and the Company’s management, one
of those was arranged without presence of the Company’s management. The following is a summary of opinions and key activities that we undertook:

1. Reviews of Financial Reports

The Audit Committee reviewed quarterly and annually financial statements of Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited and the
consolidated financial statements including connected transactions or transactions that would be conflicts of interests. Independent auditors, relevant
management, accounting division, and internal audit office were attended these review sessions to give clarification and respond to questions pertinent
to their accuracy and completeness, carefulness, reasonability, and transparency. This is to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in
accordance with accounting principles and Thai Financial Reporting Standards.

The Audit Committee was in opinion that the Company’s and its consolidated financial statements ended December 31, 2019 presented fairly in
all material respects in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards, and the Company provided sufficient information disclosure on the notes to
the financial statements and connected transactions involving possible conflicts of interests among relevant stakeholders.

2. Reviews of Internal Control System

To ensure that the Company’s internal controls are sufficient to support business operation, the Audit Committee has quarterly reviewed the
Company’s internal control system through the internal audit engagement and follow-up audit reports for reasonable assurance of operational, financial,
and compliance controls under the laws and the Company’s rules and regulations.

Based on the reviews of internal controls in 2019, the Audit Committee mutually viewed that the Company’s management perceived importance
of internal control systems and put efforts to improve the systems according to internal and external changes of business environment. In addition,
internal auditors’ comments and suggestions during the year have been followed-up by the management to rectify those deficiencies in a reasonable
timeframe.

3. Oversight of Internal Audit and Risk Management

The Audit Committee has governed Internal Audit Office to have an independent and effective internal auditing with standard practices. The
annual audit plan and results of audit engagement have been reviewed on a quarterly basis. Furthermore, audit issues that may have significant effect
to the business performance and financial reports are discussed and followed up on remediation actions in order to promote good corporate governance
and to ensure that the Company has adequate internal controls. Besides, the Audit Committee has monitored the process of enterprise risk management
under COSO—ERM framework responsible by the Risk Management Committee as assigned by the Board of Directors to ensure that the Company has
formulated effective plans to manage strategic risks that would have material impacts to the Company’s performance.

4. Appointment of the Independent Auditors

The Audit Committee has reviewed qualifications of the audit firm and the auditors together with their previous service performance, and hereby

proposed the following auditors of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Jaiyous Audit Company Ltd. to be independent auditors of the Company in 2020:

1. Mr. Manoon Manusook, Certified Public Accountant No. 4292; and/or
2. Ms. Pensri Thamvarodom, Certified Public Accountant No. 4923; and/or
3. Mr. Mongkol Somphol, Certified Public Accountant No. 8444

In this regard, the Board of Directors has agreed on such appointment with the proposed audit fee in order to propose for further approval in the 2020
shareholder meeting.

For and on behalf of the Audit Committee

N =

(Mr. Suvat Suebsantikul)
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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(3,665,512) (9,162,355)

(10,153,694)

(5,779,321)

(19,341,228)

4,227,000
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(184,908,356)
(2,011,157)
(8,794,662)

(4,101,321)
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(150,868,491)
(5,004,670)
(13,286,008)

290,000

1,652,722,932

(242,846,444)

1,801,163,000

(441,530,738)

1,602,429,002

(232,219,151)

1,851,437,553

(429,043,390)

1,409,876,488
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1,370,209,851

1,422,394,163

(2,500,127,642) 797,940,582 (2,500,000,000) 800,000,000
(136,502,943) (221,995,724) (122,895,485) (162,778,413)
5,493,766 8,521,616 2,733,000 5,991,194
- (139,239) - -
- - 21,124,976 18,387,440
66,195,510 59,819,273 64,296,183 57,191,639
(2,564,941,309) 644,146,508  (2,534,741,326) 718,791,860
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Report of The Independent Certified Public
Accountants

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS
THAI CENTRAL CHEMICAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Thai Central Chemical Public
Company Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the separate financial statements
of Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited (the “Company”), which comprise the
consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019, and
the related consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income, changes in
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the aforementioned consolidated and separate financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Thai Central Chemical Public
Company Limited and its subsidiaries and of Thai Central Chemical Public Company
Limited as at December 31, 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRSs”).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing (“TSAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Federation of Accounting Professions’
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants together with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and
separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matter

Key Audit Responses

Revenue recognition

As described in Note 15 to the financial statements, sales
of fertilizer under the fertilizer notes are recorded as
“deferred sales” and it will be reclassified as “advance
received from customers” upon receiving payments
from customers. Revenue from sales will be recognized
when the Company delivers fertilizer to customers.

Our key audit procedures included:
e Understanding and assessing the appropriateness

of the Company’s revenue recognition accounting
policies and compliance with TFRSs.

Evaluating the Company’s design and implementation
of controls and testing the operating effectiveness of

Therefore, there is a risk that sale transactions recorded
during the year did not yet occur and revenue from sales
are not recorded in the proper period at year end.

such controls over recording of sales during the
year and the revenue recognition as of year end.

e Performing substantive analytical procedures on
revenue.

o Performing substantive tests of details of sales
balance with the related supporting documents.

e Testing sales transactions occurring near the
end of accounting period with the related
supporting documents.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
information in the annual report, which is expected to be made available to us after the date
of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified above when it becomes available
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein,
we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and the
management of the Company.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
and separate financial statements in accordance with TFRSs, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and
separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
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In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, management is responsible
for assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and
separate financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with TSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with TSAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concermn basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and the Company to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and

separate financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the

entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

M it

Manoon Manusook
Certified Public Accountant (Thailand)
BANGKOK Registration No. 4292
February 24,2020 DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU JAIYOS AUDIT CO., LTD.
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THAI CENTRAL CHEMICAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019

TOTAL ASSETS

UNIT : BAHT
Notes CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2019 2018 2019 2018
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 3,507,122,939 5,516,734,014 3,399,178,817 5,443,612,405
Current investments 5 2,675,452,137 175,324,495 2,500,000,000 -
Trade and other current receivables 6 559,126,178 419,238,653 579,800,706 425,672,594
Inventories 7 and 15 1,755,554,746 2,347,286,103 1,539,087,665 2,110,633,429
Other current assets 588,646 447,271 525,900 394,875
Total Current Assets 8,497,844,646 8,459,030,536 8,018,593,088 7,980,313,303
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investment in an associate 25.1.1 136,568,733 136,247,216 98,000,000 98,000,000
Investments in subsidiaries 25.12 - - 552,854,981 552,854,981
Investment properties 8 and 30 29,212,697 25,810,280 39,527,022 36,124,605
Property, plant and equipment 9 and 30 1,702,143,081 1,836,019,586 1,453,818,296 1,556,689,198
Leasehold right 10 73,095,093 80,508,466 - -
Intangible asset 11 546,453,480 547,255,886 545,900,757 545,900,757
Deferred tax assets 12 39,983,199 36,561,545 33,622,760 31,898,209
Other non-current assets 6,632,439 5,919,186 5,354,589 4,001,501
Total Non-current Assets 2,534,088,722 2,668,322,165 2,729,078,405 2,825,469,251

11,031,933,368

11,127,352,701

10,747,671,493

10,805,782,554

Notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these statements
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THAI CENTRAL CHEMICAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019
UNIT : BAHT

Notes CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2019 2018 2019 2018
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings

from financial institutions 13 90,986,317 35,332,981 - -
Trade and other current payables 14 541,375,905 728,569,005 470,629,482 662,790,665
Current portion of liabilities under

finance lease agreements 16 3,809,517 5,424,023 1,177,068 2,556,382
Current income tax payable 131,481,026 125,993,206 127,872,129 123,279,777
Current provision for

employee benefit 17 19,519,679 12,293,544 11,610,600 7,762,812
Other current liabilities 23,618,790 28,161,951 11,707,997 14,907,782

Total Current Liabilities 810,791,234 935,774,710 622,997,276 811,297,418
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Liabilities under finance lease agreements 16 3,010,455 4,532,355 574,499 1,751,405
Deferred tax liabilities 12 116,608,579 116,608,579 109,180,151 109,180,151
Non-current provision for employee benefit 17 153,837,968 123,634,686 130,833,946 105,105,834
Other non-current liabilities 14,293,120 20,072,441 11,734,120 15,835,441
Total Non-current Liabilities 287,750,122 264,848,061 252,322,716 231,872,831

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,098,541,356 1,200,622,771 875,319,992 1,043,170,249
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THAI CENTRAL CHEMICAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019

UNIT : BAHT

Notes

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(CONTINUED)
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
SHARE CAPITAL
Authorized share capital
584,716,118 ordinary shares of Baht 3 each
Issued and paid-up share capital
584,714,068 ordinary shares of Baht 3 each,

fully paid

SHARE DISCOUNT ON ORDINARY SHARES 21

RETAINED EARNINGS
Appropriated
Legal reserve 23
Unappropriated
OTHER COMPONENTS
OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
TOTAL ATTRIBUTIONS TO OWNERS
OF THE PARENT
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2019

1,754,148,354

2018

1,754,148,354

SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2019

1,754,148,354

2018

1,754,148,354

1,754,142,204

(43,570,340)

175,414,835
8,015,149,709

(59,662,780)

1,754,142,204

(43,570,340)

175,414,835
7,984,498,731

(37,489,572)

1,754,142,204

(43,570,340)

175,414,835
7,986,364,802

1,754,142,204

(43,570,340)

175,414,835
7,876,625,606

9,841,473,628
91,918,384

9,832,995,858
93,734,072

9,872,351,501

9,762,612,305

9,933,392,012

9,926,729,930

9,872,351,501

9,762,612,305

11,031,933,368

11,127,352,701

10,747,671,493

10,805,782,554

Notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these statements
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THAI CENTRAL CHEMICAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

UNIT : BAHT
Notes CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2019 2018 2019 2018

Revenues from sales 8,680,885,312 10,205,274,049 8,283,402,584 9,920,142,563
Revenues from services 133,707,059 116,783,350 - -
Costs of the sales of goods (6,975,417,101)  (7,989,679,684)  (6,629,453,769)  (7,769,859,204)
Costs of the rendering of services (48,159,347) (46,669,951) - -
Gross profit 1,791,015,923 2,285,707,764 1,653,948,815 2,150,283,359
Other income 19 106,378,257 135,417,169 136,769,557 166,753,820
Profit before expenses 1,897,394,180 2,421,124,933 1,790,718,372 2,317,037,179
Selling expenses (354,297,237) (350,609,524) (295,777,691) (299,085,955)
Administrative expenses (313,613,887) (328,618,806) (219,989,575) (229,620,330)
Managements’ remuneration 25.2.2 (36,530,711) (36,208,779) (36,008,711) (35,836,779)
Total Expenses (704,441,835) (715,437,109) (551,775,977) (564,543,064)
Profit before finance costs and

income tax expense 1,192,952,345 1,705,687,824 1,238,942,395 1,752,494,115
Finance costs (5,207,362) (2,018,354) (326,969) (564,347)
Share of profit from investment in an associate 25.1.1 321,517 285,587 - -
PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1,188,066,500 1,703,955,057 1,238,615,426 1,751,929,768
Income tax expense 12 (248,687,105) (354,411,018) (238,430,587) (342,758,955)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
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939,379,395

1,349,544,039

1,000,184,839

1,409,170,813




THAI CENTRAL CHEMICAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

UNIT : BAHT

Notes

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Component of other comprehensive income
that will be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
Exchange differences on translation of
financial statements of foreign subsidiary
Components of other comprehensive income
that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
Gains (losses) on remeasurements of
defined benefit plans 17
Income tax relating to component of
other comprehensive income that will not be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 12
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
FOR THE YEAR-NET OF INCOME TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
Owners of parent

Non-controlling interests

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
Owners of parent

Non-controlling interests

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE BAHT

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER
OF ORDINARY SHARES SHARES

CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2019 2018 2019 2018
(22,173,208) (3,723,574) - -
(18,872,474) 3,112,577 (16,718,176) 4,562,180

3,774,495 (622,515) 3,343,635 (912,436)
(37,271,187) (1,233,512) (13,374,541) 3,649,744

902,108,208 1,348,310,527 986,810,298 1,412,820,557
922,293,694 1,331,139,455 - -
17,085,701 18,404,584 - .
939,379,395 1,349,544,039 - -
885,548,872 1,330,185,107 - -
16,559,336 18,125,420 - -
902,108,208 1,348,310,527 - -

1.58 2.8 1.71 2.41

584,714,068 584,714,068 584,714,068 584,714,068

Notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these statements
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

THAI CENTRAL CHEMICAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
UNIT : BAHT
CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE

Profit before income tax expense
Adjusted by

184

Doubtful accounts (reversal)

Reversal of loss for diminution in value of inventories

Reversal of loss for diminution in value of
investment property

Depreciation

Amortization - Leasehold right

Amortization - Intangible assets

Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment

Loss on write off property, plant and equipment

Employee benefit obligations expense

Share of profit from investment in an associate

Unrealized (gain) loss on exchange rate

Dividend income

Interest income

Interest expenses

Profit from operations before change in operating

assets and liabilities

(Increase) decrease in trade and other current receivables

(Increase) decrease in inventories

(Increase) decrease in other current assets

(Increase) decrease in other non-current assets

Decrease in trade and other current payables

Decrease in other current liabilities

Cash paid for provision for employee benefit

Increase (decrease) in other non-current liabilities
Cash received from operations

Cash paid for income tax

Net cash provided by operating activities

sngviulds=91U 2562

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2019

1,188,066,500

115,637
(1,554,670)

(3,402,417)
251,396,633
1,705,605
731,658
(1,411,395)
28,710,637
(321,517)
(351,839)
(71,406,577)
5,207,362

2018

1,703,955,057

(6,341,186)
(5,340,188)

225,129,654
1,775,261
436,331
(4,936,314)
3,618,340
27,413,593
(285,587)
3,417,402
(57,608,905)
1,506,356

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2019

1,238,615,426

155,137
(1,554,670)

(3,402,417)
215,155,142

573,240
21,652,386
(645,329)
(21,124,976)
(68,776,945)
326,969

2018

1,751,929,768

(6,269,585)
(5,070,613)

194,472,133
(2,868,399)
24,736,385

2,763,053
(18,387,440)
(55,371,780)

301,175

1,397,485,617
(135,381,325)
593,286,027
(141,375)
(713,253)
(182,214,232)
(3,665,512)
(10,153,694)
(5,779,321)

1,892,739,814
378,872,894
(299,889,850)
141,072
96,573
(146,520,920)
(9,162,355)
(19,341,228)
4,227,000

1,380,973,963
(150,345,786)
573,100,434
(131,025)
(1,353,088)
(184,908,356)
(2,011,157)
(8,794,662)
(4,101,321)

1,886,234,697
303,112,696
(169,958,259)
121,026
796,562
(150,868,491)
(5,004,670)
(13,286,008)
290,000

1,652,722,932
(242,846,444)

1,801,163,000
(441,530,738)

1,602,429,002
(232,219,151)

1,851,437,553
(429,043,390)

1,409,876,488

1,359,632,262

1,370,209,851

1,422,394,163




THAI CENTRAL CHEMICAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

UNIT : BAHT

Note

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
(Increase) decrease in temporary investments
Cash payments for purchase property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Cash payments for purchase intangible assets
Dividend received from subsidiaries
Interest received

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from bank overdrafts
and short-term borrowings from financial institutions
Cash payments for liabilities under
finance lease agreements
Interest paid
Dividend paid
Dividends paid - subsidiaries

Net cash used in financing activities

Exchange rate differences

on translation of financial statements

of foreign subsidiary
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1,

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, 4.1

CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2019 2018 2019 2018
(2,500,127,642) 797,940,582 (2,500,000,000) 800,000,000
(136,502,943)  (221,995,724)  (122,895.485)  (162,778,413)
5,493,766 8,521,616 2,733,000 5,991,194
- (139,239) - -
y y 21,124,976 18,387,440
66,195,510 59,819,273 64,296,183 57,191,639
(2,564,941,309) 644,146,508 (2,534,741,326) 718,791,860
55,719,676 26,364,644 - -
(6,743,306) (7,995,415) (2,556,220) (4,204,738)
(5,836,323) (1,506,356) (326,969) (301,175)
(877,018,924)  (1,169,330,659)  (877,018,924)  (1,169,330,659)
(18,375,024) (12,862,560) - -

(852,253,901)

(1,165,330,346)

(879,902,113)

(1,173,836,572)

(2,292,353) (1,644,678) - -
(2,009,611,075) 836,803,746 (2,044,433,588) 967,349,451
5,516,734,014  4,679.930,268 5443612405  4,476,262,954

3,507,122,939

5,516,734,014

3,399,178,817

5,443,612,405

Notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these statements
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THAI CENTRAL CHEMICAL PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

1. OPERATIONS AND GENERAL INFORMATION
1.1 The operation of the Company

Thai Central Chemical Public Company Limited (the “Company”) is a listed company
in The Stock Exchange of Thailand with its head office located at 21/35-46 Thai
Wah Tower 1, 14-16th Floor, South Sathorn Road, Thungmahamek, Sathorn, Bangkok.
The Company is a manufacturer, importer, exporter and distributor of various chemical
fertilizer compound. The major shareholders of the Company are Sojitz Corporation
holding 43.92% and ISTS (Thailand) Co., Ltd. holding 39.53%.

The major principal business operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”’) are summarized as follows:

1.2 The operations of subsidiaries

1.2.1 N.LLM. Company Limited was registered in Thailand with its office located at
205 Metro Building, 8th Floor, Rajawongse Road, Bangkok. The company’s
main business is to lease out tank yard for containing liquid chemicals.

1.2.2 MC Agro-Chemicals Company Limited was registered in Thailand with its
office located at 581 Moo 4, Bangpoo Industrial Estate Soi 12, Sukhumvit
Road, Samutprakarn. The company’s main business is to manufacture,
import and distribute agricultural chemicals.

1.2.3 TCCC Myanmar Limited was registered in the republic of the union of
Myanmar with its office located at Lot No. C-15 & C-18 Thilawa SEZ zone A,
Yangon Region, the republic of the union of Myanmar. The Company’s
main business is to be a producer, importer and distribute various chemical
fertilizer compound.

2. BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND
SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 The Group and the Company maintain its accounting records in Thai Baht and
prepares its statutory financial statements in the Thai language in conformity with
Thai Financial Reporting Standards and General Accepted Accounting Principal in
Thailand.

2.2 The Group’s and the Company’s financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Thai Accounting Standard (“TAS”) No. 1 (Revised 2018)
“Presentation of Financial Statements”, which was effective for financial periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2019 onward, and the Regulation of The Stock
Exchange of Thailand (SET) dated October 2, 2017, regarding “the preparation
and submission of financial statements and reports for the financial position and
results of operations of the listed companies B.E. 25607, and the Notification of
the Department of Business Development regarding “The Brief Particulars in the
Financial Statements (No.2) B.E. 2559 dated October 11, 2016.
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The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention
except as disclosed in the significant accounting policies.

Thai Financial Reporting Standards affecting the presentation and disclosure in the
current period financial statements.

2.4.1) During the year, the Group and the Company has adopted the revised and
new financial reporting standards issued by the Federation of Accounting
Professions which become effective for fiscal years beginning on or after
January 1, 2019. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment
with the corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards, with
most of the changes directed towards revision of wording and terminology,
and provision of interpretations and accounting guidance to users of standards,
except the revenue recognition under the Thai Financial Reporting Standard
No. 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” that requires the Group and
the Company to recognize revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer. This new accounting
policy superseded the previous accounting policy regarding revenue
recognition. However, the adoption of this financial reporting standard does
not have any significant impact on the Group’s and the Company’s financial
statements.

2.4.2) Thai Financial Reporting Standards announced in the Royal Gazette but
not yet effective

The Federation of Accounting Professions has issued the Notification
regarding Thai Accounting Standards, Thai Financial Reporting Standard
and Thai Financial Reporting Standard Interpretation, which have been
announced in the Royal Gazette and will be effective for the financial
statements for the period beginning on or after January 1, 2020 onwards, as
follows:

Group of Financial Instruments Standards

Thai Accounting Standards (“TAS”)
TAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

Thai Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”)
TFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
TFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Thai Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations (“TFRIC”)
TFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
TFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with

Equity Instruments
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These group of Standards make stipulations relating to the classification of
financial instruments and their measurement at fair value or amortized
cost; taking into account the type of instrument, the characteristics of the
contractual cash flows and the Company’s business model, the calculation
of impairment using the expected credit loss method, and the concept of
hedge accounting. These include stipulations regarding the presentation
and disclosure of financial instruments. These Standards will supersede
the Standards and Interpretations relating to the financial instruments upon
its effective date.

The Group’s and the Company’s management has assessed the impact of
these Financial Instruments Standards and believed that it will not have
any material impact on the financial statements of the Group and the
Company in the period of initial application.

Thai Financial Reporting Standards No. 16 “Leases”

This TFRS provides a comprehensive model for the identification if lease
arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements of both lessees
and lessors.

This TFRS will supersede the following lease Standards and Interpretations
upon its effective date, which are Thai Accounting Standard No.17
“Leases”, Thai Accounting Standard Interpretation No.15 “Operating Lease
- Incentives”, Thai Accounting Standard Interpretation No.27 “Evaluating
the Substance of Transactions involving the Legal Form of a Lease” and
Thai Financial Reporting Standard Interpretation No.4 “Determining
whether on Arrangement contains a Lease”.

For lessee accounting, there are significant changes to lease accounting in
this TFRS by removing the distinction between operating and finance leases
under TAS 17 and requiring a lessee to recognize a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability at commencement for all leases, except for short-term- leases
and leases of low value assets. However, the lessor accounting treatment
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or
a finance lease, using the same concept as TAS 17.

The Group’s and Company’s management has assessed the impact of this
TFRS and believed that it will not have any material impact on the
financial statements of the Group and the Company in the period of initial
application.

Thai Financial Reporting Standards (Revised 2019)

46 numbers of Thai Accounting Standards, Thai Financial Reporting
Standards, Thai Accounting Standards Interpretation and Thai Financial
Reporting Standards Interpretation (Revised 2019) have been announced in
the Royal Gazette on September 24, 2019 without material change in key
concept, which will be effective for the financial statements for the period
beginning on or after January 1, 2020 onwards.
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The Group’s and the Company’s management will adopt such TFRS in
the preparation of the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements
when it becomes effective. The Group’s and the Company’s management
considered that such TFRS does not have material impacts on the Group’s
and the Company’s financial statements in the period of initial application.

2.5 The consolidated financial statements include the account balances of the Company
and its subsidiaries, after eliminating intercompany transactions and balances for the
years ended December 31, The Company’s holdings in subsidiaries are as follows:

2019 2018
% holding % holding
N.LLM. Company Limited 51.00 51.00
MC Agro-Chemicals Company Limited 99.99 99.99
TCCC Myanmar Limited 99.99 99.99

2.6 The consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared in English version
from the consolidated and separate financial statements followed the laws which is in
Thai. In the event of any conflict or be interpreted in two different languages, the Thai
version consolidated and separate financial statements in accordance with Thailand
law will be superseded.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared under the measurement basis of historical
cost except as disclosed in the significant accounting policies as follows:

3.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are cash on hand, deposits at banks’ savings accounts and
current accounts, and short-term highly liquid investments with maturities within
three months from the date of acquisition, excluding cash at banks used as collateral
(if any).

3.2 Current investments

Current investments consist of time deposits at banks with original maturities later
than 3 months but not later than 1 year which are stated at cost.

3.3 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are presented at original invoice amount less allowance for
doubtful account based on a review of all outstanding amounts which are
uncollectible at the statement of financial position date. Such estimated losses are
based on the Group’s and the Company’s collection experience.

The amount of the allowance for doubtful account, is the difference between the
carrying amount of the trade receivable and the amount expected to be collectible.

Bad debts which are identified during the year are recognized as expense in the
statement of comprehensive income.
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3.5

3.6

3.7

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined on
a weighted average method. Except for a subsidiary, MC Agro-Chemicals Company
Limited, which cost is determined on a first-in, first-out method. If the inventories of
such subsidiary have been determined on the same basis as that of the parent company,
the difference would not be materially affected to the consolidated financial statements.

Net realizable value is the estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs necessary to make sale. Allowance is made by the
Group and the Company, where necessary, for obsolete and slow-moving
inventories (if any).

Investments in an associate and subsidiaries

Investments in an associate and subsidiaries are presented by the cost method for the
separate financial statements.

Investment in an associate is presented by the equity method for the consolidated
financial statements.

If impairment in value of investment has occurred, the resultant loss on investment
in all classifications is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income immediately.

Investment properties

Investment properties consist of land held to earn rentals and non-operating land
which are stated at cost less allowance for impairment.

The Group and the Company test impairment of investment properties and
allowance for impairment has to be made by comparing the fair value which is
determined by an independent appraiser who has been approved by the Office of the
Securities and Exchange Commission (Thailand) using comparative market price
method to assess the value of land held to earn rentals and non-operating land.

Property, plant and equipment

Land is stated at cost. Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and allowance for impairment of assets (if any).

Depreciation is calculated by reference to their costs on the straight-line method,
based on the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Land improvement 10 years
Buildings 20 years
Machinery and equipment 5-20 years
Furniture and office equipment 3-20 years
Vehicles 5-10 years

Dismantling, moving and renovating assets location cost in which the Group and the
Company obligate when receiving such asset. The Group and the Company
recognize them at the cost of assets and depreciated them.
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3.8
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3.10

In case of impairment in value of property, plant and equipment has occurred, the
resultant loss on impairment is recognized by the Group and the Company as
expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

Leasehold right

Leasehold right consists of leasehold right for land in the Republic of the union of
Myanmar, which is stated at cost less accumulated amortization.

Amortization of leasehold right for land is calculated by using the straight-line
method over the lease periods as follow:

Leasehold right for land 48 years
Impairment

The carrying amounts of the assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amounts of asset is estimated.

The Group and the Company recognize impairment loss when the recoverable
amount of an asset is lower than its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s fair value less cost to sell and its value in use. The Group and
the Company determine the value by estimating the present value of future cash
flows generated by the asset, discounted using a pre-tax discount rate which reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the
asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is
used. The calculation reflects the amount that the Group and the Company could
obtain from the disposal of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between
knowledgeable, willing parties, after deducting the costs of disposal.

The Group and the Company recognize an impairment loss as expense in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Reversal of an impairment loss

The Group and the Company will reverse impairment loss of asset (if any), which
had been recognized in the prior periods, if there is an indicator for impairment may
no longer exist or may have decreased which the recoverable amount must be
estimated.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with definite life consist of right and license for other operations
which are stated at cost less accumulated amortization.

Amortization is calculated by reference to their costs on the straight-line method,
based on the estimated useful lives of the assets over the period of 5 - 10 years.

Intangible asset with indefinite life consists of right for use of trademarks is stated at
cost, net of allowance for impairment (if any) which tested for impairment annually
and allowance for impairment (if any) will be made and recorded as expense in
the statement of comprehensive income.
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3.11

3.12

3.13

The Group and the Company test for impairment of intangible assets annually and
allowance for impairment has to be made (if any). The Group and the Company
engages an independent appraiser to determine the fair value of the right to use the
trademarks in accordance with the Notification of the Stock Exchange Commission
dated April 30, 2004 regarding the opinion for accounting treatment for intangible assets
by using the Discounted Cash Flow Approach.

Provision for employee benefit

Provision for employee benefit is the provision for benefit obligation for employees
who are entitled to receive it upon retirement under the Thai Labor Protection Act.
The provision is assessed by an independent actuary and based on actuarial
assumptions using Projected Unit Credit Method to determine the present value of
cash flows of employee benefit to be paid in the future. Under this method, the
determination is based on actuarial calculations which include the employee’s salaries,
turnover rate, mortality rate, years of service, discount rate and compensation increase.

Foreign currency transactions

3.12.1 Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at rates
of exchange prevailing at the transaction dates. All balances of monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies and forward exchange contracts at the end of
reporting period are converted into Baht at the reference exchange rates
established by the Bank of Thailand on that date.

Gains or losses on foreign exchange rate are recognized as an income or
expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

3.12.2 The Group and the Company enter into forward exchange contracts in asset
and liability management activities to control exposure of the fluctuation in
foreign exchange rates.

Gains or losses on contracts designated as hedges of existing assets and
liabilities are recognized as an income or expense in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Premium or discount on forward exchange contracts are deferred and
amortized over the lives of the related contracts as an income or expense in
the statement of comprehensive income.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from sales is recognized when the Group and the Company have
transferred the control of the goods to the customer.

Revenue from services is recognized when the Group and the Company have
satisfied a performance obligation in the contract.

Interest income and rental income are recognized as income on an accrual basis.
Dividend income is recognized as income when dividend is declared.

Other income is recognized as income on an accrual basis.
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3.14

3.15

3.16

Lease agreement
Operating lease

Lease in which substantially all the risk and reward of ownership of assets remains with
the lessor is accounted for as operating lease. Rentals applicable to such operating lease
are charged as expense to the statement of comprehensive income over the lease term.

Finance lease

Lease in which substantially all the risk and reward of ownership, other than legal
title is transferred to the Group and the Company are accounted for as a finance
lease. The Group and the Company capitalized the leased asset at the lower of
estimated present value of the underlying lease payments or at the fair value of the
leased asset at the contractual date. The leased asset is depreciated using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives. Interest or financial charge is
calculated by the effective interest rate method over the term of contract. Interest or
financial charge and depreciation are recognized as expenses in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Provident Fund
The contribution for employee provident fund is recorded as expense when incurred.
Taxation

Tax expense comprises the sum amount of current tax in respect of the current year
and deferred tax.

3.16.1 Current income tax

Current income tax represents tax currently payable which is based on
taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other periods and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s and
Company’s current income tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Foreign subsidiary applied the tax rate of each country for calculating
corporate income tax expense and deferred income tax.

3.16.2 Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit (tax base).
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary
differences, and deferred tax assets are generally recognized for temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those temporary differences can be utilized.
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3.17

3.18

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed by the Group and the
Company at each of the end of reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Any such reduction shall be
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by the Group and the
Company at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
asset is recognized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off the current tax asset against current tax liabilities
and the Group and the Company intend to settle such current tax liability and
asset on a net basis or intends to recognize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing net profit for the year which
attributed to the Company’s shareholders (excluded other comprehensive income)
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the
reporting period. In case of a capital increase, the number of shares is weighted
average according to time of registration of issued and paid-up share capital.

Fair value measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group and the Company take into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. The fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in the financial statements is determined on such a basis, except
for leasing transactions that are within the scope of TAS 17 (Revised 2018), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realizable value in TAS 2 (Revised 2018) or value in use in TAS 36 (Revised 2018).

In addition, fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirely, which are
described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.

- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1,
which are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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3.19 Accounting estimated and source of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Thai Financial Reporting
Standards also requires the management of the Group and the Company to exercise
judgments in order to determine the accounting policies, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expense during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based
on management’s reasonable consideration of current events, actual results may differ

from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized prospectively.

4. SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOWS INFORMATION

4.1

4.2

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, consist of the following:

Cash on hand

Bank deposits in savings and
current accounts

Cheque on hand

Time deposits with maturity
not more than 3 months
(interest rates 1.13 - 1.50% p.a.)

1,953,136,148

1,550,002,016

Consolidated
Financial Statements
2019 2018
1,076,237 1,088,186

2,291,919,733

2,908,538 3,724,079

3,220,002,016

Unit : Baht
Separate

Financial Statements
2019 2018

560,000 641,365
1,848,616,801  2,221,978,524
- 990,500

1,550,002,016  3,220,002,016

3,507,122,939

5,516,734,014

3,399,178,817  5,443,612,405

Purchases of property, plant and equipment for the years ended December 31, are as

follows:

Payables-Assets acquisition
brought forward
Add Purchases of fixed assets
Less Purchases of fixed assets
under finance lease
agreements
Less Cash payments
Payables - Assets acquisition
carried forward

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
13,054,307 33,785,219 13,054,307 18,077,294
135,704,837 203,573,472 115,590,480 158,138,486
(3,606,900) (2,308,660) - (383,060)
(136,502,943)  (221,995,724) (122,895,485)  (162,778,413)
8,649,301 13,054,307 5,749,302 13,054,307
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Unit : Baht

Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Liabilities under finance lease
agreements (including current
portion)
Balance brought forward 9,956,378 15,643,133 4,307,787 8,129,465
Add Purchases of fixed assets
under finance lease
agreements 3,606,900 2,308,660 - 383,060
Less Cash payments (6,743,306) (7,995,415) (2,556,220) (4,204,738)
Balance carried forward 6,819,972 9,956,378 1,751,567 4,307,787

4.3
institutions for the year ended December 31, are as follows:

The cash flows from bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings from financial

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings from 35,332,981 9,460,963
financial institutions as at January 1, - -
Add Cash received 55,719,676 26,364,644 - -
Less Unrealized loss on foreign exchange rate (66,340) (492,626) - -
Bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings from
financial institutions as at Decmber 31, 90,986,317 35,332,981 - -
5. CURRENT INVESTMENTS
Current investments as at December 31, consist of the following:
Unit : Baht
Maturity Interest rate Consolidated
Date (percentage per annum) Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Time deposits at banks Maturity date over
3 months but less than 1 year 1 -1.75 1-1.53 2,675,452,137 175,324,495

Maturity Interest rate
Date (percentage per annum)
2019 2018 2019 2018
Time deposits at banks Maturity date over
3 months but less than 1 year 1.50-1.75 -

Separate
Financial Statements
2019 2018

2,500,000,000 -
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6.

TRADE AND OTHER CURRENT RECEIVABLES

6.1 Trade and other current receivables as at December 31, consist of the following:
Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Trade receivables 499,156,471 345,204,938 527,842,987 359,562,438
Other receivables 4,563,176 11,147,592 5,562,849 12,469,832
Prepaid expenses 43,668,929 47,161,160 36,011,805 38,703,003
Accrued income 11,517,968 5,970,000 10,383,065 5,570,024
Advance payments 219,634 471,516 - 83,850
Advance payment for bidding - 9,283,447 - 9,283,447
559,126,178 419,238,653 579,800,706 425,672,594
6.2  Trade receivables as at December 31, are classified by aging as follows:
Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Number of trade receivables 341 349 165 135
Other companies
Current 452,184,894 335,514,814 418,390,945 277,643,779
Overdue
Less than or up to 3 months 48,191,907 13,704,851 45,616,309 12,880,620
More than 3 months up to 6 months - 144,000 - -
More than 6 months up to 12 months - - - -
More than 12 months 23,317,419 24,647,107 22,428,325 23,718,513
523,694,220 374,010,772 486,436,079 314,242,912
Related companies
Current 4,518,688 134,966 69,574,251 62,875,318
Overdue
Less than or up to 3 months - - - 10,456,414
4,518,688 134,966 69,574,251 73,331,732
528,212,908 374,145,738 556,010,330 387,574,644
Less Allowance for doubtful
accounts (29,056,437) (28,940,800) (28,167,343) (28,012,206)

499,156,471 345,204,938 527,842,987 359,562,438
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INVENTORIES

Inventories as at December 31, consist of the following:

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Finished products 737,054,202 799,825,990 536,713,936 606,891,684
Work in process 10,486,150 47,576,954 14,745,244 23,901,807
Raw materials 849,378,524  1,233,957,109 846,810,181 1,231,289,184
Supplies 64,017,585 65,509,855 53,193,167 54,711,439
Goods in transit 95,230,798 202,583,378 88,237,650 196,006,498

1,756,167,259  2,349,453,286  1,539,700,178 2,112,800,612
Less Allowance for diminution
in value of inventories (612,513) (2,167,183) (612,513) (2,167,183)
1,755,554,746  2,347,286,103  1,539,087,665 2,110,633,429

Costs of inventories recognized as cost of the sales of goods in the consolidated financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are Baht 6,976.97 million and
Baht 7,994.75 million, respectively.

Costs of inventories recognized as cost of the sales of goods in the separate financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are Baht 6,631.01 million and
Baht 7,774.93 million, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, cost of inventories of the Company and its
subsidiaries recognized the reversal of loss on diminution in value of inventories of
Baht (1.55) million and Baht (5.34) million, respectively, as costs of the sales of goods in the
consolidated financial statements.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, cost of inventories of the Company
recognized the reversal loss diminution in value of inventories of Baht (1.55) million and
Baht (5.07) million, respectively, as costs of the sales of goods in the separate financial
statements.

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, inventories in the consolidated financial statement
included inventories which were under obligation that the Company and a subsidiary have to
delivery of fertilizer to the holders of the delivery orders (the “fertilizer notes”) which have been
issued by the Company and a subsidiary to their customers of Baht 184.96 million and
Baht 254.83 million, respectively (see Note 15).

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, inventories in the separate financial statement included
inventories which were under obligation that the Company has to delivery of fertilizer to
the holders of the fertilizer notes which have been issued by the company to its customers of
Baht 171.77 million and Baht 240.15 million, respectively (see Note 15).
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Investment properties are as follows:

Consolidated Financial Statements

As at December 31, 2019
Unit : Baht
Balances as at  Increases Decreases  Balances as at
January 1, December 31,
2019 2019
Cost :
Land 29,212,697 - - 29,212,697
Less Allowance for impairment (3,402,417) - 3,402,417 -
Investment properties 25,810,280 29,212,697
Fair value __ 89,590,250 __ 57,297,000
As at December 31, 2018
Unit : Baht
Balances as at Increases Decreases  Balances as at
January 1, December 31,
2018 2018
Cost :
Land 29,212,697 - - 29,212,697
Less Allowance for impairment (3,402,417) - - (3,402,417)
Investment properties 25,810,280 25,810,280
Fair value __ 89,590,250 __ 89,590,250
Separate Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2019
Unit : Baht
Balances as at  Increases Decreases  Balances as at
January 1, December 31,
2019 2019
Cost :
Land 39,527,022 - - 39,527,022
Less Allowance for impairment (3,402,417) - 3,402,417 -
Investment properties 36,124,605 39,527,022
Fair value 425,002,217 392,708,967
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Separate Financial Statements (Continued)

As at December 31, 2018

Unit : Baht

Balances as at Increases Decreases  Balances as at

January 1, December 31,

2018 2018
Cost :

Land 39,527,022 - - 39,527,022
Less Allowance for impairment (3,402,417) - - (3,402,417)

Investment properties 36,124,605 36,124,605
Fair value _ 425022217 _ 425,002,217

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, investment properties in the consolidate financial
statements represent non-operating land.

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, investment properties in the separate financial
statements represent land that is leased to a related party and non-operating land.

The fair value of investment properties is determined by an independent appraiser who
has been approved by the Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission (Thailand).

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment, consist of the following:

Consolidated Financial Statements

As at December 31, 2019

Unit : Baht
Balances as at Increases Decreases Transfer in/ Exchange Balances as at
January 1, (out) differences December 31,
2019 on translation 2019
of financial
statements of
foreign
subsidiary
Cost :
Land 293,349,876 - - - - 293,349,876
Land improvements 159,375,378 - (185,952) 1,331,645 (1,726,981) 158,794,090
Buildings 1,892,720,385 1,944,483 (127,759) (1,728,955) (8,286,929)  1,884,521,225
Machinery and equipment 2,368,053,530 9,046,724 (50,883,338) 52,635,724 (3,772,491)  2,375,080,149
Furniture and office equipment 427,210,427 9,216,061 (8,986,245) 20,860,888 (2,478,507) 445,822,624
Vehicles 179,844,083 6,971,433 (15,609,108) 6,567,660 (300,260) 177,473,808
Total cost 5,320,553,679 27,178,701 (75,792,402) 79,666,962 (16,565,168)  5,335,041,772
Accumulated depreciation :
Land improvements (74,036,464) (5,639,934) 1,896 (394,959) 125,265 (79,944,196)
Buildings (1,416,082,443)  (43,872,678) 46,585 780,427 888,204  (1,458,239,905)
Machinery and equipment (1,672,074,446) (139,964,383) 50,113,379 (163,978) 575,126 (1,761,514,302)
Furniture and office equipment (261,968,046)  (45,017,916) 8,105,643 (221,490) 825,305 (298,276,504)
Vehicles (123,985,581)  (16,901,722) 13,473,557 - 48,931 (127,364,815)
Total accumulated depreciation (3,548,146,980) (251,396,633) 71,741,060 - 2,462,831  (3,725,339,722)
Building under construction and
equipment under installation 63,612,887 108,526,136 (31,030)  (79,666,962) - 92,441,031
Property, plant and equipment 1,836,019,586 1,702,143,081
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Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

As at December 31, 2018
Unit : Baht
Balances as at Increases Decreases Transfer in/ Exchange Balances as at
January 1, (out) differences December 31,
2018 on translation 2018
of financial
statements of
foreign
subsidiary
Cost :
Land 293,349,876 - - - - 293,349,876
Land improvements 77,884,837 68,238 (137,176) 81,614,458 (54,979) 159,375,378
Buildings 1,915,568,913 - (4,573,437)  (17,221,836) (1,053,255)  1,892,720,385
Machinery and equipment 2,139,831,420 17,840,897 (34,749,799) 245,252,639 (121,627)  2,368,053,530
Furniture and office equipment 360,176,943 14,787,213 (2,269,451) 54,626,697 (110,975) 427,210,427
Vehicles 177,951,985 8,442,561 (13,147,084) 6,606,539 (9,918) 179,844,083
Total cost 4,964,763,974 41,138,909 (54,876,947) 370,878,497 (1,350,754)  5,320,553,679
Accumulated depreciation :
Land improvements (72,178,143) (1,863,170) 3,458 - 1,391 (74,036,464)
Buildings (1,365,107,341)  (55,430,313) 4,432,186 - 23,025  (1,416,082,443)
Machinery and equipment (1,594,079,014) (112,236,870) 34,230,400 - 11,038  (1,672,074,446)
Furniture and office equipment (225,665,426)  (37,934,266) 1,615,254 - 16,392 (261,968,046)
Vehicles (116,614,421)  (17,665,035) 10,293,220 - 655 (123,985,581)
Total accumulated depreciation (3,373,644,345) (225,129,654) 50,574,518 - 52,501  (3,548,146,980)
Building under construction and
equipment under installation 270,504,360 143,439,060 (2,887,688) (347,287,653) (155,192) 63,612,887
Machinery in transit 4,608,797 18,995,503 (13,525)  (23,590,844) 69 -

Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation for the years ended December 31,
2019

2018

Gross carrying amount of plant and equipment which

1,866,232,786

are fully depreciated and still in use as at December 31,

2019
2018

1,836,019,586

251,396,633
225,129,654

2,804,152,925
2,736,536,281
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Separate Financial Statements

As at December 31,2019

Cost :
Land
Land improvements
Buildings

Machinery and equipment

Furniture and office equipment

Vehicles

Total cost

Accumulated depreciation :
Land improvements
Buildings

Machinery and equipment

Furniture and office equipment

Vehicles

Total accumulated depreciation

Building under construction and
equipment under installation

Property, plant and equipment
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Unit : Baht
Balances as at Increases Decreases Transfer in/  Balances as at
January 1, (out) December 31,
2019 2019
261,479,164 - - - 261,479,164
127,519,506 - - - 127,519,506
1,576,521,945 - - 1,033,749  1,577,555,694
2,209,744,117 6,370,077 (48.,452,666) 51,071,970  2,218,733,498
381,023,177 7,496,084  (7,785,158) 20,163,967 400,898,070
135,894,513 1,795,533 (7,119,081) 6,567,660 137,138,625
4,692,182,422 15,661,694 (63,356,905) 78,837,346 4,723,324,557
(66,301,313)  (3,404,450) - - (69,705,763)
(1,219,501,059)  (33,972,682) - - (1,253,473,741)

(1,574,202,718)
(243,985,349)
(94,773,000)

(131,448,936)
(34,624,198)
(11,704,876)

47,682,776
7,044,346
5,323,543

- (1,657,968,878)
- (271,565,201)
- (101,154,333)

(3,198,763,439)

(215,155,142)

60,050,665

- (3,353,867,916)

63,270,215

99,928,786

(78,837,346) 84,361,655

1,556,689,198

1,453,818,296



Separate Financial Statements (Continued)

As at December 31, 2018

Cost :
Land
Land improvements
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Vehicles

Total cost

Accumulated depreciation :
Land improvements
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Vehicles

Total accumulated depreciation

Building under construction and
equipment under installation
Machinery in transit

Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation for the years ended December 31,
2019
2018

Unit : Baht
Balances as at Increases Decreases Transfer in/  Balances as at
January 1, (out) December 31,
2018 2018
261,479,164 - - - 261,479,164
69,721,861 - - 57,797,645 127,519,506
1,564,045,648 - (4,558,878) 17,035,175 1,576,521,945
2,033,467,492 13,783,819  (34,504,437) 196,997,243 2,209,744,117
340,897,166 5,623,369  (1,367,124) 35,869,766 381,023,177
135,095,513 3,573,500  (8,124,500) 5,350,000 135,894,513
4,404,706,844 22,980,688 (48,554,939) 313,049,829  4,692,182,422
(65,503,221) (798,092) - - (66,301,313)
(1,180,266,651)  (43,666,594) 4,432,186 - (1,219,501,059)
(1,502,652,895) (105,534,866) 33,985,043 - (1,574,202,718)
(214,160,567)  (31,171,372) 1,346,590 - (243,985,349)
(87,140,116)  (13,301,209) 5,668,325 - (94,773,000)
(3,049,723,450) (194,472,133) 45,432,144 - (3,198,763,439)

236,553,450
4,608,796

116,425,510
18,732,288

(289,708,745) 63,270,215
(23,341,084) -

1,596,145,640

Gross carrying amount of plant and equipment which

are fully depreciated and still in use as at December 31,

2019
2018

1,556,689,198

215,155,142
194,472,133

2,510,200,510
2,441,608,871
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As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company used certain lands, land improvements and
buildings as collateral with a financial institute for guarantee credit facilities which have
total net book values of Baht 467.12 million and Baht 495.56 million, respectively.
(see Note 27.3)

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, land and buildings of a subsidiary are used as
collateral with a financial institute for guarantee credit facilities, which has the same
amount of total net book values of Baht 21.56 million. (see Notes 13 and 27.3)

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, leased assets included above, where the Company and
its subsidiaries are lessee under finance leases, comprise vehicles and office equipment
are as follows:

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018

Cost - assets under finance lease agreement 20,415,294 32,102,166 4,876,699 16,272,726
Less Accumulated depreciation (10,034,262) (15,477,843) (2,055,189)  (8,885,956)
Net book value 10,381,032 16,624,323 2,821,510 7,386,770

10. LEASEHOLD RIGHT

Leasehold right as at December 31, consists of the following:

As at December 31, 2019

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Financial Statement
Balance as at  Increases Exchange Balance as at
January 1, differences December 31,
2019 on translation 2019
of financial
statements of
foreign
subsidiary
Cost :
Leasehold right for land 84,268,956 - (6,038,694) 78,230,262
Total Cost 84,268,956 - (6,038,694) 78,230,262
Accumulated amortization :
Leasehold right for land (3,760,490) (1,705,605) 330,926 (5,135,169)
Total Accumulated amortization (3,760,490) (1,705,605) 330,926 (5,135,169)
Leasehold right 80,508,466 73,095,093
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11.

As at December 31, 2018

Cost :
Leasehold right for land
Total Cost

Accumulated amortization :
Leasehold right for land
Total Accumulated amortization
Leasehold right

Amortization for the years ended December 31,
2019

2018

Unit : Baht

Consolidated Financial Statement

Balance as at  Increases Exchange Balance as at
January 1, differences December 31,
2018 on translation 2018
of financial
statements of
foreign
subsidiary
84,901,907 - (632,951) 84,268,956
84,901,907 - (632,951) 84,268,956
(2,004,363) (1,775,261) 19,134 (3,760,490)
(2,004,363) (1,775,261) 19,134 (3,760,490)
82,897,544 80,508,466
1,705,605
1,775,261

As at November 17, 2016, TCCC Myanmar Limited entered into the land leasehold
agreement with a local supplier in the republic of the union of Myanmar, for its operating
premise, in amounting to USD 2.62 million or equivalent to Baht 93.58 million. Such
leasehold right will be expired on June 4, 2064.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets, consists of the following:

Consolidated Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2019

Unit : Baht
Balance Increase Total Amortization = Exchange Balance
as at differences as at
January 1, on translation December 31,
2019 of financial 2019
statements
of foreign
subsidiary
Right for use of trademarks - net 545,900,757 - 545,900,757 - - 545,900,757
Right for use of software - net 1,355,129 - 1,355,129 (731,658) (70,748) 552,723
547,255,886 - 547,255,886 (731,658) (70,748) 546,453,480
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Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
As at December 31, 2018

Unit : Baht
Balance Increase Total Amortization = Exchange Balance
as at differences as at
January 1, on translation December 31,
2018 of financial 2018
statements
of foreign
subsidiary
Right for use of trademarks - net 545,900,757 - 545,900,757 - - 545,900,757
Right for use of software - net 1,663,924 139,239 1,803,163 (436,331) (11,703) 1,355,129
547,564,681 139,239 547,703,920 (436,331) (11,703) 547,255,886
Amortization for the years ended December 31,
2019 731,658
2018 436,331
Separate Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2019
Unit : Baht
Balance Increase Total Amortization Balance
as at as at
January 1, December 31,
2019 2019
Right for use of trademarks - net 545,900,757 - 545,900,757 - 545,900,757
545,900,757 - 545,900,757 - 545,900,757
As at December 31, 2018
Unit : Baht
Balance Increase Total Amortization Balance
as at as at
January 1, December 31,
2018 2018
Right for use of trademarks - net 545,900,757 - 545,900,757 - 545,900,757
545,900,757 - 545,900,757 - 545,900,757

Amortization for the years ended December 31,
2019

2018

The Company engaged an independent appraiser to determine the fair value of the right to
use the trademarks referred to above in accordance with the Notification of the Stock
Exchange Commission dated April 30, 2004 regarding the opinion for accounting
treatment for intangible assets. According to the reports of the independent appraiser
dated January 14, 2020 and January 21, 2019, the appraisal values of the fair value of such
right as at January 2, 2020 and January 2, 2019, respectively, by using the Relief from
Royalty Method are higher than the carrying values.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, sale under these trademarks were
approximately 95% and 97% of the Company’s total revenue from sales, respectively.
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12.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX AND TAX EXPENSE

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes issued by the same taxation authority. The
following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the consolidated

and separate statements of financial position as at December 31, as follows:
Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Deferred tax assets 39,983,199 36,561,545 33,622,760 31,898,209
Deferred tax liabilities 116,608,579 116,608,579 109,180,151 109,180,151

Movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the years ended December 31, are as

follows:

Consolidated Financial Statements

As at December 31, 2019

Unit : Baht
Balances Recognized in  Recognized in Balances
as at profit or loss Other as at
January 1, Comprehensive  December 31,
2019 Income (loss) 2019
Allowance for doubtful accounts 5,788,160 23,127 - 5,811,287
Allowance for diminution in value of inventories 433,437 (310,934) - 122,503
Provision for sale promotions 4,160,681 (2,460,681) - 1,700,000
Allowance for impairment of investment properties 680,483 (680,483) - -
Provision for employee benefit 25,498,784 3,076,130 3,774,495 32,349,409
Total deferred tax assets 36,561,545 (352,841) 3,774,495 39,983,199
Gain on fair value adjustment from investment in
a subsidiary to an associate 7,428,428 - - 7,428,428
Accumulated amortization - right for use of trademarks 109,180,151 - - 109,180,151
Total deferred tax liabilities 116,608,579 - - 116,608,579
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Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

As at December 31, 2018

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for diminution in value of inventories
Provision for sale promotions
Allowance for impairment of investment properties
Provision for employee benefit
Deferred benefits for energy saving

Total deferred tax assets

Gain on fair value adjustment from investment in
a subsidiary to an associate
Accumulated amortization - right for use of trademarks
Total deferred tax liabilities

Separate Financial Statements

As at December 31, 2019

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for diminution in value of inventories
Provision for sale promotions
Allowance for impairment of investment properties
Provision for employee benefit

Total deferred tax assets

Accumulated amortization - right for use of trademarks
Total deferred tax liabilities

As at December 31, 2018

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for diminution in value of inventories
Provision for sale promotions
Allowance for impairment of investment properties
Provision for employee benefit
Deferred benefit for energy saving

Total deferred tax assets

Accumulated amortization - right for use of trademarks
Total deferred tax liabilities
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Unit : Baht
Balances Recognized in  Recognized in Balances
as at profit or loss Other as at
January 1, Comprehensive  December 31,
2018 Income (loss) 2018
7,056,397 (1,268,237) - 5,788,160
1,501,474 (1,068,037) - 433,437
8,648,764 (4,488,083) - 4,160,681
680,483 - - 680,483
23,536,487 2,584,812 (622,515) 25,498,784
1,561,059 (1,561,059) - -
42,984,664 (5,800,604) (622,515) 36,561,545
7,428,428 - - 7,428,428
109,180,151 - - 109,180,151
116,608,579 - - 116,608,579
Unit : Baht
Balances Recognized in  Recognized in Balances
as at profit or loss Other as at
January 1, Comprehensive  December 31,
2019 Income (loss) 2019
5,602,441 31,027 - 5,633,468
433,437 (310,934) - 122,503
4,160,681 (2,460,681) - 1,700,000
680,483 (680,483) - -
21,021,167 1,801,987 3,343,635 26,166,789
31,898,209 (1,619,084) 3,343,635 33,622,760
109,180,151 - - 109,180,151
109,180,151 - - 109,180,151
Unit : Baht
Balances Recognizedin  Recognized in Balances
as at profit or loss Other as at
January 1, Comprehensive  December 31,
2018 Income (loss) 2018
6,856,358 (1,253,917) - 5,602,441
1,447,559 (1,014,122) - 433,437
8,648,764 (4,488,083) - 4,160,681
680,483 - - 680,483
18,538,888 3,394,715 (912,436) 21,021,167
1,561,059 (1,561,059) - -
37,733,111 (4,922,466) (912,436) 31,898,209
109,180,151 - - 109,180,151
109,180,151 - - 109,180,151




For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Group and the Company have
applied the tax rate of 20% for calculating tax expense and deferred income tax.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the foreign subsidiary applied the tax
rate of each country for calculating tax expense and deferred income tax.

Tax expense for the year ended December 31, consist of the following:

Current tax expense
in respect of the current period
Deferred taxes relating to
temporary differences
Tax expense

Income tax relating to the components
of other comprehensive income (loss)
Deferred tax relating to actuarial
gains (loss)

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
248,334,264 348,610,414 236,811,503 337,836,489
352,841 5,800,604 1,619,084 4,922,466
248,687,105 354,411,018 238,430,587 342,758,955
3,774,495 (622,515) 3,343,635 (912,436)

Tax expense for the years ended December 31, can be reconciled to the accounting

profit as follows:

Profit before tax expense

Income tax calculated at 20%

Effect of transactions that are not
taxable income and expenses

Tax expense per the statement
of comprehensive income

Tax income (tax expense) relating to the
origination and reversal of temporary
differences

Income tax per income tax return form

Effective tax rate

1,188,066,500

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018

1,703,955,057 1,238,615,426 1,751,929,768

237,613,300 340,791,011 247,723,085 350,385,954
11,073,805 13,620,007 (9,292,498)  (7,626,999)
248,687,105 354,411,018 238,430,587 342,758,955
(352,841)  (5,800,604)  (1,619,084)  (4,922.466)
248334264 348,610,414 236,811,503 337,836,489
% % % %
20.90 20.46 19.12 19.28
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13.

14.

15.

BANK OVERDRAFTS AND SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings from financial institutions as at December 31,
consist of the following:

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018

Bank overdraft and short-term
borrowings from financial institutions 90,986,317 35,332,981 - -

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, a subsidiary entered bank overdraft from financial
institution with carried interest rate Minimum Overdraft Rate (MOR), which mortgaged by
land and buildings (see Note 9).

As at December 31, 2019, a subsidiary has credit lines from foreign institutions for short-term
borrowings and other facilities with interest rate during 2.31% - 2.36% per annum and
guaranteed by the Company (2018 : nil) (see Note 27.5).

TRADE AND OTHER CURRENT PAYABLES

Trade and other current payables as of December 31, consist of the following:

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate

Financial Statements Financial Statements

2019 2018 2019 2018
Trade payables 157,152,637 253,037,189 131,895,187 228,043,094
Other payables 62,434,138 64,255,653 58,208,826 63,184,451
Accrued dividends 2,331,815 2,279,637 2,331,815 2,279,637
Accrued expenses 134,494,174 154,169,680 106,425,854 129,132,344

Advance received from customers

(see Note 15) 74,217,382 149,164,981 74,175,585 149,163,125
Deferred sales (see Note 15) 110,745,759 105,661,865 97,592,215 90,988,014

541,375,905 728,569,005 470,629,482 662,790,665

DEFERRED SALES AND ADVANCE RECEIVED FROM CUSTOMERS

Deferred sales and advance received from customers represent obligations that the Company
and a subsidiary have to deliver fertilizer to the holders of the delivery orders (the “fertilizer
notes”) which have been issued by the Company and a subsidiary to their customers.

Deferred sales represent the issued fertilizer notes which have not yet been delivered fertilizer
and not yet been received the payment. The Company and a subsidiary has accounted for
such outstanding balance of the unpaid and undelivered fertilizer notes in trade receivables
at the same amount. However, in the business practice, the customers may cancel the
undelivered fertilizer notes which they have not paid for while the Company and a subsidiary
are unable to cancel the undelivered fertilizer notes.
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16.

While inventories in the consolidated and separate financial statements as at December 31,
2019 and 2018 included inventories which were under the obligations that the Company and
a subsidiary issued fertilizer notes or received payments from customers but the fertilizer
has not been delivered (see Note 7). The Company and a subsidiary have recorded such
transactions as “Advance received from customers” and “Deferred sales”, respectively (see

Note 14).

LIABILITIES UNDER FINANCE LEASE AGREEMENTS

Liabilities under finance lease agreements as at December 31, consist of the following:

Consolidated Financial Statements

Not later than one year

Later than one year and not later than five years

Less Deferred interest

Present value of minimum lease payments

Minimum
lease payments
2019 2018

4,038,430 5,800,968
3,153,172 4,718,941

Unit : Baht
Present value of minimum

lease payments
2019 2018

3,809,517 5,424,023
3,010,455 4,532,355

7,191,602 10,519,909
(371,630)  (563,531)

6,819,972 9,956,378

6,819,972 9,956,378

6,819,972 9,956,378

Presented in the statements of financial position as follows:
Current portion of liabilities under finance lease agreements

Liabilities under finance lease agreements

Separate Financial Statements

Not later than one year

Later than one year and not later than five years

Less Deferred interest

Present value of minimum lease payments

Minimum
lease payments
2019 2018

1,226,546 2,710,940
609,001 1,821,315

2019 2018

3,809,517 5,424,023
3,010,455 4,532,355

6,819,972 9,956,378

Unit : Baht

Present value of minimum
lease payments
2019 2018

1,177,068 2,556,382
574,499 1,751,405

1,835,547 4,532,255
(83,980)  (224,468)

1,751,567 4,307,787

1,751,567 4,307,787

1,751,567 4,307,787

Presented in the statements of financial position as follows:
Current portion of liabilities under finance lease agreements

Liabilities under finance lease agreements

2019 2018

1,177,068 2,556,382
574,499 1,751,405

1,751,567 4,307,787
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17.

PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFIT

The Company and its subsidiaries operate post-employment benefits obligation due upon
retirement under the Thai Labor Protection Act, which are considered as unfunded defined

benefit plans.
Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Presented in the statements of financial
position as follows:
Current provision for employee benefit 19,519,679 12,293,544 11,610,600 7,762,812
Non-current provision for employee
benefit 153,837,968 123,634,686 130,833,946 105,105,834
Total 173,357,647 135,928,230 142,444,546 112,868,646

Amounts recognized in the statements of comprehensive income in respect of the post-
employment benefit obligation due upon retirement for the years ended December 31, are

as follows:

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Current service cost 26,998,180 24,557,628 20,279,267 22,567,589
Interest cost 1,712,457 2,855,965 1,373,119 2,168,796
Actuarial (gains) loss 18,872,474 (3,112,577) 16,718,176 (4,562,180)
47,583,111 24,301,016 38,370,562 20,174,205

Movements in provision for employee benefit for the years ended December 31, are as

follows:

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Beginning provision for employee benefit 135,928,230 130,968,442 112,868,646 105,980,449
Current service cost 26,998,180 24,557,628 20,279,267 22,567,589
Interest cost 1,712,457 2,855,965 1,373,119 2,168,796
Actuarial (gains) loss 18,872,474 (3,112,577) 16,718,176 (4,562,180)
Benefit paid (10,153,694) (19,341,228) (8,794,662)  (13,286,008)
Ending provision for employee benefit 173,357,647 135,928,230 142,444 546 112,868,646
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The principal actuarial assumptions used to calculate the provision for employee benefit as at
December 31, are as follows:

Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

2019 2018
(% p.a.) (% p.a.)
Discount rate 1.50 2.75
Turnover rate 0-6 0-6
Depend on range of Depend on range of
employee age employee age

Salary increasing rate 4-5 0-6
Gold price rate 22,000 19,500
Future gold price growth 3 3

The sensitivity analysis of the above actuarial assumptions impacted in present value of
the provision for employee benefit as at December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Unit : Million Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
Discount rate

Discount rate, decrease of 0.5 percent 12.59 10.97

Discount rate, increase of 0.5 percent (11.11) (9.63)
Turnover rates

Turnover rates, decrease of 1 percent 12.84 11.21

Turnover rates, increase of 1 percent (10.60) (9.18)
Salary increasing rates

Salary growth rates, decrease of 1 percent (10.35) (8.96)

Salary growth rates, increase of 1 percent 13.55 11.83
Future gold price rate

Gold price growth rates, decrease of 1 percent (11.58) (10.07)

Gold price growth rates, increase of 1 percent 11.70 10.18

On December 13, 2018, the National Legislative Assembly passed a resolution approving
the draft of a new Labor Protection Act, which is in the process of being announced in the
Royal Gazette. The new Labor Protection Act stipulates additional legal severance pay
rates for employees who have worked for an uninterrupted period of twenty years or
more. Such employees are entitled to receive compensation of not less than that of the last
400 days, based on the final wage rate. The management of the Company judgmentally
considered that the plan amendment has occurred and recognized past service cost as an
expense when the National Legislative Assembly passed a resolution approving the draft
of a new Labor Protection Act. The Company have recorded the effect of such plan
amendment and already recognized past service cost as an expense of Baht 10.88 million
in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Subsequently, on April 5, 2019, the Labor Protection Act (No. 7) B.E. 2562 has been
announced in the Royal Gazette which will be effective after 30 days from the date
announced in Royal Gazette.
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18.

19.

20.

PROVIDENT FUND

The Company and its subsidiaries have a contributory provident fund for those employees.
The contributions from employees are deducted from the monthly salaries, with the
Company and its subsidiaries matching the individual’s contributions. The provident fund
has been registered in accordance with the Provident Fund Act B.E. 2530 (1987).

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company’s contribution and
subsidiaries’ contribution to provident fund which were recorded as expenses in the
consolidated financial statements in amounts of Baht 15.45 million and Baht 16.11
million, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company’s contribution to provident
fund which was recorded as expenses in the separate financial statements in amounts of
Baht 12.65 million and Baht 13.19 million, respectively.

OTHER INCOME

Other income for the years ended December 31, consists of the following:

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Interest income 71,406,577 57,608,905 68,776,945 55,371,780
Rental income 5,852,205 6,242,138 19,079,875 19,467,115
Dividend income - - 21,124,976 18,387,440
Gain on sale of property, plant and
equipment 1,411,395 4,936,314 - 2,868,399
Gain on foreign exchange rate-net 8,968,822 41,014,040 9,161,830 44,400,751
Others 18,739,258 25,615,772 18,625,931 26,258,335
106,378,257 135,417,169 136,769,557 166,753,820

EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses by nature for the years ended December 31, have been arrived at the following
significant expenses:

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Changes in finished goods
and work in process 99,862,592 88,135,552 79,334,312 222,592,434
Cost of finished goods purchased 139,543,240 327,183,362 - -
Raw materials used 5,995,780,925  6,860,255,935  5,833,029,853  6,855,974,668
Employee benefit expenses 510,481,061 513,335,315 416,102,401 426,793,276
Depreciation and amortization 253,833,896 227,341,246 215,155,142 194,472,133
Reversal of loss on diminution
in value of inventories (1,554,670) (5,340,188) (1,554,670) (5,070,613)
Doubtful accounts (reversal) 115,637 (6,341,186) 155,137 (6,269,585)
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22,

23.

24.

SHARE DISCOUNT ON ORDINARY SHARES

Share discount on ordinary shares as at December 31, consist of the following:

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018

Share premium on ordinary shares  2,280,000,000  2,280,000,000  2,280,000,000 2,280,000,000
Share discount on ordinary shares (2,323,570,340) (2,323,570,340) (2,323,570,340) (2,323,570,340)

(43,570340)  (43,570340)  (43,570,340) (43,570,340)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company’s objective in managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders.

The Company does not apply any financial ratio to monitor its capital whilst manages its
capital to be sufficient for its working capital.

LEGAL RESERVE

Pursuant to the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535 (1992), the Company must allocate
to a reserve fund from the annual net profit, not less than five percent of the annual net income
deducted by the total accumulated loss brought forward (if any) until the reserve fund reaches
an amount of not less than ten percent of the registered capital. Such reserve fund is not
available for distribution as dividend.

DIVIDENDS

On March 28, 2019, the ordinary shareholders’ meeting of the Company passed a resolution
to pay dividends to shareholders at Baht 1.50 per share, totaling Baht 877.07 million as an
appropriation of net profit for 2018. Such dividends were subsequently paid in April 2019.

On March 29, 2018, the ordinary shareholders’ meeting of the Company passed a resolution

to pay dividends to shareholders at Baht 2.00 per share, totaling Baht 1,169.43 million as an
appropriation of net profit for 2017. Such dividends were subsequently paid in April 2018.
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The Annual General Shareholders’ Meetings of subsidiaries passed a resolution to distribute
annual dividends for the year 2018 to ordinary shareholders as follows:

Unit : Baht
Company name General Dividend Dividend paid to Total amount
shareholders’ per share Owners of Non-
meeting date (Baht) parent controlling
interests
N.LM. Company Limited April 18,2019 3.00 19,125,000 18,375,000 37,500,000
MC Agro-Chemicals
Company Limited April 24,2019 4.00 1,999,976 24 2,000,000
21,124,976 18,375,024 39,500,000

The Annual General Shareholders’ Meetings of subsidiaries passed a resolution to
distribute annual dividends for the year 2017 to ordinary shareholders as follows:

Unit : Baht
Company name General Dividend Dividend paid to Total amount
shareholders’ per share Owners of Non-
meeting date (Baht) parent controlling
interests
N.LM. Company Limited March 30, 2018 2.10 13,387,500 12,862,500 26,250,000
MC Agro-Chemicals
Company Limited March 30, 2018 10.00 4,999,940 60 5,000,000
18,387,440 12,862,560 31,250,000
25. TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN RELATED PARTIES
Transactions between related parties are as follows:
25.1 Investments
25.1.1 Investment in an associate
As at December 31,2019
Unit : Baht
Investment
Company name Type of Relationship Paid-up  Ownership Cost Equity Dividend
business capital % received

ASSOCIATED COMPANY
Central Pacific (Thailand) Leased

Corporation Limited out warehouse Associate 200,000,000 49.00 98,000,000 136,568,733

As at December 31, 2018

Unit : Baht
Investment
Company name Type of Relationship Paid-up  Ownership Cost Equity Dividend

business capital % received

ASSOCIATED COMPANY

Central Pacific (Thailand) Leased

Corporation Limited out warehouse Associate 200,000,000 49.00 98,000,000 136,247,216

Aggregate information of an associate that is not individually material
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25.2

Share of profit from investment in an associate for the years ended
December 31, consist of the following:

Share of profit from investment in an associate

25.1.2 Investments in subsidiaries

Company name

SUBSIDIARIES

Type of business

N.LM. Company Limited Leased out tank yard

for containing chemical

MC Agro-Chemicals
Company Limited

agriculture chemicals

TCCC Myanmar Limited

Manufacture, import

and distribute

Manufacture, import

and distribute various

chemical fertilizer

compound

Business transactions with related parties

Unit : Baht
Consolidated
Financial Statements
2019 2018

321,517 285,587

Unit : Thousand Baht

Relationship Paid-up capital Ownership % Cost
(Direct and Indirect)
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Subsidiary 125,000 125,000  51.00 51.00 63,750 63,750
Subsidiary 50,000 50,000  99.99 99.99 49,999 49,999
Subsidiary 439,106 439,106  99.99 99.99 439,106 439,106
552,855 552,855

25.2.1 Balances with related parties as at December 31, consist of the following:

Account name/ Company’s name

Trade receivables
Sojitz Corporation Group
TCCC Myanmar Limited
Atlas Fertilizer Corporation

Other receivables
N.LM. Company Limited
MC Agro-Chemicals Company Limited
TCCC Myanmar Limited

Trade payables
Sojitz Corporation Group

Other payables
Metro Systems Corporation Public
Company Limited

Other current liabilities
TCCC Myanmar Limited

Relationship

Major shareholder
Subsidiary
Related Company

Subsidiary
Subsidiary
Subsidiary

Major shareholder

Related Company

Subsidiary

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018

- 134,966 - -

- - 65,055,563 73,331,732
4,518,688 - 4,518,688 -
4,518,688 134,966 69,574,251 73,331,732

- - 717,691 552,010

- - 45,514 86,567

- - 512,824 711,637

- - 1,276,029 1,350,214
2,882,687 6,523,205 - -

215,659 216,729 197,469 198,539

- - - 17,186
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25.2.2 Transactions with related parties for the years ended December 31, consist
of the following:

Unit : Baht
Account name/ Company’s name Relationship Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Revenues from sales and services
Sojitz Corporation Group Major shareholder 3,690,425 7,895,169 - -
TCCC Myanmar Limited Subsidiary - - 156,427,870 252,876,594
Atlas Fertilizer Corporation Related Company 4,549,578 - 4,549,578 -

8,240,003 7,895,169 160,977,448 252,876,594

Other income

N.ILM. Company Limited Subsidiary - - 14,512,430 14,318,447
MC Agro-Chemicals Company Limited Subsidiary - - 30,374 69,788
TCCC Myanmar Limited Subsidiary - - 2,530,521 2,938,308

; - 17,073,325 17,326,543

Dividend income

N.ILM. Company Limited Subsidiary - - 19,125,000 13,387,500
MC Agro-Chemicals Company Limited Subsidiary - - 1,999,976 4,999,940
- - 21,124,976 18,387,440
Purchases
Sojitz Corporation Group Major shareholder 9,622,067 12,948,760 - -

Purchase assets
Metro Systems Corporation Public
Company Limited Related Company 3,384,450 - 3,384,450 -

Other expenses
Metro Systems Corporation Public
Company Limited Related Company 2,437,600 2,432,600 2,215,600 2,226,600

Managements’ remuneration Directors 36,530,711 36,208,779 36,008,711 35,836,779

Purchases and sales with subsidiaries and Sojitz Corporation Group, terms and prices
are those agreed upon by the buyer and the seller based on market prices.

26. SIGNIFICANT AGREEMENTS
26.1 Technical assistance agreement

The Company has a technical assistance agreement with a company in Japan.
The Company is obligated to pay a basic retaining fee of USD 50,000 per annum. The
agreement is in effect for a period of one year and shall be automatically renewed on a
yearly basis unless either party expresses its intention not to renew the agreement by
written notice to other party at least three months before the expiring date.

26.2  Energy performance agreement

The Company entered into Energy Performance Contract (EPC) with a company.
The Company will be advised to improve the efficiency of energy saving and has to
pay monthly advisory fees based on percentage of the electricity power saving value
in each month as specified in the agreement. The period of payment starts when the
cogeneration project is complete and will pay some saving amount according to
Energy Performance Contract.
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27.

27.1

27.2

273

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company has capital commitments for capital expenditure as at December 31,
2019 and 2018, of Baht 15.21 million and Baht 37.29 million, respectively.

A foreign subsidiary has capital commitment for capital expenditure as at December 31,
2018, of USD 0.01 million (or equivalent Baht 0.34 million) (2019: nil).

A subsidiary has capital commitment for capital expenditure as at December 31, 2019
of Baht 7.25 million (2018: nil).

As at December 31, the Company and its subsidiaries have leased office buildings,
warehouse, vehicles and office equipment under operating lease agreements. The
future lease payments are summarized as follows:

Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate

Financial Statements Financial Statements

2019 2018 2019 2018
Not later than one year 24,248,181 39,520,048 16,055,060 29,975,693

Later than one year but not

later five years 21,617,044 25,165,112 20,757,478 25,049,612
45,865,225 64,685,160 36,812,538 55,025,305

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company and its subsidiaries
recognized rental fees from operating lease agreements of Baht 39.40 million and
Baht 57.71 million in the consolidated financial statements, respectively, and for the
separate financial statements of Baht 30.92 million and Baht 41.57 million, respectively.

The Company and its subsidiaries are granted credit facilities from financial institutions
which consisted of bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings, letters of credit, forward
contracts and letters of guarantee.

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the unused credit facilities, consist of:

Unit : Million

Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
Currency 2019 2018 2019 2018
Credit facilities* Baht 11,623.62 11,627.23 11,426.96 11,466.53
USD 39.50 30.00 30.00 30.00
Credit facility for forward
exchange contracts Baht 2,656.77 2,483.13 2,636.77 2,466.08
USD 166.24 167.54 159.66 162.24
Letter of guarantee Baht 91.34 91.34 91.34 91.34

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, credit facilities of the Company and its
subsidiaries pledged by land and buildings (see Note 9).

* The Company and its subsidiaries has been allowed by certain financial institutions to have forward exchange contracts for
letters of credit and trust receipts granted under such credit.
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28.

27.4

27.5

27.6

The Company and its subsidiaries has commitments with banks for letters of guarantee
issued as at December 31, consist of the following:
Unit : Baht
Consolidated Separate
Financial Statements Financial Statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Letters of guarantee for electricity 8,830,500 8,830,500 8,655,500 8,655,500

As at December 31, 2019, the Company has commitment for being as a guarantor of
short-term borrowings and other facilities for a subsidiary of USD 12.00 million or
equivalent Baht 363.98 Million (2018 : nil) (see Note 13).

As at December 31, 2019, the Company has commitment for being as a guarantor
for a subsidiary in order to purchase of raw materials and single fertilizer of USD
3.09 million (or equivalent to Baht 95.07 million) (2018 : nil).

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company has commitment with a bank
regarding the outstanding letters of credit amounting to USD 6.35 million (or equivalent
to Baht 192.61 million) and USD 1.62 million (or equivalent to Baht 52.82 million),
respectively.

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, a subsidiary have commitment with a bank
regarding the outstanding letters of credit amounting to USD 0.04 million (or
equivalent to Baht 1.15 million) and USD 0.07 million (or equivalent to Baht 2.31
million), respectively.

BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company’s main business is to manufacture, import, export and distribute various
chemical fertilizer compound. The subsidiaries’ main businesses are to manufacture, import
and distribute various chemical fertilizer compound, solvents, industrial chemical, rental
services and others.
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For the year ended December 31, 2019, the business segment information of the Company

and its subsidiaries classified by industries is as follows:

Fertilizer section
- Revenues from sales

- Other income

Rental services section
- Revenues from service

- Other income

Others section
- Revenues from sales

- Other income

Less Intersegment revenues
Total revenues

Profit before income tax expense
Less Income tax expense

Total comprehensive income

Less Intersegment assets
Total assets
Less Non-controlling interests in
total comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translation of
financial statements of foreign subsidiary
Total comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the parent

Consolidated assets as at December 31, 2019

Unit : Baht
Recognized Recognized Revenues and Total Assets
at the over time other comprehensive employed
point of time income income (loss)
8,598,866,025 - 8,598,866,025
49,875,127 87,867,765 137,742,892
8,648,741,152 87,867,765 8,736,608,917  1,120,382,528 11,122,513,834
- 112,222,837 112,222,837
3,790,032 2,494,408 6,284,440
3,790,032 114,717,245 118,507,277 42,285,138 237,546,947
238,447,157 21,484,222 259,931,379
973,592 147,234 1,120,826
239,420,749 21,631,456 261,052,205 6,526,668 248,961,271

(194,876,254)

8,921,292,145

1,169,194,334
(244,912,918)
924.281,416

11,609,022,052
(577,088,684)
11,031,933,368
(16,559,336)

(22,173,208)

885,548,872

11,031,933,368
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For the year ended December 31, 2018, the business segment information of the Company
and its subsidiaries classified by industries is as follows:

Unit : Baht
Recognized Recognized Revenues and Total Assets
at the over time other comprehensive employed
point of time income income (loss)
Fertilizer section
- Revenues from sales 10,108,998,328 - 10,108,998,328
- Other income 88,318,795 74,868,419 163,187,214
10,197,317,123 74,868,419  10,272,185,542  1,651,315,521 11,206,647,292
Rental services section
- Revenues from service - 116,773,890 116,773,890
- Other income 2,868,361 2,312,642 5,181,003
2,868,361 119,086,532 121,954,893 46,213,228 235,556,365
Others section
- Revenues from sales 349,152,315 9,460 349,161,772
- Other income 2,458,353 177,105 2,635,458
351,610,668 186,565 351,797,233 9,538,885 282,432,303
Less Intersegment revenues (288,177,513)
Total revenues 10,457,760,155
Profit before income tax expense 1,707,067,634
Less Income tax expense (355,033,533)
Total comprehensive income 1,352,034,101
11,724,635,960
Less Intersegment assets (597,283,259)
Total assets 11,127,352,701
Less Non-controlling interests in
total comprehensive income (18,125,420)
Exchange differences on translation of
financial statements of foreign subsidiary (3,723,574)
Total comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the parent 1,330,185,107
Consolidated assets as at December 31, 2018 11,127,352,701

29. DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
29.1 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Company and its subsidiaries. In the case of
recognized financial assets, the carrying amount of the assets recorded in the
statement of financial position, net of a portion of allowance for doubtful accounts,
represents the Company and its subsidiaries maximum exposure to credit risk.
Concentrations of the credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to
the large number of customers comprising the customer base, and their dispersion
across different geographic regions in Thailand.
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29.2 Interest rate risk

29.3

Interest rate risk in the balance sheet arises from the potential for a change in interest
rates to have an adverse effect on the net interest earmnings of the Company and its
subsidiaries in the current reporting period and in the future years. In case the interest
rate is higher, it may have an impact to the Company’s and subsidiaries’ operations due
to a subsidiary’s has significant loans.

Fair value of financial instruments

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Unit : Thousand Baht
As at December 31, 2019 Fair value
Carrying Fair Value hierarchy

Amount

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,507,123 3,507,123 Level 3
Current investments 2,675,452 2,675,452 Level 3
Trade receivables 499,156 499,156 Level 3
Financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings

from financial institutions 90,986 90,986 Level 3
Trade payables 157,153 157,153 Level 3
Liabilities under finance lease agreements

(including current portion) 6,820 6,374 Level 3

Unit : Thousand Baht
As at December 31, 2018 Fair value
Carrying Fair Value hierarchy

Amount

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5,516,734 5,516,734 Level 3
Current investments 175,324 175,324 Level 3
Trade receivables 345,205 345,205 Level 3
Financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts and short-term borrowings

from financial institutions 35,333 35,333 Level 3
Trade payables 253,037 253,037 Level 3
Liabilities under finance lease agreements

(including current portion) 9,956 9,282 Level 3
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SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Current investments

Trade receivables

Financial liabilities
Trade payables

Liabilities under finance lease agreements
(including current portion)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Trade receivables

Financial liabilities
Trade payables

Liabilities under finance lease agreements
(including current portion)

29.4 Foreign exchange risk

Forward exchange contract

Unit : Thousand Baht
As at December 31, 2019

Carrying Fair Value
Amount
3,399,179 3,399,179
2,500,000 2,500,000
527,373 527,373
131,895 131,895
1,752 1,637

Fair value
hierarchy

Level 3

Level 3

Level 3

Level 3

Level 3

Unit : Thousand Baht
As at December 31, 2018

Carrying Fair Value
Amount
5,443,612 5,443,612
359,562 359,562
228,043 228,043
4,308 4,011

Fair value
hierarchy

Level 3

Level 3

Level 3

Level 3

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company and its subsidiaries entered into
various forward exchange contracts with banks to hedge certain portions of their
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. The details of such contracts

are as follows:

Unit : Baht
Forward purchase contracts The remaining [Net fair value| Fair value Valuation
|Currency| Amount Average Rate| Period day gain (loss) hierarchy | Technique(s)
As at December 31, 2019
The Company USD 7,002,399 30.2798 7-185 (673,332) Level 2 Discontinued
A subsidiary uUsD 916,597 30.3042 51-186 (209,718) cash flow*

* Future cash flows are estimated based on forward exchange rates (from observable forward exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period) and contract forward rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties.
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Unit : Baht

Forward purchase contracts The remaining [Net fair value| Fair value Valuation
|Currency| Amount Average Rate| Period day gain (loss) hierarchy | Technique(s)
As at December 31, 2018
The Company USD 9,224,043 32.4827 5-272 (1,089,630) Level 2 Discontinued
A subsidiary USD 2,297,798 32.8139 3-179 (963,918) cash flow*
Unit : Baht
Forward sell contracts The remaining [Net fair value| Fair value Valuation
|Currency| Amount Average Rate| Period (day) | gain (loss) hierarchy | Technique(s)
As at December 31, 2019
The Company USD 2,206,707 30.2875 87-155 869,036 Level 2 Discontinued
cash flow*
As at December 31, 2018
The Company USD 2,562,943 32.4910 93-178 848,946 Level 2 Discontinued
cash flow*

* Future cash flows are estimated based on forward exchange rates (from observable forward exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period) and contract forward rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties.

Foreign assets and liabilities

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018 the Company and its subsidiaries have foreign
assets and liabilities which part of forward exchange contracts with banks to hedge
certain portions of their assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are as

follows:

As at December 31, 2019
The Company
Subsidiaries

As at December 31, 2018
The Company

Subsidiaries

As at December 31, 2019
The Company

Subsidiaries
As at December 31, 2018

The Company
Subsidiaries

Foreign assets
Currency

USD
USD
MMK

USD
MMK
USD
MMK

Amount

2,428,057
474,375

446,548,103

2,709,797
4,738,982
461,429

132,831,538

Foreign liabilities
Currency

USD
EUR
USD

USD
USD

Amount

3,106,281
4,398
3,405,839

5,324,709
1,680,849
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30.

31.

32.

RECLASSIFICATION

A reclassification has been made in the separate statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2018, to conform to the classification used in current year’s separate
statement of financial position. Such reclassification has no effect to previously reported net
profit, total comprehensive income and shareholders’ equity. The reclassification is as
follows:

Account Previous presentation Current presentation Amount
(Baht)
Land Property, plant and equipment Investment properties 10,314,325

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On February 24, 2020, the Board of Directors’ meeting of the Company approved annual
dividend payment for the operating result of 2019 at Baht 1.10 per share, totaling Baht
643.20 million. However, the approval for the dividend shall be proposed to the Annual
General Meeting of shareholders of the Company for the year 2020 for further consideration
and approval.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company
on February 24, 2020.
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